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GROUP PROFILE

The Rolfes strategy is built on the global need for food, agricultural, 
water, industrial products and infrastructural development in 
domestic and foreign emerging markets.

The Group is strategically positioned in various markets and 
industries, locally and internationally, as a provider of industrial, 
agricultural, water and mining chemicals. The Group manufactures 
and distributes a wide range of market-leading, high-quality 
chemical products to diverse industries including the coatings, 
plastics, vinyl, leather tanning, ink, metallurgical, cleaning, 
formulators, automotive, general manufacturing, agricultural, 
food, construction, home care, personal care, water filtration, 
water treatment and water purification industries.

The Group comprises three pillars, being the Industrial Chemicals, 
Agricultural Chemicals, and Mining and Water Chemicals 
divisions. Rolfes Chemicals, Rolfes Colour Pigments International, 
and Rolfes Logistics all reside within the Industrial Chemicals 
division. The Agricultural Chemicals division includes AgChem 
Africa, Gallus Technologia, Acacia Specialty Chemicals, Absolute 
Science and Introlab Chemicals. Rolfes Silica and the PWM 
group  of companies reside under the Mining and Water 
Chemicals division.

Since the balance sheet date, the pending acquisition of Bragan 
will add a fourth pillar, food chemicals. Bragan is an importer and 
distributor of chemicals used in the food, beverage, bakery, dairy 
and cosmetics industries.

The Industrial Chemicals division manufactures and distributes 
various organic and inorganic pigments, additives, in-plant and 
point-of-sale dispersions, leather chemicals and solutions, food 
fragrances, food flavourings, solvents, lacquer thinners, 
surfactants, cleaning solvents, creosotes, waxes and other 
industrial chemicals.

The Agricultural Chemicals division manufactures and distributes 
products that include herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, 
adjuvants, foliar feeds, biological products, seed treatment 
products, enriched compost pellets, and soluble fertilisers 
promoting general plant, root, foliage and soil health.

The Mining and Water Chemicals division provides specialised 
water purification solutions and products to the industrial, 
agricultural, mining, home and personal care markets and 
distributes pure beneficiated silica to the mining, metallurgical, 
fertiliser, water filtration and construction industries.

Food security 
and 

clean water

Western Europe
Eastern Europe

Southeast Asia

North America

Africa
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Feedback

Your feedback is important to us and 

will help enhance our reporting 

processes and ensure that we report 

those things that matter to you. 
Visit  http://rolfesza.com or email 

group@rolfesza.com.

Website
This icon indicates that 
additional information is 
available on our website.

Integrated annual report
The Board realises the importance of an integrated annual report 

that is meaningful and contains accurate measurable data; fully 

promoting transparency and accountability as well as its 

responsibility and need to have controls to enable it to verify and 

safeguard the integrity of the report and also having the report 

independently assured. The Board ensured the integrity of the 

integrated annual report. The Group strives for full compliance to 

related standards and is in the process of positioning itself to 

present a full integrated annual report in the future. Independent 

assurance for the 2015 integrated annual report was not obtained 

due to the current size of the Group and the extensive processes 

involved with publishing a full integrated annual report. The 

Group has extended the corporate governance (pages 12 to 23) 

and sustainability reports (pages 28 to 32) to report on as many of 

the elements presently available regarding the corporate 

governance, financial, social and economic performance of the 

Group.

The Board has authorised the report for release on 18 September 

2015.

Signed as duly authorised by the Board

BT Ngcuka L Lynch

Chairman of the Board Chief Executive Officer

ABOUT THIS REPORT
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STRATEGY

The Rolfes Group’s strategy is 
built on the global need for food, 
water, industrial products and 
infrastructure in developing 
countries and markets.

Financial results for the year ended 30 June 2015

R’000 2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Revenue 1 131 954 1 001 407 801 716 636 172 460 699 369 029

EBITDA 88 936  75 239  106 987 75 889  54 244  42 885

Operating profit 79 519 64 906  98 922  68 521  49 568  38 275

Headline earnings 41 226 31 637  40 822  37 213  32 160  23 861

Cash and cash equivalents (59 713) (42 589) (31 916) (1 833) 4 833 6 127 

Total assets 818 253 723 127  607 611  440 965  277 108 243 210

Total debt (interest-bearing liabilities  
and net bank overdraft)

158 775 132 553 105 385 80 311 15 901 24 140

Relative share price performance

6

NOTES

Annual Results August 2015 

Relative share price performance 
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1. We are positioning ourselves to provide specialised chemicals 
and related products and solutions, to support these needs as 
a significant listed player, primarily in Africa but also in other 
specific strategically targeted geographical areas such as 
Eastern Europe.

2.  We will achieve this by building a competitive black controlled 
industrial group, targeting four key sectors being water, 
agriculture, food and industrial. 

3.  We continue to pursue strategic value-enhancing acquisitions 
and organic growth by adding to our product basket. Where 
necessary, we will align with multinational players to gain access 
to new technology, products and markets.
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GROUP FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Revenue increased by

13,0%
to R1,13 billion (June 2014: R1 billion)

Gross profit increased by 

12,4%
to R251,3 million (June 2014: R223,5 million)

Export turnover increased by

20,0% 
to R257,4 million (June 2014: R214,5 million)

Net asset value increased by

11,0%
to R309 million (June 2014: R278 million)

Headline earnings increased by

30,4%
to 38,2 cents per share (June 2014: 29,3 cents per share – 
restated)
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GROUP STRUCTURE

INDUSTRIAL CHEMICALS AGRICULTURAL CHEMICALS MINING AND WATER CHEMICALS

Rolfes Colour Pigments 
International
Jet Park

Cape Town

Durban

Rolfes Chemicals
Germiston 

Cape Town

Durban

Lusaka

Lagos

AgChem
Pretoria

Paarl

Bucharest

Introlab Chemicals
Pretoria 

Paarl

Absolute Science
Pretoria

Galltec
Paarl

Worcester

Acacia
Germiston

Rolfes Silica
Brits

PWM – Professional  
Water Management
Midrand

Durban

Cape Town

Gaborone
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DIRECTORATE

1. Bulelani T Ngcuka (61)∆ 
Non-executive Chairman

 Value to Rolfes

4. Moffat M Dyasi (61)#∆^+

Independent non-executive director

 Value to Rolfes

2. Lizette Lynch (49)+ 
Chief Executive Officer

 Value to Rolfes

5. Dinga M Mncube (55)#∆^

Independent non-executive director

 Value to Rolfes

3. Erhard van der Merwe (53) 
Executive director: Corporate Finance

 Value to Rolfes

6. Mike S Teke (51)∆#

Non-executive director

 Value to Rolfes

7. Karabo T Nondumo (36)^

Independent non-executive director

 Value to Rolfes

8. Seapei S Mafoyane (38)^+#∆

Independent non-executive director

 Value to Rolfes

9. Siegfried Sergel (47)
Financial Director

 Value to Rolfes

For full CVs please visit: www.rolfesza.net

∆ Nomination Committee
^ Audit and Risk Committee
# Remuneration Committee
+ Social and Ethics Committee

1 2 3

7 8 9

4 5 6
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LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

The Group’s strategy is defined against the backdrop of 

developing countries’ and emerging markets’ quest for food 

security and clean water supply as well as the provision of industrial 

chemical products into industries. We regard ourselves as 

fortunate to be able to play a role in the provision of these needs.

With the South African economy under pressure, as reflected by 

economists’ continued downgrades of the expected growth rates, 

we continue to strive towards contributing to the economies of 

the local and emerging markets by ensuring job security and value 

creation for our stakeholders. 

The Rolfes Group continues to reap the benefits of its balanced 

and diversified interests in the water, industrial chemicals and 

agriculture markets. Rolfes’ results in the challenging environment 

experienced during the financial year reflect the Group’s view that 

many attractive growth opportunities remain available. The Group 

will continue to capitalise on these opportunities. The sound 

performance for the year under review has kept the Group on 

track to achieve management’s annual growth targets.

Corporate citizenship
Rolfes is committed to BBBEE and the Group continues to 

implement plans to increase its contribution in respect of the 

Chemical Sector Charter. The Group will remain committed to its 

corporate social investment (CSI) initiatives to make a positive 

difference in people’s lives in the areas of health and education.

Board changes
Mr Erhard van der Merwe relinquished his role as CEO on 15 July 

2015 and I am very pleased that Mr van der Merwe will continue 

serving as director: corporate finance. Mr van der Merwe has been 

instrumental in building the Group as we know it today and will 

continue to play an active role in acquisitions. We thank him 

sincerely for his contribution as CEO and look forward to his 

continued contribution. Ms Lizette Lynch was appointed as CEO 

on 15 July 2015 and we wish her well in her new role. Mr Siegfried 

Sergel was appointed as FD on the same date. 

Mr Arnold Fourie and Mr Takalani Tshivhase resigned as non-

executive directors from the Rolfes Board during the year and 

I pay tribute to their contributions in the success of the Group. 

Prospects
An exciting development is the pending Bragan acquisition 

announced on SENS on 15 July. The acquisition will provide the 

Group with an entry into the food chemicals sector and is viewed 

as a “game changer” for Rolfes. I look forward to the finalisation 

of the acquisition. The concurrent share issues to equity funders 

will substantially increase black ownership in the Group, creating 

significant growth opportunities.

Closing
To the shareholders, thank you for your support and your reliance 

on Rolfes to add value, and to the Rolfes Board, executive 

management and employees for your efforts and loyalty, all of 

which contributed significantly to the Group’s success.

BT Ngcuka

Chairman

The Rolfes Group continues to reap the benefits 
of its balanced and diversified interests in the 
water, industrial chemicals and agriculture 
markets.

Export revenue Increased by 

20% Rolfes is committed to BBBEE

BT Ngcuka, Chairman
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT 

The Group, as a competitive JSE-listed company, is on track to 

build a black-controlled industrial group, well positioned to 

provide specialised niche and commodity chemicals and related 

products to contribute and support the global need for food, 

agricultural, water, industrial products and infrastructure 

development in domestic and foreign emerging markets. The 

Group has positioned itself to support these needs through its 

Mining and Water, Agricultural and Industrial Chemicals divisions, 

as well as through the pending Food division acquisition. The 

Group product offering includes value-add intellectual capital 

and  technological innovation to further support the Group’s 

contribution.

The focus will be on organic and acquisitive growth with the 

former focusing on extending the product basket and range of 

services through developing strategic distribution partnerships in 

Africa and other strategic target markets. The latter, with a 

continuation of the acquisition drive of businesses within the 

chemicals and related products markets.

Mr Erhard van der Merwe, Group CEO since listing in 2007, has 

decided since the reporting date to relinquish his role as CEO and 

I was appointed as CEO on 15 July 2015 having previously fulfilled 

the roles of COO and Group FD. Mr van der Merwe will continue 

to add value to the Group as a director being responsible for 

corporate finance activities in the Group. Siegfried Sergel was 

appointed to the Board on 15 July 2015 as Group Financial 

Director. CC  Swanepoel resigned as company secretary on 18 

September 2015 and CorpStat Governance Services was 

appointed as company secretary with immediate effect.

Group product offering and divisional structure 
The Group currently operates through three divisions being the 

Mining and Water, Agricultural And Industrial divisions, with the 

addition of a Food division pending finalisation of the Bragan 

Chemicals acquisition. The acquisition will add value in the food, 

bakery, beverage, dairy, pharmaceutical and cosmetics industries. 

The Group presently manufactures and distributes a diverse range 

of market-leading, high-quality chemical products to diverse 

industries. It operates in the coatings, plastics, vinyl, leather 

tanning, ink, metallurgical, cleaning, formulators, automotive, 

general manufacturing, agricultural, construction, home care, 

personal care, water filtration, water treatment and water 

purification industries.

The Agricultural division manufactures and distributes products 

that promote plant, root, and foliar health, soil nutrition, disease 

prevention and control and various other agricultural remedies. 

The Water division provides specialised water purification 

solutions and products to the industrial, agricultural, mining, 

home and personal care markets. The division distributes and 

manufactures pure beneficiated silica to the mining, metallurgical, 

fertiliser, water filtration and construction industries.

The focus will be on organic and acquisitive 
growth with the former focusing on extending 
the product basket and range of services 
through developing strategic partnerships in 
Africa.

Group revenue increased by

13,0% to R1,13 billion  

(June 2014: R1 billion)

L Lynch, CEO
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

The Industrial division manufactures and distributes various 

organic and inorganic pigments, additives, in-plant and point-of-

sale dispersions, leather chemicals and solutions, solvents, lacquer 

thinners, surfactants, cleaning solvents, creosotes, waxes and 

other industrial chemical products. 

The Group’s international footprint and customer base extend to 

Asia, the rest of Africa, North America, Eastern and Western 

Europe, with operations in Botswana, Zambia, Nigeria and 

Romania. 

Group overview 
During the year under review, the Group concentrated efforts on 

redefining the Group strategy to drive shareholder value. The 

restructuring and repositioning of its Industrial businesses as well 

as the minority interest buy-outs and disposals in the Agricultural 

divisions. The minority shareholders’ buy-outs of the water 

chemicals trading business, Tetralon, have also been completed 

and the business is strategically repositioned in the Industrial 

division.

Further unlocking of synergies and expanding product offerings 

contributed to improved divisional performance. However, 

drought conditions experienced in South Africa and neighbouring 

countries during the financial year described as the worst since 

1992 had an impact on the agri business’s performance. Delays 

experienced with respect to finalisation of development projects 

in the Water division had a negative impact on business 

performance.

Free cash flow improvement strategies implemented included the 

reduction of export credit terms without sacrificing the customer 

base as well as concerted efforts to collect certain past due 

debtors. Slow-moving stock has been significantly reduced. 

Manufacturing facilities have been restructured and optimised 

without significant capital investment allowing for increased 

capacity to accommodate future growth.

Operating environment 
The global economy continued to expand at a moderate and 

uneven pace as the prolonged recovery process from the global 

financial crisis was still evident throughout Europe. Global 

recovery was further hampered by new and unexpected 

challenges, including heightened geopolitical conflicts in several 

areas of the world. Among developing countries, Africa’s overall 

growth momentum for the year under review was acceptable 

albeit slower than expected. 

The Group’s current businesses require a certain level of 

infrastructure to be in place for business exports into developing 

countries. This infrastructure creation has also been at a slower 

than expected pace. Overall, the South African manufacturing 

environment remained weak for the period under review. 

The weakening rand and global currency volatility, depreciation of 

the Nigerian currency, lower rerating of the Zambian currency and 

the European debt crises all had an impact on Group results. 

However, import raw material and traded goods cost increases 

were in most instances passed on to customers, resulting in a 

ripple effect with product demand reducing in some instances. 

Lower oil prices and increases in export sales offered somewhat of 

a buffer against negative effects of the strengthening US dollar. 

Limited currency availability in some African countries where the 

Group trades also had an impact on debt collection days. 

Group financial performance 
Group revenue increased by 13,0% to R1,13 billion (June 2014: 

R1 billion). The increase in revenue is mainly due to export growth 

which includes sales and services rendered by foreign subsidiaries. 

Exports contributed R257,4 million (June 2014: R214,5 million) 

to  revenue, comprising 22,7% of total revenue to June 2015 

(June  2014: 21,4%). This amounts to an increase of 20,0% over 

the prior year. The increase is attributed mainly to export growth 

into the rest of Africa and Europe. 

Gross profit increased to R251,3 million (June 2014: R223,5 million) 

with gross profit margins remaining at 22% (June 2014: 22%).

Operating costs increased by 7,8% partly due to further investment 

into Africa and Eastern Europe. Operating profit improved to 

R79,5 million (June 2014: R64,9 million) at a margin of 7,0% of 

turnover (June 2014: 6,5%).

EBITDA increased by R13,7 million to R88,9 million (June 2014: 

R75,2 million). EBITDA is calculated as operating profits plus 

depreciation and amortisation of R9,4 million (June 2014: 

R10,3 million). 

    



Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

9

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED)

Headline earnings per share and fully diluted headline earnings 

per share increased by 30,4% to 38,2 cents from 29,3 cents 

(restated) in June 2014. Earnings per share increased by 35,2% to 

36,5 cents (June 2014: 27,0 cents). The movement between 

earnings per share and headline earnings per share in the current 

year is attributable to the impairment of loans of R1,95 million 

(after tax) as well as the gain on sale of fixed assets amounting to 

R96 000 (after tax). The weighted average number of shares in 

issue for the period was 107 968 467 (June 2014: 107 968 467).

Total net asset value (excluding non-controlling interest) increased 

to R309,0 million (June 2014: R278,4 million) while net tangible 

asset value per share increased to 146,7 cents (June 2014: 

124,7 cents), based on 108 609 467 (June 2014: 108 609 467) shares 

in issue. 

Net finance costs increased to R18,3 million (June 2014: 

R14,6 million) mainly due to higher interest paid on the AgChem 

Group overdraft, operating at higher utilisation levels due to 

higher stock holding. Interest cover reduced to 4,3 times (June 

2014: 4,4 times) with the total debt (interest bearing) to equity 

ratio increasing to 0,41 for June 2015 (June 2014: 0,39). 

Group cash flow performance 
Cash generated from operating activities reduced to R38,9 million 

(June 2014: R68,8 million). 

Net working capital decreased by R10,3 million (June 2014: 

R11,5 million). Inventories decreased by R23,4 million (June 2014: 

R28,5 million) and accounts receivable decreased by R3,3 million 

(June 2014: R28,1 million), while accounts payable and value 

added tax decreased by R37,0 million (June 2014: R45,0 million). 

Assets held for sale are excluded from the above calculations and 

disclosed separately on the statement of financial position as 

separate line items under current assets and current liabilities. 

Assets and liabilities held for sale include inventories of 

R45,8  million, trade and other receivables of R39,1 million and 

accounts payable of R48,1 million with the net working capital 

investment effect being R36,8 million.

Debtors’ days improved to 52,4 days (June 2014: 62,7 days), stock 

days decreased to 89,2 days (June 2014: 111,9 days) and creditors’ 

days decreased to 58,2 days (June 2014: 82,4 days) with the net 

investment in working capital being 83,2 days (June 2014: 

92,2 days). Assets held for sale being inventory, trade and other 

receivables and trade and other payables are excluded from the 

above calculations.

Cash flow utilised in investing activities of R27,2 million (June 

2014: R40,5 million) includes capex of R21,3 million (June 2014: 

R18,0 million) for improvements and upgrades of manufacturing 

facilities, premises infrastructure upgrades and vehicles to 

improve logistics capabilities. R8,0 million was invested in product 

development activities (June 2014: R10,2 million). The Botswana 

warehouse facilities, in progress prior to acquisition in June 2013 

and now completed, was funded by a bond registered over 

the property. 

Cash flow generated by financing activities of R18,2 million (June 

2014: R1,4 million – utilised) mainly comprised additional short-

term funding raised. 

Operational review 
Agricultural division

Turnover increased by 41,7% to R404,4 million (June 2014: 

R285,2  million) due to improved performance in the Eastern 

European business and the agri trading businesses. Gross profit 

margins decreased to 26,5% (June 2014: 29,3%) as a result of the 

improved performance in the trading businesses. The drought 

conditions experienced in the Western Cape region in the 2014 

financial year season was followed by a national drought during 

the latter part of the financial year with consequent loss in product 

sales and margin decline. The division’s geographic spread and 

product range diversity does, however, provide a risk mitigation 

buffer against drought conditions.

Operating costs increased to R66,6 million (June 2014: 

R41,1  million) due to the inclusion of AgChem Europe costs of 

R3,5  million included for the full financial year, certain once-off 

insurance costs, increased marketing and expansion costs into 

Eastern Europe and Africa. The balance of the increase in costs 

related to Galltec Western Cape and the impairment of certain 

assets and loan accounts amounting to R5,3 million. The AgChem 

Africa cost structure is undergoing a review to ensure optimisation 

and effective structuring thereof.

Capital expenditure of R13,2 million included further upgrades of 

the existing production facility and investment into research and 

product development of Plant Growth Promoting Rhizobacteria 

(PGPR) and other products, amounting to R8,0 million. 

Manufacturing facilities were effectively restructured to create 

additional capacity to accommodate growth. 
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With green technology and products relating to global farming 

becoming a reality, an active drive for new biological products 

exists in agriculture. As previously reported, the division has 

partnered with the University of Pretoria (UP) in a research and 

product development programme to identify and evaluate soil 

PGPRs for biological control of soil-borne plant diseases and as 

bio-fertilisers. Trial commercialisation is progressing well, with full 

commercialisation of the PGPRs expected in 2016 pending 

registration with Act 36. Conversion of the market to the usage of 

natural, biological products will take a certain amount of time with 

expected benefits being progressively visible within the next 

five years.

Agricultural product distribution in Africa was dependent on 

certain product registrations and distribution channels being put 

in place. The process is ongoing with registrations concluded and 

distribution channels secured. Manufacturing capacity has been 

restructured and is now adequate to support growth in the next 

year. Key macro-drivers for agricultural product distribution are 

the contribution to food security, increased productivity, improved 

farming work methods, increased investment in commercial and 

rural farming activities in countries like Mozambique, Kenya, 

Tanzania, Nigeria, Zambia, Ghana and others. The local agri 

market remains competitive and sophisticated. New tools to 

facilitate product sales include the “absolute farming” concept 

that provides precision farming analysis methods whereby 

scientific analysis of farmland and crop health is assessed through 

the use of drones and infrared technology. 

Water division

Turnover increased by 18,2% to R188,8 million (June 2014: 

R159,8 million) and gross profit margins reduced slightly to 39,5% 

(June 2014: 39,9%). Performance was influenced by certain delays 

in contract completions in Botswana resulting in a delay in profit 

recognition. The contracts will be completed during the 2016 

financial year.

Operating costs increased by 9% to R45,0 million (June 2014: 

R40,4 million). The increased costs are as a result of an investment 

in capabilities to manufacture and sell the Solenis product range 

which will give the division entry into, among others, the 

petrochemical industry. Solenis is a leading global manufacturer 

of speciality chemicals for the pulp, paper, oil and gas, chemical 

processing, mining and bio-refining, power and municipal 

markets. The company’s products include an array of process, 

functional and water treatment chemistries as well as state-of-the-

art monitoring control systems. With its head office in Delaware 

the company operates 30 manufacturing facilities strategically 

located around the world. The royalty, manufacturing and 

distribution agreement concluded with Solenis positions the 

Water division to compete in large industrial sectors which 

previously proved to be difficult.

Capital expenditure incurred amounted to R11,3 million and 

included the Botswana property under construction at acquisition, 

which was completed during the year and capitalised at 

R7,3 million. The balance of the investments included upgrades 

required in terms of regulations at the silica mine in Brits and 

the  extension of the water chemicals fleet to improve 

logistics capabilities. 

The silica operation has yielded acceptable results for the period 

under review although performance was affected by the mining 

industry crisis. New customers in the water filtration market have, 

however, largely counteracted the resultant effect on performance. 

The operation continued to implement plant upgrades to comply 

with the Department of Mineral Resources and other relevant 

legislation.

The Water division footprint in Africa currently extends into 

Botswana only. The team with the new product range is now well 

positioned to take advantage of contract opportunities in Africa. 

Distribution channels in Zimbabwe, Ghana, Nigeria and Tanzania 

aimed at descaling products for irrigation and for the Solenis 

product range, are being explored with some identified and 

others already in the negotiation phase. Botswana is well 

established with new contract opportunities not far from being 

concluded. Macro-drivers in Africa are increased manufacturing 

and economic activity, increased infrastructure development 

and  the availability of new suitable technology to service the 

African market.

Industrial division

Turnover decreased by 2,4% to R538,7 million (June 2014: 

R551,9 million). The marginal decreases in top-line performance 

are mainly due to the resin turnover now excluded and lower than 

expected exports into the European market, counteracted by 

excellent performance in the Rolfes Chemicals business. Gross 

profit margins decreased marginally to 12,9% (June 2014: 13,0%).

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Operating costs reduced by 16,1% to R44,7 million (June 2014: 

R53,3 million) due to restructuring and rightsizing of the cost base 

towards the latter part of the financial year. The volatile rand/

US dollar exchange rate resulted in higher raw material input costs 

somewhat counteracted by the exchange rate effect on exports. 

Capital expenditure of R4,7 million included the continued 

improvement of production facilities, quality management 

systems, investment into testing/laboratory facilities and transport 

fleet upgrades. 

The Industrial Chemicals business continues on its path to add 

new products to the basket and extend its product range. Current 

distribution channels and critical evaluation to optimise the 

product range being distributed into Africa have been completed 

and strategies to ensure improved performance on margin have 

been implemented. A new distribution channel was established in 

Tanzania. The identified macro-drivers include oil and commodity 

prices, increased manufacturing activity and infrastructure 

development within target countries.

The Pigments division continue to show improvement with the 

employment of a technical industry specialist as MD in the 

business. The business will continue on its path to driving niche, 

high margin, organic dispersion products and explore 

opportunities in the Middle East and in the rest of Africa. 

Looking forward
The global economy is expected to continue on a slow growth 

and recovery path. Sluggish trade growth in developed countries 

is expected to see some improvement albeit in a challenging 

macro-economic environment, as weaknesses in their domestic 

economies interact with external financial vulnerabilities. Average 

inflation for developing economies is expected to fall slowly, 

owing to increasingly prudent monetary policies. Growth in 

private consumption and investment is expected to remain the 

key driver of GDP growth across all five African subregions and all 

economic groupings. The dominant discussion on foreign 

exchange markets has been the appreciation of the United States 

dollar, which is expected to remain volatile especially against 

currency rates of emerging economies resulting in some short-

term risks and concerns. 

The Group will continue to pursue strategic acquisitions and 

organic growth opportunities in the chemicals and related 

products markets to the mining, pharmaceutical, petrochemicals, 

animal health and feeds, and personal care sectors. Acquisitions 

to be pursued will include those with footprints in Africa and 

abroad. Larger acquisitions with higher barriers to entry possessing 

owned intellectual property, infrastructural development 

capabilities or product registrations and those with exclusive 

distribution, agency or equivalent attributes, will take priority. 

Organic growth strategies remain the addition of new product 

lines, the pursuit of new customers, new local and export markets 

for the Group’s current range and entries into new industries. The 

Bragan acquisition, once concluded, will add new industry entry 

points for current businesses and the ability to gain immediate 

entry to supply current products into its customer base. Bragan 

will also add significant value to the Group given its product lines 

and market positioning. The Group in turn will provide the Bragan 

business with the necessary BBBEE credentials to sell into the 

beverage and other industries. Regional expansion and export 

market development for the Bragan products will be a focal point 

for the year ahead.

Group import consolidation strategies have been implemented to 

improve buying power and actively assist with the identification 

of new products to add to the product offering and are well under 

way. Good progress has been made to conclude exclusive 

distribution rights in Africa with global manufacturers of certain 

chemical products, which will add noteworthy value to the Group’s 

product offering. Restructuring of the agri manufacturing facility 

with minimal capital investment, optimising current industrial 

space and property to maximise utilisation across the Group will 

allow for a reduction in capital expenditure and the resultant 

improvement in free cash flow. Critical reviews of productivity and 

the current cost base are in progress to ensure that businesses are 

rightsized for optimal performance. The further alignment of ERP 

systems will ensure further optimal material and stock holding 

planning. The development and launches of organic and 

biological product ranges and solutions in both water and agri are 

envisaged towards the end of the 2016 financial year.

Dividends 
The Board has reviewed the dividend policy and decided that no 

dividend be declared. The Group wishes to preserve its cash 

resources to ensure that it invests into growth areas of the 

business. This decision will be reviewed at each reporting period.

L Lynch

CEO

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT (CONTINUED)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Integrated annual report strategy
Rolfes Holdings Limited (the Group) and its directors acknowledge 

their obligation and responsibility to fully support and endorse 

the King Report of Corporate Governance for South Africa, 2009 

(King III), and the Board of Directors is committed to the principles 

of transparency, integrity and accountability. The Board is satisfied 

that the Group has, during the year under review, complied on an 

“apply or explain” basis with King III as well as the JSE Listings 

Requirements.

The Group and the Board understand that a complete and spirited 

approach to corporate governance standards throughout the 

organisation requires focus on performance as well as compliance. 

The Group acknowledges that strategy, performance, sustainability 

and risk are inseparable in the pursuit of long-term sustainability 

of the Group’s business. Accountability is managed through 

structures to ensure that compliance in the business takes place at 

all levels with transparency and accountability recognised as 

being essential standards to succeed in the short, medium and 

long term.

The Group is confident that it acts in a socially responsible manner, 

embraces opportunities and manages risks appropriately. Sound, 

responsible principles and practices to stakeholders is advocated 

and it is working towards producing a holistic and reliable report 

to stakeholders, containing required data, integrated across all 

areas of performance, both financially and non-financially in the 

triple bottom line context; encompassing economic, social and 

environmental issues.

The Board of Directors
Corporate governance and ethics

The Board is committed to provide responsible leadership 

by  directing the Group’s strategies and operations in a manner 

that will allow it to achieve sustainable economic, social and 

environmental performance and to being responsible, 

accountable and fair. Through the appointment of experienced, 

independent and non-independent non-executive directors, the 

Board benefits greatly from their expertise, perspectives and 

independent insight.

Governance framework and management 
systems
The Board performs its duties within a framework of policies and 

controls which provide for effective risk assessment of the 

economic, environmental and social performance of the Group. 

The Board sets ethical standards of conduct with its responsibilities 

outlined in its charter which is reviewed and adopted by the Board 

annually. The Board convenes a minimum of four times a year. It 

holds an annual strategic planning session for all Board members 

and convenes additional meetings as necessary. To fulfil its 

responsibilities, all Board members participate in rigorous and 

effective debate and discussion when necessary.

All Board committees operate under Board-approved mandates 

and terms of reference, which are updated when necessary to 

remain aligned with current best practice. Board committees, 

except the Nomination Committee, which is chaired by the 

Chairman of the Board, are chaired by independent non-executive 

Assurance

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure 
the integrity of the integrated annual report. 
The authority to evaluate sustainability 
disclosures and the oversight of assurance 
providers are delegated to the Audit and Risk 
Committee. The sustainability reporting and 
disclosure are currently not independently 
assured but the Board is satisfied that the 
information contained in this report is reliable 
and does not contradict the financial aspects of 
the report.

Highlight

The Group is confident that it acts 
in a socially responsible manner.
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directors who attend the annual general meeting (AGM) to 

respond to any shareholder queries.

Division of responsibilities
The roles of the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive 

Officer are clearly separated. As the Chairman is regarded as not 

being independent, Mrs KT Nondumo serves as lead independent 

non-executive director. The Financial Director, Mr SA Sergel 

(appointed 15 July 2015), serves as an executive director on the 

Board. A clear division of responsibilities exists between all 

directors, which are disclosed in all the various Board committee 

reports contained within the integrated annual report on pages 24 

to 32 of this report.

Composition of the Board
It is Group policy to keep Board appointments in the ratio required 

to effectively fulfil its duties and to comply with the memorandum 

of incorporation (MOI), the Companies Act 2008, the JSE Listings 

Requirements and King III. In the context of the above, the Board’s 

membership comprises the following:

• A Chairman who is a non-executive director and regarded as 

non-independent;

• A lead independent non-executive director;

• In total and including the Chairman of the Board and the 

lead  independent non-executive director, the Board consists 

of  two (2) non-independent non-executive directors, four (4) 

independent non-executive directors and three (3) executive 

directors; and

• According to the MOI, the minimum number of directors shall 

be four (4), of which no less than one-fourth of the total number 

of directors shall be non-executive directors and the majority of 

the non-executive directors shall be independent.

Chairman of the Board
The Chairman ensures, among others, the overall effectiveness 

and effective leadership of the Board and its committees. The 

Chairman also ensures that the Board maintains ethical standards 

and is responsible, accountable, fair and transparent. He ensures 

the development and implementation of strategies with the 

objective of achieving sustainable economic, social and 

environmental performance. The Chairman fosters a culture of 

openness and constructive challenge within the Board that allows 

for the expression of a diversity of views in effective debates and 

discussions. Mr BT Ngcuka was re-elected Chairman of the Board 

for the ensuing year.

Lead independent non-executive director
The Group has, in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and 

King III, appointed a lead independent non-executive director, 

Mrs KT Nondumo, considering that Mr BT Ngcuka cannot be 

classified as independent. The lead independent non-executive 

director, among other duties, mitigates any risk of potential 

conflicts of interest in Board meetings. She is also involved in the 

annual evaluation of the Chairman’s performance. 

Company Secretary
The role and function of the Company Secretary is clearly 

formulated in writing and plays a pivotal role in the continuing 

effectiveness of the Board. The Company Secretary for the 

year  under review was Mrs  CC  Swanepoel (appointed 

20 February 2015). She was appointed by the Board in line with 

the  requirements of the Companies Act. The Board reviews the 

competence of the Company Secretary on an annual basis. 

The Board is of the view that the Company Secretary was suitably 

qualified and considered to be sufficiently knowledgeable in the 

relevant laws as required by her role as a Company Secretary. The 

Company Secretary functioned independently, having a direct 

line to the Chairman of the Board, Mr BT Ngcuka, and the lead 

independent non-executive director, Mrs KT Nondumo, in matters 

where the Chairman may be conflicted, to ensure that she was 

able to fulfil her duties as Company Secretary in a proper 

independent manner.

Board appointment policy
According to the JSE Listings Requirements, the Group has a 

policy detailing procedures for the appointment of directors to 

the Board. Appointments are formal and transparent and a matter 

for the Board as a whole, assisted where appropriate by the 

Nomination Committee (Nomco), which is chaired by the 

Chairman of the Board and comprises non-executive directors of 

which the majority is independent. The Board appointment policy 

has a clear balance of power and authority at Board level to ensure 

that no one director has unfettered powers. 

Non-executive directors are appointed through a process as and 

when a vacancy arises, whereby each director, including executive 

directors and other appropriate sources, are requested to consider 

suitable replacements. The objective of the process is to search 

across as wide a field as possible in order to ensure the best 

possible candidate is found.

All potential candidates are submitted in writing to the Company 
Secretary, who presents the candidates to the Chairman of 
Nomco. Candidates are interviewed by the Chairman of Nomco 
and the Nomco members. All candidates are considered through 
a selection process evaluating experience and skills currently on 
the Board, possible conflicts of interest, number of other 
directorships held, appropriate background and reference checks. 
An appropriate level of achievement, reputation, strength of 
character and prominence that will enhance the stature of the 
Board and shall ensure that a clear balance of power is maintained 
or enhanced on the Board, and no one director is able to develop 
unfettered powers. Once the selection process is completed and 
the interviews conducted, the Board will, on recommendation 
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of  Nomco, evaluate the proposed appointments and ratify the 
appointments at the next Board meeting. The appointment is 
approved through an ordinary resolution and formalised in writing 
with the new director. The appropriate SENS announcement 
according to JSE Listings Requirements is then published and the 
required documents are filed in the prescribed time period on 
CIPC. Directors are required to retire and note availability of re-
election according to a rotation register set up in accordance with 
the Company’s MOI and the Board appointment policy annually at 
each AGM. The rotation register is reviewed and approved 
annually by Nomco. The MOI is available on the Company’s 
website on www.rolfesza.com.

Executive director vacancies are filled after considering the 
necessary and desirable competencies for new Board members. 
Recommended candidates are appointed through the same 
process.

Directors standing for re-election are Mr BT Ngcuka and 
Ms SS Mafoyane. Directors are re-elected according to a rotation 
schedule drawn up and approved by Nomco. Refer to the notice 
to shareholders on pages 127 to 128.

Interests of directors
All directors are required to sign a directors’ interest declaration 
on an annual basis. Shanduka Black Umbrellas’ services are 
engaged to assist with supplier development in the Group. 
Ms SS Mafoyane, an independent non-executive director of the 
Board, serves as CEO of Shanduka Black Umbrellas. The total 
value of the annual purchases are regarded as being immaterial. 

Risk management and risk governance
The Board has the overall accountability and responsibility for risk 
management including:
• setting the Company’s risk appetite and overall risk management 

strategy;
• developing appropriate risk management and governance 

systems; and
• establishing and maintaining effective monitoring of internal 

control systems.

The Board delegated the responsibility for risk to the Audit and 

Risk Committee. This committee has a properly defined charter 

which is reviewed and updated annually. The Audit and Risk 

Committee assists the Board with processes to identify key risk 

areas and key performance indicators in the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)

The Chief Executive Officer, through the divisional/subsidiary 

boards, is accountable for the implementation and maintenance 

of  sound risk management. A  top-down approach to risk 

management was adopted to enable the Board to focus on the 

controls addressing the most significant risks. Risk mitigation is 

integrated into the day-to-day operations and activities in all 

subsidiaries with subsidiary directors held accountable for the 

communication of all risks to the Chief Executive Officer. Risk 

registers are drafted and kept updated for the key areas of the 

business, including a strategic risk register covering the Group. 

The effectiveness of controls to mitigate each risk is evaluated. In 

instances where the residual risk exceeds the risk appetite, a risk 

mitigation plan is agreed and documented, champions assigned 

to execute the actions and implementation dates set. The results, 

including action plans to mitigate risks which exceed the risk 

appetite, are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee. The 

Audit and Risk Committee has, on request, access to all 

professionals engaged to assist with the proper assessment of risk 

in the Group.

Risks are identified through:

• assessment of the economic environment by senior 

management;

• operational management in the Group and various subsidiaries;

• financial management structure;

• regular internal assessments of internal controls by management 

on all levels;

• advice of IT professionals engaged by the Group;

• advice of legal professionals engaged by the Group;

• annual ISO audits;

• health and safety assessments by health and safety consultants;

• external auditors;

• bankers;

• sponsors; and

• experienced insurance consultants and independent risk 

assessors.

Financial, forex and interest rate risks are noted in note 29 of the 

integrated annual report and managed by the executive directors.

Internal audit
The risk management model is constantly under review. The 

Board agreed with the Audit and Risk Committee recommendation 

at the last Board meeting and approved the appointment of an 

outsourced internal audit function, to be established during the 

ensuing year, to allow the Audit and Risk Committee further 
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insight into risk management and mitigation within the Group by 

engaging the internal auditors in limited scope audits as directed 

by the committee. The function will report directly to the 

committee on a bi-annual basis.

IT governance
In line with King III recommendations, information technology (IT) 

governance forms an important part of the Group’s strategic and 

business processes, governance structures, policies and 

procedures. The Chief Executive Officer tasked with IT ensures 

that not only risks are mitigated but also ensures efficiency 

improvements and appropriate cost reduction strategies are 

implemented and followed. In line with King III recommendations, 

IT governance continued to be a standing item on the agenda of 

the Audit and Risk Committee, where strategies and progress on 

addressing both strategic and operational risks are reported and 

monitored. The committee ensures that the current network 

infrastructure and resources are aligned with both current and 

planned business strategies and requirements.

Compliance to legislation
The Group is governed by various rules, laws and legislation to 

which it believes it complies as far as possible. The relevant gap 

analysis required is performed at least annually or in cases where 

the law or regulation changes, at the time of the change to assist 

with ensuring that compliance or a plan to comply as soon as 

possible is in place. Progress to ensure compliance is monitored 

until compliance is completed. Some of the relevant acts are:

• the Companies Act;

• the JSE Listings Requirements;

• the Financial Markets Act;

• the anti-bribery laws including the UK Bribery Act and US 

Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

• the Basic Conditions of Employment Act;

• the Labour Relations Act;

• the Skills Development Act;

• the Occupational Health and Safety Act;

• King III (“apply or explain” basis);

• the various taxation legislations;

• the Environmental Act;

• the Competition Act;

• the Consumer Protection Act;

• the Employment Equity Act; and

• the Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment (BBBEE) Act.

All legislation impacts governance and associated reporting 

within the Group, therefore additional responsibilities have been 

placed on the Board and management to adhere to requirements 

and ensure compliance. Adherence to legal requirements forms 

an integral part in the day-to-day management of the Group. 

Compliance is included in the Rolfes Group risk register.

Competition Act, No 89 of 1998 (the 
Competition Act)
Non-compliance to the requirements of the Competition Act, 

No  89 of 1998, is a key inherent risk for the Group and all its 

subsidiaries. Annual Competition Act training sessions are held 

throughout the Group by a legal Competition Act specialist to 

ensure that management and key staff are well aware of regulations 

of the Act and consequences of any contravention.

Occupational Health and Safety Act, No 85 of 
1993 (OHS Act)
Initiatives are constantly under way to improve and ensure a safe 

working environment and compliance with the OHS Act. Health 

and safety consultants are operating throughout the Group with 

the various operational managing directors to ensure constant risk 

identification and mitigation along with the implementation of 

improvement and compliance strategies. The Audit and Risk 

Committee specifically focuses on compliance with this Act with 

occupational health and safety remaining a standing meeting 

agenda item.

Insider trading mitigation processes are in place to ensure 

compliance with JSE Listings Requirements and the Financial 

Markets Act in respect of insider trading. The Board has instituted 

policies and preventive measures to ensure that individuals who 

have inside information relating to securities or financial 

instruments of the Company, do not deal in such securities or 

financial instruments during closed periods. Closed periods are 

formally announced to reduce insider trading risks.

King III
The Group ensures that the requirements of King III are fulfilled on 

an “apply or explain” basis. A gap analysis is performed each year 

and explanations are reported in areas where principles had not 

been applied. The gap analysis serves as a basis for an action plan 

to ensure that deviations from recommended practice are 

addressed in the coming financial year. The Company complies 

fully with those principles that were declared mandatory by the 

JSE Listings Requirements.
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The following table provides assurance on King III compliance:

Areas of non-compliance – highlighted in bold with an asterisk

Principle Description Compliance

Chapter 1 Ethical leadership and corporate 

citizenship

1.1 The Board should provide effective 

leadership based on an ethical 

foundation.

The Board is the custodian of values and ethics for the Group and is 

assisted in this regard by the Group Social and Ethics Committee 

(SEC).

1.2 The Board should ensure that it is seen to 

be a responsible corporate citizen.

The SEC oversees Rolfes’ commitment to responsible corporate 

citizenship.

1.3 The Board should ensure that the Group’s 

ethics are managed effectively.

The Group has a code of ethics in place to which all members of the 

Board, management and employees are required to adhere. The code 

promotes and enforces ethical business practices.

Chapter 2 Boards and directors

2.1 The Board should act as the focal point 

for and custodian of corporate 

governance.

Good corporate governance practice is important in creating and 

sustaining shareholder value and ensuring that behaviour is ethical, 

legal, transparent and for the benefit of all stakeholders. The Board 

charter is an important component of the framework that defines 

corporate governance practices within the Group, which consists of 

Rolfes Holdings Limited (Rolfes, Rolfes Group or the Group) and all of 

its subsidiary and associated entities (the Group), and is designed to 

provide guidance to directors and external audiences as to how 

corporate governance is approached within the Group.

2.2 The Board should appreciate that 

strategy, risk, performance and 

sustainability are inseparable.

The Board is responsible to shareholders for creating and delivering 

sustainable shareholder value through the management of the Group’s 

businesses, in particular in relation to the triple bottom line of social, 

economic and environmental performance. The Board determines the 

strategic objectives and policies of the Group so as to deliver 

long-term value, providing overall strategic direction within a 

framework of rewards, incentives and controls. The Board ensures that 

management strikes an appropriate balance between promoting 

long-term sustainable growth and delivering short-term performance.

2.3 The Board should provide effective 

leadership based on an ethical 

foundation.

Refer to principle 1.1.

2.4 The Board should ensure that the Group 

is and is seen to be a responsible 

corporate citizen.

Refer to principle 1.2 as well as the corporate governance report on 

pages 12 to 23 and the sustainability report on pages 28 to 32.

2.5 The Board should ensure that the Group’s 

ethics are managed effectively.

Refer to 1.3.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
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Principle Description Compliance

2.6 The Board should ensure that the Group 

has an effective and independent Audit 

Committee.

Refer to principle 3.

2.7 The Board should be responsible for the 

governance of risk.

Refer to principle 4.

2.8 The Board should be responsible for IT 

governance

Refer to principle 5.

2.9 The Board should ensure that the Group 

complies with applicable laws and 

considers adherence to non-binding rules, 

codes and standards.

Refer to principle 6.

2.10* The Board should ensure that there is 

an effective risk-based internal audit.

Refer to principle 7. The Board approved the establishment of an 

internal audit function (outsourced) during the 2015 financial year 

to perform limited scope audits on internal controls.

2.11 The Board should appreciate that 

stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 

Group’s reputation.

Refer to principle 8 and the stakeholders engagement policy on 

page 23.

2.12* The Board should ensure the integrity 

of the Group’s integrated annual 

report.

Refer to principle 9.

2.13 The Board should report on the 

effectiveness of the Group’s system of 

internal controls.

Refer to principles 7 and 9.

2.14 The Board and its directors should act in 

the best interests of the Group.

The duties of directors include:

(a)  only exercising powers within the authority given and acting in 

accordance with the best interest of the Group;

(b)  at all times acting not only in good faith and honesty, but also in 

the Group’s best interests and to promote the success of the Group 

for all its members, while having regard for the likely consequences 

of any decision in the long term, the interests of employees, the 

need to further relationships with suppliers and customers, the 

impact on the community and the environment, and the need to 

act fairly as between members of the Group;

(c) exercising independent judgement in carrying out their duties;

(d)  exercising reasonable care, skill and diligence in carrying out their 

duties commensurate with their knowledge and experience; and

(e)  avoiding a conflict of interest between their personal interests and 

their duties to the Group.

2.15 The Board should consider business 

rescue proceedings or other turnaround 

mechanisms as soon as the Group is 

financially distressed as defined in the Act.

Not applicable.
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Principle Description Compliance

2.16 The Board should elect a Chairman of the 

Board who is an independent non-

executive director. The Chief Executive 

Officer of the Group should not also fulfil 

the role of Chairman of the Board.

Mr BT Ngcuka is the Chairman although not independent. The Board 

has elected a lead independent non-executive director to take the 

chair where the Chairman believes that there may be a conflict of 

interest. The Chairman and CEO roles are separate.

2.17 The Board should appoint the Chief 

Executive Officer and establish a 

framework for the delegation of authority.

The Chief Executive Officer of the Group operates under a delegation 

of authority, as approved by the Board.

2.18 The Board should comprise a balance of 

power, with a majority of non-executive 

directors. The majority of non-executive 

directors should be independent.

The Board has an appropriate mix of non-executive, executive and 

independent non-executive directors. Refer to page 13.

2.19 Directors should be appointed through a 

formal process.

The process for appointing new directors to the Board is determined 

by the Board through the Nomination Committee. Refer to page 26.

2.20 The induction and ongoing training and 

development of directors should be 

conducted through formal processes.

The Chairman of the Board agrees upon a Board training programme 

based on the requirements of the Board with the Company Secretary 

and the CEO. Training and orientation meetings and visits are held, 

covering topics such as Rolfes’ business, corporate governance, 

fiduciary duties and responsibilities, new laws and regulations and risk 

management. All newly appointed directors go through the orientation 

programme with management.

2.21 The Board should be assisted by a 

competent, suitably qualified and 

experienced Company Secretary.

The Company Secretary, Mrs CC Swanepoel, is regarded by the Board 

as competent, suitably qualified and experienced. Refer to page 13.

2.22 The evaluation of the Board, its 

committees and the individual directors 

should be performed every year.

The Board conducts an annual review of its own effectiveness and that 

of the Board committees. In addition, the directors perform an annual 

self-evaluation that is reviewed and commented on by the Chairman.

2.23 The Board should delegate certain 

functions to well-structured committees 

but without abdicating its own 

responsibilities.

The Board takes full ownership of certain key decisions to ensure it 

retains proper direction and control of the Group and has appointed 

committees to help it meet these responsibilities. The Board is 

responsible for the performance and affairs of the Group and holds 

itself ultimately accountable to its stakeholders. Delegating various 

functions and authorities to committees and management does not 

absolve the Board and its directors of their duties and responsibilities. 

The following Board committees exist in the Rolfes Group:

• The Audit and Risk Committee;

• The Nomination Committee (Nomco);

• The Remuneration Committee (Remco);

• The Securities Exchange Commission.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
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Principle Description Compliance

2.24 A governance framework should be 

agreed between the Group and its 

subsidiary boards.

The governance model for Rolfes’ subsidiaries is based on a risk 

management framework, ensuring that the governance requirements 

applicable to each entity are congruent with the risk exposure. Refer to 

page 12 in the corporate governance report and page 42 in the Audit 

and Risk Committee report.

2.25 Companies should remunerate directors 

and executives fairly and responsibly.

Refer to pages 24 and 25 of the Remco report.

2.26 Companies should disclose the 

remuneration of each individual director 

and certain senior executives.

Refer to page 24 of the Remco report.

2.27 Shareholders should approve the Group’s 

remuneration policy.

Ordinary shareholders of the Rolfes Group endorses the Group’s 

remuneration policy annually at the AGM. Refer to the notice to 

shareholders – ordinary resolution number 11.

Chapter 3 Audit Committee Refer to the Audit and Risk Committee report on pages 40 to 42.

3.1 The Board should ensure that the Group 

has an effective and independent Audit 

Committee.

The membership of the committee comprises four independent 

non-executive directors.

3.2 Audit Committee members should be 

suitably skilled and experienced 

independent non-executive directors.

The members of the committee are all suitably skilled and experienced 

independent non-executive directors.

3.3 The Audit Committee should be chaired 

by an independent non-executive 

director.

Mrs KT Nondumo, the Chairperson, is an independent non-executive 

director.

3.4 The Audit Committee should oversee 

integrated reporting.

The committee oversees integrated reporting in the Rolfes Group.

3.5* The Audit Committee should ensure 

that a combined assurance model is 

applied to provide a coordinated 

approach to all assurance activities.

The combined assurance model is not applied as yet. The Group is 

working towards applying in the future. The committee will assess 

the matter annually.

3.6 The Audit Committee should satisfy itself 

of the expertise, resources and experience 

of the Group’s finance function.

The committee performs this assessment on an annual basis. Refer to 

page 42 of the Audit and Risk Committee report.

3.7* The Audit Committee should be 

responsible for overseeing of internal 

audit.

A risk-based, limited scope internal audit function (outsourced) will 

be appointed during the 2016 financial year.
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Principle Description Compliance

3.8 The Audit Committee should be an 

integral component of the risk 

management process.

The committee oversees risk management in the Group. The 

committee reviews the Group risk register and recommend adoption 

thereof by the Board on an annual basis. Refer to page 14 in the 

corporate governance report and page 42 in the Audit and Risk 

Committee report.

3.9 The Audit Committee is responsible for 

recommending the appointment of the 

external auditor and overseeing the 

external audit process.

The committee’s responsibilities are fulfilled and detailed on page 41 

in the Audit and Risk Committee report.

3.10 The Audit Committee should report to the 

Board and shareholders on how it has 

discharged its duties.

Refer within the integrated annual report to the Audit and Risk 

Committee report on pages 40 to 42.

Chapter 4 The governance of risk Refer to page 14 of the corporate governance report, page 42 in 

the Audit and Risk Committee report and pages 97 to 101 (risk 

management in the annual financial statements).

4.1 The Board should be responsible for the 

governance of risk.

The Audit and Risk Committee assists the Board with the governance 

of risk.

4.2 The Board should determine the levels of 

risk tolerance.

The Audit and Risk Committee assesses the levels of risk tolerance and 

limits of risk appetite in the Rolfes Group and recommends it to the 

Board for approval.

4.3 The Risk Committee or Audit Committee 

should assist the Board in carrying out its 

risk responsibilities.

Refer to principle 4.1.

4.4 The Board should delegate to 

management the responsibility to design, 

implement and monitor the risk 

management plan.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day responsibility for risk 

management to executive management.

4.5 The Board should ensure that risk 

assessments are performed on a continual 

basis.

The Audit and Risk Committee actively monitors the Group’s key risks 

as part of its standard agenda.

4.6 The Board should ensure that the 

frameworks and methodologies are 

implemented to increase the probability 

of anticipating unpredictable risks.

All risks are identified and steps to mitigate these are outlined, 

including reasonably unpredictable risks.

4.7 The Board should ensure that 

management considers and implements 

appropriate risk responses.

The Audit and Risk Committee ensures that the executive directors 

have appropriate responses to perceived risks in place.

4.8 The Board should ensure continual risk 

monitoring by management.

Responsibility for identified risks is assigned to the Chief Executive 

Officer and Financial Director, who are required to report on the steps 

being taken to manage or mitigate such risks.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
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Principle Description Compliance

4.9 The Board should receive assurance 

regarding the effectiveness of the risk 

management process.

The Audit and Risk Committee currently receives this assurance from 

executive directors.

4.10 The Board should ensure that there are 

processes in place enabling complete, 

timely, relevant, accurate and accessible 

risk disclosure to stakeholders.

The integrated annual report provides an outline of the risk 

management process to its stakeholders. Refer to the Audit and Risk 

Committee report on pages 40 to 42.

Chapter 5 The governance of information  

technology

5.1 The Board should be responsible for 

information technology (IT) governance.

The Board is comfortable that an effective governance structure is in 

place through executive management and the Audit and Risk 

Committee, whose mandate is to improve the overall status of IT 

governance in the Group, while ensuring that future platforms will 

meet strategic needs and remain competitive. The Audit and Risk 

Committee has oversight of selected components of IT governance. IT 

risk management is aligned to the principal risk framework under 

operational risk. The current IT strategy is under revision and will be 

implemented during the next financial year.

5.2 IT should be aligned with the 

performance and sustainability objectives 

of the Group.

Refer to principle 5.1.

5.3 The Board should delegate to 

management the responsibility for the 

implementation of an IT governance 

framework.

Refer to principle 5.1.

5.4 The Board should monitor and evaluate 

significant IT investments and 

expenditure.

Refer to principle 5.1.

5.5 IT should form an integral part of the 

Group’s risk management.

Refer to principle 5.1.

5.6 The Board should ensure that information 

assets are managed effectively.

Refer to principle 5.1.

5.7 A Risk Committee and Audit Committee 

should assist the Board in carrying out its 

IT responsibilities.

Refer to principle 5.1 and the Audit and Risk Committee report on 

page 40.
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Chapter 6 Compliance with laws, codes, rules and 

standards

Refer to the corporate governance report on pages 12 to 23.

6.1 The Board should ensure that the Group 

complies with applicable laws and 

considers adherence to non-binding rules, 

codes and standards.

In the context of the overall obligations of the Board, the duties of the 

directors are to ensure that the Group complies with all legislation, 

regulation, codes and standards.

6.2 The Board and each individual director 

should have a working understanding of 

the effect of the applicable laws, rules, 

codes and standards on the Group and its 

business.

The directors and the Board understand and stay abreast of the 

appropriate laws, rules, and codes of standards applicable to Rolfes 

Group.

6.3 Compliance risk should form an integral 

part of the Group’s risk management 

process.

Compliance is an identified significant risk and addressed as part of the 

risk management process.

6.4 The Board should delegate to 

management the implementation of an 

effective compliance framework and 

processes.

The Board delegates this to the Chief Executive Officer and the 

Financial Director.

Chapter 7 Internal audit risk

7.1* The Board should ensure that there is 

an effective risk-based internal audit.

Risk-based internal audit is currently not in place due to the cost 

versus benefit factor in relation to the size of the Group. The 

Board now believes that the size of the Group justifies the 

appointment of such a function. The Board therefore approved the 

appointment of an outsourced internal audit function during the 

financial year ended 30 June 2015 to perform certain limited 

scope audits as required and directed by the Audit and Risk 

Committee to provide assurance on internal controls.

7.2* Internal audit should follow a risk-based 

approach to its plan.

Refer to principle 7.1. A written assessment is currently performed 

and provided to the Audit and Risk Committee by executive 

management.

7.3* Internal audit should provide a written 

assessment of the effectiveness of the 

Group’s system of internal control and 

risk management.

Refer to principle 7.1.

7.4* The audit committee should be 

responsible for overseeing internal 

audit.

Refer to principle 7.1. The internal audit function will be reporting 

directly to the Audit and Risk Committee.

7.5* Internal audit should be strategically 

positioned to achieve its objectives.

Refer to principle 7.1.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE (CONTINUED)
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Principle Description Compliance

Chapter 8 Governing stakeholder relations Refer to the sustainability report on pages 28 to 32.

8.1 The Board should appreciate that 

stakeholders’ perceptions affect the 

Group’s reputation.

Rolfes has a formal, decentralised stakeholder engagement model with 

a practical framework designed around its main stakeholder groups. 

The Group uses various policies and methodologies to govern 

communication and conduct with stakeholders to cater for their diverse 

and sometimes conflicting interests and concerns. This is a continuous 

process and policies and methodologies are widely informed by best 

practice, corporate governance and legislative requirements, as well as 

risk and reputation management principles.

8.2 The Board should delegate to 

management to proactively deal with 

stakeholder relationships.

The Board, the executives and management are responsible for 

maintaining stakeholder relationships.

8.3 The Board should strive to achieve the 

appropriate balance between its various 

stakeholder groupings, in the best 

interests of the Group.

The appropriate balance is assessed on a continuous basis.

8.4 Companies should ensure the equitable 

treatment of shareholders.

In terms of the Board charter, directors must act in a way considered as 

good faith that will promote the success of the Group for the benefit of 

the shareholders as a whole and, in doing so, have regard, among 

other matters, for the need to act fairly in the treatment of all 

shareholders.

8.5 Transparent and effective communication 

with stakeholders is essential for building 

and maintaining their trust and 

confidence.

Refer to principle 8.1.

8.6 The Board should ensure that disputes are 

resolved as effectively, efficiently and 

expeditiously as possible.

The Board ensures that disputes are resolved effectively and as soon 

as possible.

Chapter 9 Integrated reporting and disclosure

9.1 The Board should ensure the integrity of 

the Group’s integrated annual report.

The Board is responsible for the integrity of the integrated annual 

report and is assisted in this regard by the Audit and Risk Committee.

9.2 Sustainability reporting and disclosure 

should be integrated with the Group’s 

financial reporting.

Current disclosure is as far as possible integrated with the Group’s 

financial reporting.

9.3* Sustainability reporting and disclosure 

should be independently assured.

Rolfes has not progressed to the point of having an independently 

assured sustainability report and will be working toward this in the 

future.
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The Group’s strategy is to ensure that remuneration matches 

individual contribution to Group performance, within the 

framework of market forces, while protecting shareholders’ 

interests and the Group’s financial health over the short and 

long term.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration will be tabled at the annual 

general meeting to be held on 6 November 2015 for approval by 

shareholders. Details of the directors’ aggregate emoluments on 

an individual basis are set out in note 28 of the integrated annual 

report. An advisory endorsement of the remuneration policy of 

the Group will also be tabled at the annual general meeting, to 

allow shareholders to express an opinion on the remuneration 

policy of the Group.

The proceedings of the Remuneration Committee are governed 

by a charter as approved by the Board.

Terms of reference
The Remuneration Committee ensures that employees are 

rewarded for their contribution to the Group’s operating and 

financial performance at levels which take account of industry, 

market and country benchmarks, as well as the requirements of 

collective bargaining.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for the administration, 

assessment and approval of the Board’s remuneration strategy for 

the Group, the determination of short and long-term incentive 

pay structures for Group executives, general staff policy, 

remuneration, service contracts, the positioning of senior 

executive pay levels relative to local and international industry 

benchmarks and the assessment and authorisation of specific 

reward proposals for the Group’s executive directors and 

independent non-executive directors, as well as reviewing Group 

retirement funds.

Membership and composition
The Remuneration Committee comprises Dr MM Dyasi (Chairman 

and independent non-executive director), Mr DM Mncube 

(independent non-executive director), Ms SS Mafoyane 

(independent non-executive director) and Mr MS Teke (non-

executive director).

The committee met once during the period on 12 June 2015. The 

chief executive officer, the financial director and non-executive 

directors attend the committee meetings by invitation and assist 

the committee in its deliberation, except when issues relating to 

their own compensation are discussed.

The Group’s auditors, SizweNtsalubaGobodo, have not provided 

advice to the committee. They have, however, in their capacity 

as  Group auditors, performed normal audit procedures on 

directors’ remuneration.

Attendance at the meeting during the year was as follows:

Number 
of meetings

12 June 2015

MM Dyasi#^ 1
DM Mncube# 1
SS Mafoyane# 1
MS Teke∆ 1
# Independent non-executive director
^ Chairman
∆ Non-executive director

Executive remuneration
Remuneration of executive directors is determined through a 

process of benchmarking, utilising current market information, as 

well as remuneration and reward practices of the Group.

The Company adopts the principle of total cost to company in 

determining executive directors’ remuneration packages. This 

includes basic remuneration, short-term incentives determined 

by  fulfilment of performance targets as well as medical and 

other benefits.

The Board annually appraises the executive directors and the 

results of these appraisals are considered by the Remuneration 

Committee to guide it in determining performance and 

remuneration.

The extent of managerial responsibility, together with actual 

workplace location, determine basic remuneration of executive 

directors. Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 28 

to the annual financial statements.
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External appointment
Directors only hold external directorships or offices with the 

approval of the Board. If such approval is granted, directors may 

retain the fees paid from such appointments.

Short-term incentives
Performance bonus schemes are available for executive directors 

based on Group performance. Job level, business unit and 

individual performance determine individual awards. The aim of 

the bonus scheme is to reward performance in line with 

organisational objectives and achievements.

Fees
Non-executive directors were remunerated for their contribution 

to the Board and Board committees during the year. Fees to non-

executive directors were, for the financial year to 30 June 2015, 

payable per month as was approved by shareholders at the annual 

general meeting held on 31 October 2014. Shareholders will be 

requested to consider a special resolution approving the 

remuneration of the non-executive directors at the 2015 annual 

general meeting.

There are no short or long-term incentive schemes or pension 

benefits for non-executive directors.

Executive directors review independent and non-independent 

non-executive directors’ remuneration and recommendations are 

made to the Board which in turn proposes fees for approval by 

shareholders at the annual general meeting. Non-executive 

directors’ fees for the June 2016 financial year as proposed are 

listed in the notice of annual general meeting on pages 117 

to 126.

Approval
This Remuneration Committee report was approved by the Board 

of Directors.

Dr MM Dyasi

Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

18 September 2015
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The Nomination Committee meets annually directly before the 

Remuneration Committee with the Chairman of the Board, 

Mr BT Ngcuka being the Chairman of the Nomination Committee. 

The committee holds additional meetings as and when required. 

The committee’s key roles include the identification and evaluation 

of suitable candidates for appointment to the Rolfes’ Board, as 

well as succession planning.

Terms of reference
The committee ensures that:

• the appointment of directors is transparent and governed by 

the formal procedures set out in the committee’s mandate and 

terms of reference and the Board charter;

• directors retire and are re-elected in accordance with a mandate 

and a rotation register drawn up in accordance with the 

Company’s memorandum of incorporation; and

• succession planning is reviewed once per annum.

Changes to the Board
During the year, the following changes to the Board took place:

Resignations
Mr A Hanekom – Financial Director – 22 February 2015.

Mr T Tshivhase – Independent non-executive – 31 October 2014.

Mr A Fourie – Non-executive – 31 October 2014

Change in designation
Ms L Lynch – Financial Director (previously Chief Operating Officer 

and Company Secretary) – executive director. Ms Lynch was 

appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 15 July 2015.

Mr E van der Merwe resigned as Chief Executive Officer on 15 July 

2015 and was appointed as director: corporate finance on that date.

New appointments
Mr SA Sergel – Financial Director – 15 July 2015.

Membership and composition
The membership of the committee comprises a majority of 

independent non-executive directors. The Chief Executive Officer 

along with executive directors and non-executive directors has an 

attendance right at meetings but have no voting powers. 

The  Nomination Committee members are Mr BT Ngcuka 

(Chairman of the Board and Chairman of the Nomination 

Committee), Mr MS Teke (non-executive director), Dr MM Dyasi 

(independent non-executive director), Mr DM Mncube 

(independent non-executive director), and Ms SS Mafoyane 

(independent non-executive director).

Terms of service – executive directors
The Company complies with relevant legislation in determining 

minimum terms and conditions of employment for executive 

directors. Executive directors have employment contracts 

incorporating the same information and restrictions. The contract 

includes a restraint of trade paragraph to ensure the Group does 

not incur losses or loss of business due to the resignation of a 

director. The contracts do not indicate any term of employment 

and employment will cease with the resignation or dismissal of the 

director. The contract does not specify any age or time period to 

regulate retirement of directors.

Non-executive directors and independent 
non-executive directors
Shareholders appoint the non-executive directors at annual 

general meetings. However, in terms of Group policy, interim 

Board appointments may be made between annual general 

meetings. Such interim appointees may not serve beyond the 

date of the following annual general meeting, though they may 

make themselves available for re-election by shareholders.

Meeting attendance on 12 June 2015 was as follows:

Number 
of meetings

12 June 2015

BT Ngcuka (Chairman) 1
MM Dyasi# 1
DM Mncube# 1
SS Mafoyane# 1
MS Teke 1
# Independent non-executive director

BT Ngcuka

Chairman of the Nomination Committee

18 September 2015
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The Social and Ethics Committee (SEC or the committee) will 

review and update its terms of reference, when necessary. The 

terms of reference are set out in the SEC charter and ensure that 

the committee performs its duties in terms of the Companies Act 

and King III. The SEC Chairperson will report to shareholders at 

the annual general meeting (AGM) on 6 November 2015.

Composition and membership
The SEC comprises two independent non-executive directors 

being Ms SS Mafoyane (Chairperson), and Dr MM Dyasi 

(independent non-executive director) and one executive director, 

being Ms L Lynch. Other executive directors and managers of the 

Group may attend by invitation. The Company Secretary acts as 

the committee secretary.

Meeting 
attendance  

10 June 2015

SS Mafoyane# (Chairperson) 1 
MM Dyasi# 1
L Lynch∆ 1
# Independent non-executive director
∆ Executive director

Policy review
The SEC is responsible for developing and reviewing the Group’s 

policies with regard to the commitment, governance and reporting 

of the Group’s sustainable development performance. These 

policies are recommended to the Board for approval. Policies in 

place will be reviewed prior to the next committee meeting and 

any amendments will be recommended to the Board for approval.

Material sustainability issues
The committee is responsible for annually revising or determining, 

in conjunction with senior management, the Group’s material 

sustainability issues. Material issues are referred to the Board with 

recommendations for mitigation as and when they arise. The 

Board, the Audit and Risk Committee and the SEC have agreed 

on a phased process to continue to improve assurance processes 

on material sustainability issues.

Statutory duties and terms of reference
This committee has a broad mandate in terms of the Companies 

Act and King III. The SEC is tasked with monitoring the Group’s 

activities in respect of sustainability issues. It considers relevant 

legislation and best practices in terms of social and economic 

development (including broad-based black economic 

empowerment (BBBEE)), good corporate citizenship, the 

environment, safety and health, labour and employment.

In execution of its statutory duties, the SEC endeavours to:

• execute its statutory duties in terms of the requirements of the 

Companies Act and King III;

• consult advisers and attend presentations on the various 

aspects of the duties and responsibilities relating to social and 

ethics issues;

• create a reporting structure for the Group’s businesses in 

respect of the committee’s requirements;

• monitor the Group’s compliance with the International Labour 

Organisation’s definition of “decent work”;

• monitor the Group’s corporate social investment (CSI); and

• monitor the Group’s achievements against its SEC plan.

Conclusion
The SEC is satisfied with the Group’s progress in the different 

areas and with the social and ethics plans for the 2015 financial 

year. The committee is aware its function will continue to evolve as 

it addresses all the responsibilities within its mandate. Economic 

and social sustainability is important to the Group and in its 

sustainability report more detail is supplied on the Group’s human 

resources, environmental, CSI and other significant matters 

relating to the Group’s obligations to all stakeholders and 

shareholders. The sustainability report can be found on pages 28 

to 32 of the Group’s 2015 integrated annual report.

Approval
The SEC report was approved by the Board of Directors.

 

SS Mafoyane

Chairperson of the SEC

18 September 2015
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Our approach to sustainability
The Group is committed to operating transparently and 

responsibly in order to ensure the long-term viability of the 

business. Integrating sustainability into everyday business 

practices is therefore a priority. The Group focuses on the 

economic, social and environmental elements of all our activities 

in order to deliver long-term value to our shareholders, customers, 

partners, communities, employees and the environment.

The Board acknowledges that in addition to being responsible for 

corporate performance, it holds a responsibility for triple bottom 

line reporting. The Group requires that directors prescribe to the 

five moral duties of conscience, care, competence, commitment 

and courage. The ethical corporate culture of the Group holds 

that all directors follow ethical standards; that the interests of all 

stakeholders should be taken into account in making decisions; 

that the conduct of individuals need to improve moral values; that 

business activities should be conducted with integrity, fairness 

and vision; that fair competition practices are followed in all 

aspects of the business activity; and that poor performance is 

never blamed on the exercise of good ethical standards.

Creating sustainable economic value
The Group’s economic and sustainability approach includes 

contributing to the South African and wider African economy, 

contributing to the evolving green economy, expanding on its 

offering of products, which include specifically more 

environmentally friendly products. 

Value added statement

2015
R’000

2015
%

2014 
R’000

2014
%

Revenue  1 131 954  1 001 407 
Cost of material and services  (907 688)  (777 432) 

Value added by operations  224 266 99,76  223 975  99,93 
Interest income  531  0,24  148  0,07 

Total  224 797  100,00  224 123  100,00 

Applied as follows:
Employees’ salaries, wages and benefits  147 471  65,60  143 307  63,94 
Government taxation  13 836  6,15  12 219  5,45 
Providers of capital and interest  18 864  8,39  14 780  6,59 
Dividends – –  5 429  2,42 
Retained in the Group
Retained earnings 39 371  13,65  29 170  13,02 
Non-controlling shareholders 7 979  2,01  8 885  3,96 
Depreciation and amortisation  9 417  4,19  10 333  4,61 

Total  224 797  100,00  224 123  100,00 

Building long-term social benefit
There is a growing global focus on the role of business in 

protecting and respecting human rights and improving the social 

environment in which organisations operate. The Group takes its 

social responsibility seriously and seeks to uphold the human 

rights of every employee and each individual in its broader value 

chain.

Stakeholder engagement
Stakeholder relationships and engagement activities vary in 

intensity and complexity as appropriate for the particular issue or 

project. The Group and/or owners of the engagement process 

have undertaken to ensure that identified stakeholders are 

engaged timeously and appropriately with issues relating to them 

and their investment in the Group. The Group requires all 

stakeholders to be addressed with dignity and respect. The 

following are key stakeholders as identified by the Group:

• Employees; 

• Shareholders; 

• Customers; 

• Suppliers; 

• Bankers; 

• Consultants; 

• Trade unions and other employee representatives; and 

• Any other person, company or consultant engaged in business 

activities with the Group and/or its subsidiaries. 
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BBBEE
The Rolfes Group understands the importance of broad-based 

black economic empowerment (BBBEE) compliance in order to 

assist the furtherance of its everyday operations. Furthermore, the 

Group also acknowledges the social importance of BBBEE, which 

seeks to achieve increased participation in the South African 

economy and the transformation thereof, as well as a greater 

distribution of wealth in the country. The Group therefore upholds 

the spirit of BBBEE and thus continues to review its strategy 

throughout all subsidiaries in this regard. 

Supplier and enterprise development

Rolfes has contracted the services of Shanduka Black Umbrellas 

(SBU) that is facilitating the supplier and enterprise development 

project. This project entails a thorough analysis of areas needing 

urgent improvement in the Rolfes’ supply chain, as well as 

implementing strategies to improve these areas. Also, under the 

guidance of SBU, the directors and a number of other employees 

throughout Rolfes’ subsidiaries have volunteered to mentor small 

black-owned businesses as a means of improving their capacity 

for growth and success. 

Skills development

Emphasis is placed on human capital as an integral part of the 

Group’s sustainability. The Skills Development and Employment 

Equity committees are appointed from members of management 

and staff who, in compliance with skills development legislation, 

evaluate, monitor and conduct training, learning and career 

development opportunities for employees. The Chemical 

Industries Education and Training Authority (CHIETA) receives 

workplace skills and training reports timeously and ensures 

compliance with regulations.

The Company has embarked on various initiatives aimed at 

improving the current rating and, most importantly, ensuring that 

it makes a valuable contribution to the process of transformation 

in the country. A number of initiatives have been developed to 

ensure that significant progress can be made on all categories of 

the scorecard. 

Employment equity

Initiatives are under way to ensure that Rolfes’ five-year 

employment equity plan and targets will be achieved. Focus is 

currently being placed on individuals with disabilities and skills 

development opportunities for designated candidates. 

 
Employment equity: Occupational levels:

A African

I Indian

C Coloured

W White

Occupational levels Male Female
Foreign 

nationals

A C I W A C I W Male Female Total

Top management 3 0 0 1 2 0 0 1 0 0 7
Senior management 0 0 2 9 0 0 0 2 0 0 13
Professionally qualified and experienced 

specialists and mid-management 9 1 9 34 6 1 1 16 0 0 77
Skilled technical and academically qualified 

workers, junior management, supervisors, 

foremen, and superintendents 29 2 1 21 3 2 0 7 0 0 65
Semi-skilled and discretionary decision making 137 0 3 16 38 5 7 27 0 0 233
Unskilled and defined decision making 55 1 0 0 18 0 0 2 0 0 76
Total permanent 233 4 15 81 18 8 8 55 0 0 471
Temporary employees 51 0 0 0 15 5 0 0 0 0 71
Grand total 284 4 15 81 82 13 8 55 0 0 542
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Adult Education and Training (AET) 

AET (previously known as ABET) is used to develop low-skill 

category employees within the subsidiaries. Classes are already 

under way in Rolfes Silica, Rolfes Colour Pigments International 

and will soon start at the Group’s other subsidiaries.

Trainee contracts (young graduates)

Skills development for skilled individuals entails employees being 

given study assistance as per Group study policy guidelines. 

Furthermore, because the Rolfes Group recognises the need to 

play its part in addressing social ills, such as unemployment, 

young graduates are recruited and placed on six-month trainee 

contracts. These contracts are an opportunity for young individuals 

to become fully acquainted with the work environment and in so 

doing refine their skills and ultimately make a valuable contribution 

to the Company and the country’s economic growth. The main 

goal of this initiative is to develop and retain young talent, which 

will form part of the Company’s future. Through this strategy, the 

Company maintains its goals of being compliant with employment 

equity legislation and boasting a diverse workforce. 

General training

The Company aims to improve levels of competence through 

regular training of employees. This entails courses on health and 

safety, equipment operation and Hazchem requirements. In 

addition, qualified members of staff and management also 

facilitate in-house training. All the above is aimed at ensuring that 

employees are provided the opportunity to develop further. 

Socioeconomic development (CSI)

The Rolfes CSI policy states that with regard to financial 

contributions, focus will be given to the areas of health, education, 

job creation and the environment. Over the past year, donations 

were made to various organisations addressing the needs for 

health, education and skills development. In future, all subsidiaries 

will be encouraged to be more cognisant of this policy in their 

contributions in order to ensure that all the Company’s focus areas 

are addressed. 

Employee health and safety
Health and safety reports are compiled monthly and conveyed to 

executive directors on a quarterly basis. Meetings are recorded in 

formal minutes and kept with management. Measures to prevent 

workplace accidents and fatalities are in place and enforced 

through policies, strategies, procedures and infrastructure to 

mitigate environmental, occupational health and safety risks. 

Regular risk assessments, as well as continuous monitoring 

programmes, assist with ongoing compliance to all relevant 

occupational health and safety regulations. In-house training on 

various safety precautions are part of our induction training. We 

are currently working on publishing our induction book in the 

African language relevant to each site. Training also takes place 

on issues such as industrial hygiene, codes of practice and safe 

operating procedures are conducted on a regular basis.

Surveillance programmes are in place at all sites with workers 

monitored for the potential health effects of products to which 

they are exposed. Personnel are issued with required protective 

clothing and equipment and trained on prevention strategies to 

mitigate potentially harmful exposure risks, as well as emergency 

treatment of accidental exposure.

Proper storage facilities are in place for raw materials and finished 

goods to ensure the safety of employees and the environment. 

Appropriate precautions are taken to avoid potential explosions 

associated with dust clouds or flammable materials. Underground 

storage tanks are monitored for leaks and compliance to 

applicable legislation.

Many of our sites have dedicated clinics for our employees. 

Healthcare promotion in the Group concentrates on implementing 

preventative and corrective mitigation measures to reduce and 

eliminate underlying causes of HIV/Aids, other serious diseases 

and identifiable health hazards. The Group promotes voluntary 

testing, non-discrimination and awareness regarding the 

prevention of the spread of the disease and mitigating its effects. 
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At our AgChem site, ISO 18001, which is a health and safety 

standard, is in the process of being introduced.

Human rights and non-discrimination
The Group strives to offer employees a work environment that is 

free from all forms of discrimination. Every subsidiary has an 

Employment Equity Committee to ensure that there is no 

discrimination in the workplace. Human resource management 

respects employee rights and labour regulations, and underlines 

the importance of both by taking appropriate disciplinary action 

against offenders. No incidents of discrimination were reported 

for the period under review.

Child and forced or compulsory labour
The Group rejects child and forced labour practices. It respects 

national cultures, local laws and traditions. As a responsible 

employer, the Rolfes Group undertakes to comply with regulatory 

requirements and rules of the various Acts and governing bodies, 

including the constitution, the Labour Relations Act, the 

Employment Equity Act, the Skills Development Act and the Basic 

Conditions of Employment Act. The Group will immediately 

terminate agreements and relationships with contractors or 

suppliers who contravene the constitution or the Universal 

Declaration of Human Rights. None of the operations practice 

child, forced or compulsory labour.

Bribery and corruption
The Group is committed to the highest standards of ethical 

conduct in its dealings with all stakeholders. Bribery and corruption 

are not tolerated at any level and employees are encouraged to 

conduct their activities objectively and in a manner that complies 

with all the requirements of the Anti-fraud and Corruption Act and 

the Protected Disclosures Act. The core of the commitment is to 

apply the highest standard of ethical conduct in dealings with all 

stakeholders.

Product responsibility
The Group publishes all material safety and technical data sheets 

on our website for products sold by the Rolfes Group. These are 

updated continuously to ensure they meet customers’ health, 

safety and designed use needs.

The following legal entities within the Group are accredited with 

ISO 9001:2008 quality management assurance standards:

• Rolfes Colour Pigments International – Jet Park; 

• Rolfes Chemicals – Germiston and Jet Park;

• AgChem Africa – Pretoria; and 

• PWM – Midrand.

Customer health and safety and the development of alternatives 

for potentially harmful products are continuously assessed to 

ensure products are improved in terms of health and safety. 

Product services and product labelling practices are regularly 

reviewed and revised to ensure proper responsible labelling in 

accordance with relevant legislation. 

Conserving natural capital
When considering the environmental dimension of sustainability, 

the Rolfes Group takes into consideration its impact on living and 

non-living natural systems, including land, air, water and 

ecosystems. 

Environmental policy
Rolfes is committed to meeting the needs of its employees and 

clients in an environmentally sound and sustainable manner, 

through continuous improvement in the environmental 

performance of all its activities in accordance with the 

Environmental Conservation Act. The Group’s objective is to 

control and manage any undesirable or superfluous by-products, 

emissions and residue caused by any process or activity. We aim 

to provide adequate means for all waste types to be properly 

stored, contained and disposed of. It is a further objective to 

protect employees, visitors, contractors or the public from 

exposure to any hazardous waste that the Company may or could 

accumulate or handle.

During the year, a comprehensive environmental management 

programme was implemented in order to assist in our endeavour 

to monitor and protect the Group’s valuable natural capital stocks. 

We are also in the process of implementing ISO 14001, an 

international environmental standard, at all our sites.
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Emission, effluent and waste
Continuous monitoring of effluent treatment plants, with the 

assistance of external institutions, ensures that particular care is 

taken to examine water quality and discharges. Preventive 

measures are in place and upgrades are under way to ensure that 

storm water pollution does not take place. Safe disposal of waste 

is done through registered and accredited institutions, certifying 

that waste is properly and legally disposed of. Harmful discharges 

from factory emissions are limited through preventative measures 

to assist with the improvement of our carbon footprint.

Transport
Proactive logistic planning ensures less travel and a reduction in 

greenhouse gas emissions from motor vehicles. No chemical spills 

were reported for the year under review, and the Group has been 

proactive in meeting Hazchem transportation requirements. In the 

interest of being prepared, many of our transport vehicles are 

equipped with chemical spill kits in the unfortunate event of a 

spill. 

Compliance
There were no significant fines or monetary sanctions brought 

against Rolfes or any of their subsidiaries for non-compliance with 

environmental laws and regulations. 

Products and services
The Group is continuously developing processes to add organic 

products to its diverse product range.

Some environmental product innovations include:

• Replace lead chromates with lead-free organic pigments in the 

product ranges of Rolfes Colour Pigments;

• Chrome-free tanning used in the Rolfes leather division to take 

away the risk posed if effluent is spilled or disposed of incorrectly 

and also reduces the amount of toxic waste; and

• Rolfes Chemicals is looking at supplying green solvents 

manufactured from various agricultural crops as opposed to 

traditional petrochemical roots of manufacture, which have 

severe negative environmental impacts associated with it. 

Packaging materials
Packaging material for exported products cannot be reclaimed 

locally. Group companies have various initiatives in place to 

ensure, as far as it is under its control, that packaging is disposed 

of in an environmentally responsible manner.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The directors have pleasure in presenting their report on the activities of the Company and the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Nature of the business of the Group
Rolfes Holdings Limited (Rolfes or the Rolfes Group) is a holding company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa that, through its 

divisions and subsidiaries, provides a wide range of market-leading products to customers through dedicated teams of industry specialists 

in the agricultural, water and mining and industrial industries. Rolfes listed on the AltX during 2007 and transferred its listing to the main 

board of the JSE on 21 November 2011. 

Results of operations
The results of the year’s operations are set out on pages 45 to 114 and incorporate the consolidated results of the Company and 

its subsidiaries.

The year under review
A comprehensive review of the Group’s performance for the 2015 financial year can be found in the reports of the Chairman and the Chief 

Executive Officer.

Events after the reporting period
There are no significant events that arose after the end of the financial year and the date of this report which requires adjustment of the 

results presented for the reporting period. However, the directors want to draw attention to the following strategic plans which may 

impact the results of the Group during the 2016 financial year:

• The acquisition of 100% of the equity of Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited;

• The acquisition of the 30% non-controlling interest of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited, thereby increasing the shareholding to 

100%; and

• The disposal of two subsidiaries of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited on 1 July 2015, being Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary 

Limited and Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited.

Share capital
Details of the authorised and issued share capital appear in note 10 (page 79) to the annual financial statements.

During the year, the Company’s authorised share capital remained unchanged.

According to a resolution passed at the general meeting held on 31 August 2015, the Company will be issuing 48,333 million new ordinary 

shares at R3 per share during the 2016 financial year.

Dividends
No dividends were declared or paid during the 2015 financial year.

Going concern
The Board has formally considered the going concern assumption for Rolfes and its subsidiaries. The Board has no reason to believe that 

the Company and Group will not operate as a going concern in the foreseeable future. The Board minuted the facts and assumptions used 

in the assessment of the going concern status of the Company and Group at the reporting date.
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The Board applies the solvency and liquidity test as defined in section 4 of the Companies Act of South Africa, on a regular basis as well 

as when specifically required to do so in terms of the Act. Proactive risk management is performed by senior management by actively 

monitoring exposure to risks. The net risk position is kept within acceptable norms. As part of the Group’s importing activities, foreign 

exchange exposures are closely monitored.

Directors
Biographical notes of the current directors are set out on page 5. Details of directors’ remuneration appear in note 28. Directors’ CVs are 

available at www.rolfesza.com.

Changes in directorate
Ms L Lynch was appointed as Chief Executive Officer on 15 July 2015. She was previously appointed as Chief Operations Officer.

Mr SA Sergel was appointed as Financial Director on 15 July 2015.

Mr E van der Merwe was appointed as the executive director in charge of Corporate Finance and Special Projects on 15 July 2015. He 

previously fulfilled the role of Chief Executive Officer for a period of eight years. 

The following directors resigned during the year:

• Mr AJ Fourie resigned effective 31 October 2014;

• Mr A Hanekom resigned effective 20 February 2015; and

• Mr TAM Tshivhase resigned effective 31 October 2014.

Directors’ interests in contracts
Directors’ interests in contracts are disclosed on pages 14 and 103. No other material or non-material interests in contracts involving 

directors were entered into during the year under review.

Company secretary and registered office 
Ms CC Swanepoel is the Company Secretary. Her address, the Company’s registered, physical and postal addresses are set out as below:

12 Jet Park Road, Jet Park, Boksburg, 1459

PO Box 8112, Elandsfontein, 1406

The Board confirms that the Company Secretary is suitably qualified and experienced to provide the Board with the required support for 

sufficient functioning and discharge of its duties as prescribed by the Companies Act, King III and the JSE Listings Requirements. Refer to 

page 13 of the corporate governance report for full disclosure.

The Board believes an arm’s-length relationship exists between itself and the Company Secretary.

Property, plant and equipment
Details of additions to property, plant and equipment during the year are disclosed in notes 2 and 3 to the annual financial statements. 

There was no change in the nature of the property, plant and equipment of the Company or Group or in the policy regarding their use 

during the year under review.
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Material events
Effective 1 January 2015, the Group acquired the 30% non-controlling interest in Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited, 

thereby increasing its shareholding to 100%. On the same date, the business of Tetralon was sold to Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited 

in order to leverage the synergies between these businesses.

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
Rolfes’ financial statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Major shareholders
Shareholders, holding beneficially, directly or indirectly, in excess of 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, are detailed on 

pages 115 and 116.

Attendance at meetings
The number of meetings attended by each of the directors of the Company during the period 15 September 2014 to 31 August 2015 is as 

follows, with the number in brackets reflecting the number of meetings held whilst the director was in office:

Remuneration 
Committee 

meetings
Board 

meetings

Audit 
and Risk

 Committee
 meetings

Nomination 
Committee 

meetings

BT Ngcuka 1(1)** 4(4) 2(2)** 1(1)
E van der Merwe 1(1)** 4(4) 2(2)** 1(1)**
AJ Fourie††† 1(1)** – (4) 1(2)** 1(1)**
L Lynch***** 1(1)** 4(4) 2(2)** 1(1)**
KT Nondumo – (1) 3(4) 2(2) – (1)
TAM Tshivhase††† – (1) 1(1) – (2) 1(1)
SS Mafoyane 1(1) 4(4) – (2) 1(1)
A Philippou (representing SizweNtsalubaGobodo) – – (4) 2(2)** – (1)
MS Teke 1(1)** 4(4) 2(2)** 1(1)**
AJ Hanekom† – (1) 3(4) 1(2)** – (1)
MM Dyasi*** 1(1) 4(4) 2(2) 1(1)
DM Mncube*** 1(1) 4(4) 2(2) 1(1)

** Attended by invitation
*** Appointed as independent non-executive director on 30 June 2014
***** Appointed Company Secretary and COO on 30 June 2014
†  Resigned, effective 20 February 2015
††† Resigned, effective 31 October 2014
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Directors’ shareholdings
The direct and indirect beneficial shareholdings of the directors in office at the date of this report are as follows:

2015 2014

Direct Indirect Direct Indirect

Executive directors
L Lynch 3 000 – 3 000 –
E van der Merwe 2 196 605 2 196 605
SA Sergel – – – –

Non-executive directors
MS Teke 306 337 7 000 000 6 337 7 000 000
MM Dyasi – – – –
DM Mncube – – – –
KT Nondumo – – – –
SS Mafoyane – – – –
BT Ngcuka 3 390 739 3 390 739

309 337 12 587 344 9 337 12 587 344

Special resolutions
Remuneration of independent non-executive directors

The reason for the special resolution is to comply with the provisions of sections 65(11)(h), 66(8) and 66(9) of the Companies Act of South 

Africa, which stipulate that remuneration of directors for their services as directors may only be paid in accordance with a special resolution 

approved by the shareholders. The special resolution was passed by the Company’s shareholders on 31 October 2014 and registered at 

the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (general authority).

Repurchase of securities

A general authority to repurchase ordinary shares in the Company was granted in terms of a special resolution passed by the Company’s 

shareholders on 31 October 2014 and registered at the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (general authority).

During the financial year under review the Company did not acquire ordinary shares on the open market (2014: nil).

The directors will seek approval at the annual general meeting for authority to repurchase shares. Such approval is valid until the next 

annual general meeting or 15 months from the date of approval of the resolution.

Prior to any repurchase scheme the directors will perform a solvency and liquidity test to ensure the Company will have adequate cash 

reserves to service debt for the succeeding 12-month period and assets will exceed liabilities.
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Financial assistance

To the extent required by sections 44 and/or 45 of the Companies Act, the Board of Directors of the Company may, subject to compliance 

with the requirements of the Companies Act, the Company’s memorandum of incorporation and the requirements of any recognised stock 

exchange on which the shares of the Company may be listed from time to time, authorise the Company to provide direct or indirect 

financial assistance by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to:

• any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter-related to the 

Company for any purpose or in connection with any matter, including, but not limited to, acquisition of or subscription for any option 

or any securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of 

the Company or a related or inter-related company; and

• any of its present or future directors or prescribed officers (or any person related to any of them or to any company or corporation 

related or inter-related to any of them), or to any other person who is a participant, in any of the Company’s or group of companies share 

or other employee incentive schemes, for the purpose of, or in connection with, the acquisition of or subscription for any option or any 

securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the 

Company or a related or inter-related company, where such financial assistance is provided in terms of any such scheme that does not 

satisfy the requirements of section 97 of the Companies Act, at any time during a period commencing on the date of the passing of this 

resolution and ending at the next annual general meeting of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2015.

Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act essentially require, subject to limited exceptions, approval by way of a special resolution for the 

provision of financial assistance. The regulated financial assistance, as contemplated in sections 44 and 45, may only be provided pursuant 

to a special resolution passed by shareholders within the previous two years. The special resolution was passed by the Company’s 

shareholders on 31 October 2014 and registered at the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission (general authority).

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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Special resolutions by subsidiaries
Financial assistance

Approval of financial assistance relating to:

• any of its present or future subsidiaries and/or any other company or corporation that is or becomes related or inter-related to the 

Company for any purpose or in connection with any matter, including but not limited to, acquisition of or subscription for any option or 

any securities issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the 

Company or a related or inter-related company; and

• any of its present or future directors or prescribed officers (or any person related to any of them or to any company or corporation 

related or inter-related to any of them), or to any other person who is a participant in any of the Company’s or Group’s share or other 

employee incentive schemes, for the purpose of or in connection with, the acquisition of or subscription for any option or any securities 

issued or to be issued by the Company or a related or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or a 

related or inter-related company, where such financial assistance is provided in terms of any such scheme that does not satisfy the 

requirements of section 97 of the Companies Act, at any time during a period commencing on the date of the passing of this resolution 

and ending at the next annual general meeting of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2014.

Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act essentially require, subject to limited exceptions, approval by way of a special resolution for the 

provision of financial assistance. The regulated financial assistance, as contemplated in sections 44 and 45, may only be provided pursuant 

to a special resolution passed by shareholders within the previous two years.

Auditors
The auditors, SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated (appointed during March 2013), have indicated their willingness to continue in office 

for the ensuing year. The Audit and Risk Committee has satisfied itself of the independence of the auditors and of the designated auditor, 

Mr A Philippou. A resolution to reappoint SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated as auditors will be proposed at the next annual general 

meeting scheduled to take place on Friday, 6 November 2015.
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The Audit and Risk Committee has clearly defined terms of reference outlined in the Audit and Risk Committee charter which was 
approved by the Board of Directors. The Audit and Risk Committee charter is available for inspection at the registered office of the 
Company.

Purpose
The Audit and Risk Committee meets with the Chief Executive Officer and the Financial Director and other members of executive 
management (when and if required), as well as the external auditors, to discuss issues of accounting, risk, auditing, internal controls, 
financial reporting and corporate governance.

The duties of the Audit and Risk Committee include:
• establishing the independence and objectivity of the registered external auditors, the designated auditor and their appointment;
• assessing the relevance, impact and resolution of accounting or auditing issues identified by external auditors;
• assessing the scope and results of the external audit and determine the fees to be paid to the external auditor;
• appraising the nature and extent of non-audit services, seeking to balance the maintenance of objectivity and value for money;
• pre-approving any proposed contract with the auditor for the provision of non-audit services to the Group to ensure that the fees for 

such services do not become so significant to call to question the auditors’ independence;
• ensuring that the appointment of the auditor complies with the Companies Act and any other legislation relating to the appointment 

of auditors;
• appropriately addressing any complaints (internal or external) relating either to accounting practices and internal audit of the Group or 

to the content or auditing of its financial statements, or to any related matter;
• reviewing and reporting on the functioning of the internal control system;
• analysing risk areas of the Group’s operations, taking cognisance of legal, operational and financial factors;
• assessing information technology (IT) risks and controls, business continuity and data recovery relating to IT and information security 

and privacy;
• examining the reliability and accuracy of the financial information provided to management and other users of financial information;
• assessing the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of the Chief Financial Officer of the Group;
• assisting the Board in reviewing the integrated reports to ensure that the information is reliable and that no conflicts or differences arise 

when compared with the financial results or advise the Board of the need to engage an external assurance provider;
• reviewing interim and provisional financial results and price-sensitive information; and
• assisting the Board to ensure the Group’s compliance with legal and regulatory provisions, its memorandum of incorporation, code of 

conduct, by-laws and rules established by the Board.

The Audit and Risk Committee considers whether or not the interim report should be subject to an independent review by the auditors. 
It also reviews the annual financial statements and the appropriateness of the accounting policies adopted by the Group.

The Board confirmed that it is satisfied that the Audit and Risk Committee has during the review year performed the duties mandated to 
it by the Board.

Membership
Established with terms of reference from the Board, the Audit and Risk Committee comprises Mrs KT Nondumo (Chairperson), 
Miss SS Mafoyane, Dr MM Dyasi and Mr DM Mncube, all independent non-executive directors on the Board with the required skills and 
expertise. Shareholder approval for the appointment of the existing members of the Audit and Risk Committee will be sought at the 
annual general meeting to be held on 6 November 2015.

The term of the committee is one year and its composition and membership are reviewed annually by the Board.
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Attendance at meetings during the year was as follows:

20 February 
2015

12 September
2014

KT Nondumo (Chairperson) 1 1
SS Mafoyane 1 1
MM Dyasi 1 1
DM Mncube 1 1

The external auditors and appropriate members of the Board attend the meetings by invitation.

External audit
In terms of section 90(1) of the Companies Act, the committee nominated SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated as the independent, 
external auditor and Mr A Philippou, a registered auditor, as the designated auditor, for appointment for the 2015 audit. The committee 
satisfied itself through enquiry of the independence of the auditor as required by the Companies Act, and as per the International 
Standards on Auditing. Required assurance as to the support and demonstration of the independence claims within the internal 
governance processes of the audit firm was obtained.

The Audit and Risk Committee agreed to the engagement letter, terms, nature and scope of the audit function and the audit plan for the 
2015 financial year. The budgeted fee is considered appropriate for the work that could reasonably have been foreseen at that time. 

Non-audit services rendered by the auditor are governed by a formal procedure and each engagement letter for such services, where 
material, is reviewed and approved by the committee.

The external auditors have unrestricted access to the Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee and no matters of concern were raised 
during the review year. The committee meets at least once a year with the auditors without the presence of executive directors or 
management to ensure that the audit was performed according to plan and to obtain feedback as necessary about the conduct of the 
audit from key members of the Company’s management, including the Group Financial Director.

The committee has nominated, for approval at the annual general meeting, SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated, as the external auditor 
and Mr A Philippou, as the designated auditor, for the financial year ending 30 June 2016. The committee confirms that the registered 
auditors and designated auditor are accredited by JSE Limited.

Internal audit
During the 2015 financial year, the executive directors and management provided assurance of strategic, operational and financial risk 
mitigation and reliability of internal controls in the Group. An internal audit function will be established for the 2016 financial year. The 
function will be outsourced, reporting directly to the Audit and Risk Committee, and will take directions from the committee regarding 
the scope and intervals of internal audits to be performed.
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Risk management
The Audit and Risk Committee is an integral component of the risk management process in the Group with the Audit and Risk Committee 
charter detailing responsibilities of the committee regarding risk management. The committee supervises financial reporting risks, 
including fraud and IT risks. The Board has partly delegated responsibility for overseeing the design, implementation and maintenance of 
a sound system of internal control to the Audit and Risk Committee. The Audit and Risk Committee ensures balance between the Group’s 
approach to risk management and the nature of the Company’s legal, operational and financial environment. Through understanding of 
the internal and external environment and the related challenges, the committee assures itself that the risk programme is appropriate to 
the Company.

Internal financial control evaluations are presented, recorded and checked annually in a formal document format for review by the Audit 
and Risk Committee to enable it to adequately perform its responsibilities to oversee the integrity of the Group’s financial information. 
Material financial control deficiencies are considered individually or in combination, if in existence. This includes actual material financial 
loss, fraud and/or material errors as well as corrective action taken. Any inadequacies are reported to the Board for disclosure in the 
Board report.

To mitigate and limit fraud risk, the Audit and Risk Committee considers matters that may result in material misstatements in the financial 
statements as a part of financial control analysis.

IT risks
The Audit and Risk Committee considers the identification of IT risk as a vital element in the effective review of risk management. As 
reported above, the Board has accepted responsibility of the Group’s IT governance, with assistance from the Audit and Risk Committee, 
who plays a supervisory role relating to IT risks and controls.

The Audit and Risk Committee is appropriately assured that adequate controls are in place to mitigate risks.

Annual financial statements and accounting practices
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the accounting policies and the financial statements of the Company and Group and is 
satisfied that they are appropriate and comply with International Financial Reporting Standards.

A process has been established to receive and deal appropriately with any concerns and complaints relating to the reporting practices of 
the Company and Group. No matters of significance have been raised in the past financial year.

The Audit and Risk Committee fulfilled its mandate and recommended the financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015 for 
approval to the Board. The Board approved the financial statements set out on pages 45 to 114 on 18 September 2015 and the financial 
statements will be open for discussion at the annual general meeting.

Financial Director
Ms L Lynch was appointed as Financial Director until 15 July 2015 when her role changed to Chief Executive Officer. Mr AJ Hanekom 
resigned as Financial Director on 20 February 2015. Mr SA Sergel was appointed as Financial Director on 15 July 2015. The Audit and Risk 
Committee confirms that it has satisfied itself of the appropriateness of the expertise and experience of both Ms L Lynch who was 
appointed as Financial Director until 15 July 2015 and Mr SA Sergel appointed as Financial Director on 15 July 2015. Both Ms L Lynch and 
Mr SA Sergel are executive directors.

Approval
The Audit and Risk Committee report has been approved by the Board of Directors of Rolfes.

Signed on behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

KT Nondumo
Chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee

30 September 2015
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DIRECTORS’ APPROVAL AND RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

DECLARATION BY COMPANY SECRETARY

The directors of Rolfes Holdings Limited have pleasure in presenting the annual financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015.

In terms of the Companies Act, the directors are required to prepare annual financial statements that fairly present the state of affairs and 
business of the Company and of the Group at the end of the financial year and of the profit or loss for that year. To achieve the highest 
standards of financial reporting, these annual financial statements have been drawn up to comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards and have been prepared using appropriate accounting policies, supported by reasonable and prudent judgments and 
estimates.

The annual financial statements comprise:
• the directors’ report;
• the statement of financial position;
• the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income;
• the statement of changes in equity;
• the statement of cash flows;
• the notes to the financial statements;
• the interest in subsidiaries; and
• the analysis of shareholding.

The reviews by the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer on the results of the operations for the year address those matters which are 
material for an appreciation of the state of affairs and business of the Company and of the Rolfes Group.

Supported by the Audit and Risk Committee, the directors are satisfied that the internal controls, systems and procedures in operation 
provide reasonable assurance that all assets are safeguarded, that transactions are properly executed and recorded, and that the possibility 
of material loss or misstatement is minimised. The directors have reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting policies, and concluded 
that estimates and judgements are prudent. They are of the opinion that the annual financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
and business of the Company and Group as at 30 June 2015 and of the profit for the year to that date. The external auditors are 
responsible for reporting on whether the financial statements are fairly presented. In addition, the directors have also reviewed the cash 
flow forecast for the year to 30 June 2016 and believe that the Rolfes Group has adequate resources to continue in operation for the 
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the annual financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and the external auditors 
concur.

We confirm that there was no change in the directors’ interest between the end of the 2015 financial year and the date of approval of the 
2015 annual financial statements.

The annual financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf.

BT Ngcuka L Lynch SA Sergel
Chairman Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the South African Companies Act, as amended (the Act), I certify that Rolfes Holdings Limited has lodged 
with the Companies and Intellectual Properties Commission all such returns as required of a public company in terms of the Act. Further, 
that the returns are true, correct and up to date.

CC Swanepoel
Company Secretary
Midrand

30 September 2015
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the shareholders of Rolfes Holdings Limited

We have audited the consolidated and separate annual financial statements of Rolfes Holdings Limited, as set out on pages 45 to 114 
which comprise the consolidated and separate statements of financial position as at 30 June 2015, and the statements of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements
The Group’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and requirements of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008, and for such internal 
controls as the directors determine are necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatements, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated and separate 
financial position of Rolfes Holdings Limited as at 30 June 2015, and its consolidated and separate financial performances and its cash 
flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act, 
No 71 of 2008.

Other reports required by the Companies Act 
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2015, we have read the Directors’ 
report, the Audit and Risk Committee’s report and the Company Secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying whether there are 
material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective 
preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited financial 
statements. However, we have not audited the reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports. 

SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc. 

Alex Philippou

Registered Auditor
Engagement Director

30 September 2015

Summit Place Office Park, Building 4
221 Garsfontein Road
Menlyn, Pretoria
Gauteng
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as at 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Group Company

Notes
2015

R’000

2014

 R‘000 
2015

R’000

2014

 R‘000 

Assets
Non-current assets 287 227 266 137 467 392  467 344 
Plant and equipment 2 73 023 69 525 596  224 
Property 3 57 412 48 495 – –
Investments 4  – – 465 578  467 120 
Goodwill 5  89 671 89 723 – –
Intangible assets 5 60 010 53 190 –  – 
Deferred taxation asset 15 7 111 5 204 1 218  – 
Current assets 531 026 456 990 88 850  68 817 
Inventories 7 215 127 238 615 – –
Trade and other receivables 8 185 074 196 097 2 787  8 296 
Short-term loans 9 6 642 6 692 70 074  60 521 
Assets classified as held for sale 6. 19 95 732 – 15 989 –
Cash and cash equivalents 18 11 873 12 042 –  – 
Value added tax receivable 11 240 3 544 –  – 
Taxation asset  5 338  – –  – 

Total assets 818 253 723 127 556 242  536 161 

Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves 372 304 337 095 344 870 346 074 
Stated capital 10 50 888 50 888 50 888 50 888
Treasury shares 11 (868) (868) –  – 
Retained earnings 253 677 222 853 (35 168)  (31 858) 

Reserves 12 5 347 5 488 329 150  327 043 

Owners of the parent 309 044 278 361 344 870  346 074 
Non-controlling interest 63 260 58 734 –  – 
Non-current liabilities 77 606 83 844 62 219  58 414 
Interest-bearing liabilities 13  42 274 44 617  10 790  – 
Vendor loan 14 – 7 379 – 7 379 
Deferred taxation liability 15 32 496 28 448 51 429  51 035 
Provisions 16 2 836 2 602 – –
Loss in associate 4 – 798 – –
Current liabilities 368 343 302 188 149 153  131 674 
Trade and other payables 17 160 287 200 268 219  4 342 
Short-term loans 9 27 433  20 870 109 853  113 521 
Derivative liability 19 17 – – –
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 13 24 381 19 850 6 266  – 
Current portion of vendor loan 14 17 935 – 17 935 –
Liabilities directly associated with assets classified as held for sale 6 60 179 – – –
Bank overdraft 18 71 586 54 631 12 880 9 700 
Value added taxation liability 2 958 – 393  1 744 
Taxation liability 3 567 5 708 1 607  2 367 
Provisions 16 – 861 – –

Total equity and liabilities 818 253 723 127 556 242  536 161 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME for the year ended 30 June 2015

Group Company

Notes
2015

R’000

Restated
2014

 R‘000 
2015

R’000
2014

 R‘000 

Revenue 20 1 131 954 1 001 407 10 778 25 617 
Cost of sales (880 678) (777 865) – –

Gross profit 251 276 223 542 10 778 25 617 

Other income 5 769 6 020 2 466 386 
Distribution expenses (10 160) (8 529) (443) (260)
Marketing expenses (3 164) (2 870) (138) (148)
Administration expenses (18 582) (20 903) (4 606) (3 343)
Other expenses (145 620) (131 968) (11 678) (13 894)
Share of losses in associate – (387) – –

Operating profit/(loss) before interest 21 79 519 64 906 (3 621) 8 358 

Finance income 24 531 148 5 481 6 368 
Finance cost 23 (18 864) (14 780) (6 388) (9 166)

Profit/(loss) before taxation 61 186 50 274 (4 528) 5 560 

Taxation expense 25 (13 836) (12 219) 1 218 (1 593)

Profit/(loss) for the year 47 350 38 055 (3 310) 3 967 

Other comprehensive income, net of taxation
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:
Gain on revaluation of property 12 – 3 295 – –
Related taxation 25
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or 
loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 12 (141) – – –
Fair value gain on financial asset at fair value through OCI 12 – – 2 107 –
Related taxation 25

Total comprehensive income for the year 47 209 41 350 (1 203) 3 967 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 39 371 29 170 (1 203) 3 967 
Non-controlling interest 7 979 8 885 – –

47 350 38 055 (1 203) 3 967 

Earnings per share (cents) 26
– Basic  36,5 27,0
– Diluted  36,5 27,0
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for the year ended 30 June 2015

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Share 
capital
R‘000

Share 
premium

R‘000

Treasury
shares
R‘000

Retained 
earnings

R‘000

Foreign 
currency

translation
reserve

R‘000

Reva-
luation
surplus

R‘000

Non-
controlling

interest
R‘000

Total 
equity
R‘000

Group
Balance at 30 June 2013  1 086  49 802  (868)  199 112  –  2 193  49 848  301 174 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  29 170  –  –  8 885  38 055 
Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of taxation  –  –  –  –  –  3 295  –  3 295 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year  –  –  –  29 170  –  3 295  8 885  41 350 

Dividends declared  –  –  –  (5 429)  –  –  –  (5 429)

Balance at 30 June 2014  1 086  49 802  (868)  222 853  –  5 488  58 734  337 095 

Profit for the year  –  –  – 39 371  –  – 7 979 47 350
Other comprehensive income for 
the year, net of taxation  –  –  –  –  (141)  –  –  (141)
Total comprehensive income for 
the year  –  –  – 39 371  (141)  – 7 979 47 209
Acquisition of non-controlling interest 
in Tetralon Chemical Consultancy  
Proprietary Limited (refer to note 37)  –  –  –  (8 547)  –  (3 453)  (12 000)

Balance at 30 June 2015  1 086  49 802  (868) 253 677  (141)  5 488  63 260 372 304

More information is disclosed in note:  10 10  11  12  12

Stated capital Reserves
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

Share 
capital
R‘000

Share 
premium

R‘000

Accumu-
lated 

loss
R‘000

Fair
value

reserve
R‘000

Total 
equity
R‘000

Company
Balance at 30 June 2013 1 086 49 802 (30 396) 327 043 347 536 
Profit for the year – – 3 967 – 3 967 
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxation – – – – –
Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  3 967  –  3 967 
Dividends declared (5 429) (5 429)

Balance at 30 June 2014 1 086 49 802 (31 858) 327 043 346 074 

Loss for the year – – (3 310) – (3 310)
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of taxation – – – 2 107 2 107
Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  (3 310) 2 107  (1 203)

Balance at 30 June 2015 1 086 49 802 (35 168) 329 150 344 870

More information is disclosed in note:  10 10  12

Stated capital Reserves
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Group Company

Notes
2015

R’000

Restated
2014

 R‘000 
2015

R’000
2014

 R‘000 

Cash generated from/(utilised in) operating activities 851 31 211 (6 490) 240 
Cash received from customers and subsidiaries 1 104 004 982 349 18 753 19 894 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees (1 065 077) (913 500) (23 576) (10 685)

Cash (utilised in)/generated from operations 33.1 38 927 68 848 (4 823) 9 209 
Finance income 531 148 5 481 6 368 
Finance cost (18 864) (14 780) (6 388) (9 166)
Tax paid 33.2 (19 743) (17 576) (760) (742)
Dividends paid – (5 429) – (5 429)
Cash (utilised in)/generated from investing activities (27 248) (40 519) (10 080) (9 592)
Additions to property, plant and equipment (21 403) (18 018) (526) (125)
Additions to intangible assets (10 617) (10 243) – –
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 806 6 133 – –
Decrease/(increase) in short-term loans advanced 2 764 (2 237) (9 554) 7 777
Cost of acquisition of companies 33.3 – (16 540) – –
Increase in investments –  – – (17 243)
(Decrease)/Increase in investment in associate (798) 387 – –
Cash generated from/(utilised in) financing activities 18 168 (1 365) 13 388 –
(Decrease)/increase in long-term borrowings (1 952) (1 153) 10 790 – 
Increase/(decrease) in instalment sale agreements – short-term 

portion 4 639 (2 502) 6 266 –
Increase/(decrease) in short-term loans received 15 481 2 289 (3 668) –
Cash deficit for the year (8 229) (10 673) (3 180) (9 352)
Cash and cash equivalents – beginning of the year (42 589) (31 916) (9 700) (348)
Effects of exchange rate fluctuations on translation of cash held in 

foreign currency  (141)  –  –  – 

Net cash related to assets classified as held for sale  (8 754)  –  –  – 

Cash and cash equivalents – end of the year  18 (59 713) (42 589) (12 880) (9 700)
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1. Accounting policies
 1.1 General information
   Rolfes Holdings Limited (the Company) is a limited company incorporated in the Republic of South Africa. It is furthermore 

the ultimate parent of the Group as well as the listed entity in terms of the JSE main board listing for the Rolfes Group. The 
registered addresses are fully disclosed on the last page of the integrated annual report under corporate information. The 
principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are disclosed in note 32.

  Authorisation of the annual financial statements
  The annual financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 September 2015.

 1.2 Basis of preparation
   The annual financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), and comply with the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides as 
issued by the Accounting Practices Committee, the JSE Listings Requirements and are prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

    The Group’s functional and presentation currency is represented by South African rand and has been presented in the 

annual consolidated financial statements rounded to the nearest thousand.

   The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities which are measured according to the policies set out in 1.5 as well as property which is 
measured according to the policies set out in 1.4, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set out below.

   The accounting policies applied conform with IFRS and are consistent with those followed in the preparation of the annual 
financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2014.

  Measurement principles
  Below follows a summary of key accounting policies:

Items included in  
the statement of  
financial position Measurement principle

Items included in  
the statement of  
financial position Measurement principle

Assets Liabilities

Property, plant and 
equipment

Historical cost, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment 
losses

Borrowings Amortised cost

Intangible assets Historical cost, less accumulated 
amortisation and impairment 
losses

Deferred tax 
liabilities

Undiscounted amount measured 
at the tax rates that have been 
enacted and are expected to 
apply to the period when the 
liability is settled

Investments Fair value

Goodwill Historical cost, less impairment 
losses

Provisions Present value of  
settlement amount

Loans receivable Historical cost, less impairment 
losses

Investment in 
associates and joint 
ventures

Pro rata value of investment’s 
equity carried forward

Prepayments Cost Trade and other 

payables

Amortised cost

Deferred tax assets Undiscounted amount measured 
at the tax rates that have been 
enacted and are expected to 
apply to the period when the 
asset is realised

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Items included in  
the statement of  
financial position Measurement principle

Items included in  
the statement of  
financial position Measurement principle

Non-current assets 

held for sale

Lower of carrying amount and 

fair value less costs to sell

Provisions Present value of  

settlement amount

Inventories Lower of cost and net  

realisable value

Taxation liabilities Amount expected to be paid to 

tax authorities, using tax rates 

that have been enacted or 

substantively enacted at the 

reporting date

Trade receivables Amortised cost less impairments Borrowings Amortised cost

Sundry debtors  

and advances

Amortised cost Derivative liabilities

Bank overdraft

Fair value

Amortised cost

Taxation prepaid Amount expected to be 

recovered from tax authorities, 

using tax rates that have been 

enacted or substantively 

enacted at the reporting date

Vendor loan Amortised cost

Investments Amortised cost

Derivative assets Fair value

Cash and cash 

equivalents

Amortised cost

 1.3 Basis of consolidation

   The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities (including special 

purpose entities) controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). An investor controls an investee when the investor is exposed, 

or has rights, to variable returns from its involvements with the investee and has the ability to affect those returns through 

its power over the investee. Power is achieved through existing rights that give rise to the current ability to direct the 

relevant activities of the investee.

   Income and expenses of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement 

of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition and up to the effective date of 

disposal, as appropriate. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the 

non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

   When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line 

with those used by other members of the Group.

   All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated in full on consolidation.

   Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries 

are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are 

adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which 

the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in 

equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

  When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between:

• the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and

• the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling 

interests.

   When assets of the subsidiary are measured at revalued amounts of fair values and the related cumulative gain or loss 

has been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously recognised in 

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had directly disposed of the 

relevant assets (ie reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as specified by applicable IFRS). 

The fair value of any investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value 

on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, 

when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a jointly controlled entity.

   Business combinations
   All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. The cost of the business combination is 

the fair values at the date of exchange of the assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by 

the Group, in exchange for control of the acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business combination are expensed as 

incurred, except the costs to issue debt which are amortised as part of the effective interest and costs to issue equity which 

are included in equity. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination 

are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, irrespective of the extent of any non-controlling interest. 

   Contingent consideration is included in the cost of the business combination at fair value determined at the date of 

acquisition. Subsequent changes to the assets, liabilities or equity which arise as a result of the contingent consideration 

are not effected against goodwill, unless they are valid measurement period adjustments. The interest of non-controlling 

shareholders may be measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s 

identifiable net assets. When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held interests in the 

acquired entity are remeasured to fair value on the date the Group attains control and the resulting gain or loss is recognised 

in profit or loss.

   Where the previously held interest was classified as an available-for-sale financial asset, the cumulative fair value adjustments 

recognised to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are recognised in profit or loss as a reclassification 

adjustment. At the acquisition date, the excess of the cost of the business combination over the Group’s interest in the net 

fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities is recognised as goodwill in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policy for goodwill. The acquisition date is the date on which the Group effectively obtains control of 

the acquiree. The excess of the fair value of the net identifiable assets and contingent liabilities of the entity acquired over 

the cost of acquisition results in a bargain purchase which is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

   If the initial accounting for business combinations has been determined provisionally, then these provisional amounts are 

adjusted during the measurement period to reflect new information obtained about facts and circumstances that existed 

as of the date of acquisition that, if known, would have affected the amounts initially recognised. The measurement period 

is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts and circumstances 

that existed as of the acquisition date, subject to a maximum of one year.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.3 Basis of consolidation (continued)

  Consolidation of associates
   Associated companies are consolidated on the equity method of accounting. The Group considers an investment to be an 

associate when the Group has significant influence, but not control or joint control, over the financial and operating policies.

   The investment in an associate is initially recognised at cost which includes transaction costs and the carrying amount is 

increased or decreased to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss of the associate after the date of acquisition, until 

the date on which significant influence ceases.

  Impairment
   The Group applies the requirements of IAS 39 to determine whether it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment 

loss with respect to the net investment in associates.

  Purchase of non-controlling interest in subsidiary
   The cost of the purchase of shares is measured at the aggregate of the fair value of assets given at the date of exchange, 

liabilities incurred or assumed and the fair value of the equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for shares 

purchased in a controlled entity with the excess of the cost of the purchase of shares recognised in equity. Any costs directly 

attributable to the transaction are recognised immediately as an expense.

 1.4 Property, plant and equipment

  The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when:

• it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the entity; and

• the cost of the item can be measured reliably.

   Property, plant and equipment is initially recognised at cost. Costs include costs incurred initially to acquire an item of 

property, plant and equipment and costs incurred subsequently to add to or replace a part. If a replacement cost is 

recognised in the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 

derecognised.

    Property represents land and buildings which are owner occupied from a Group perspective. Plant and equipment is carried 

at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. Property is carried at the revalued amount being the fair 

value at the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment 

losses. Land is not depreciated.

   Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that 

necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those 

assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the 

temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing 

costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are 

incurred.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.4 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

   The revalued amount is the fair value at the date of revaluation based on periodic valuations by a professional qualified 

valuer. These revaluations are made with sufficient regularity to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially 

from that which would be determined using fair value at the end of the reporting period (at least every five years). Changes 

in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the revaluation reserve, except to the 

extent that any decrease in value in excess of the credit balance on the revaluation reserve, or reversal of such a transaction, 

is recognised in profit or loss. The increase is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease 

of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss. Any surplus on revaluation to fair value is included in equity. This 

surplus may be transferred directly to retained earnings when an asset is derecognised. Transfers from revaluation surplus 

to retained earnings are not made through profit or loss.

   Property, plant and equipment, excluding land, is depreciated on the straight-line basis at rates considered appropriate to 

reduce book values to estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives. Each part of an item of property, plant and 

equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item shall be depreciated separately. Depreciation 

ceases when residual value equals more than the carrying value of the specific item of property, plant and equipment.

   The useful lives, depreciation method and residual values of the individual items of property, plant and equipment are 

reviewed on an annual basis and any revision to these are accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

  The estimated average useful lives of the classes of assets are as follows:

  Furniture and fittings 6 years 

  Computer equipment 3 years 

  Earthmoving equipment 4 years 

  Vehicles 5 years

  Plant and equipment 5 to 15 years 

  Property 30 to 50 years 

  Land Indefinite

  Derecognition
   The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment shall be derecognised: 

  (a) on disposal; or

  (b) when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.

   The gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss when 

the item is derecognised. Gains are not included with revenue.

  Rehabilitation cost
   Rehabilitation cost is recognised when a present legal obligation arises to restore the environment to its previous status or 

according to stipulated requirements in the mining licence. A rehabilitation provision is recognised at the present value of 

the estimated obligation and is increased annually with finance charges calculated at market-related discount rates and is 

recognised through profit or loss.

   An asset is recognised and added to the appropriate plant and equipment at the present value of the estimated rehabilitation 

obligation and is depreciated in accordance with the policies applicable to equivalent items of property, plant and 

equipment.

   The estimated obligation will be evaluated annually and any increases or decreases in the obligation will be recognised in 

profit or loss in the current year.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.5 Financial instruments

  Initial recognition
   A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument 

in another entity.

   The Group recognises a financial asset or a financial liability in its statement of financial position when the Group becomes 

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group’s financial instruments consist primarily of the following 

instruments, including measurement principles:

Class of instrument Initial measurement Subsequent measurement

Loans and receivables Fair value plus directly attributable 

transaction costs

Amortised cost using the effective 

interest method

Financial assets and liabilities at 

fair value through profit or loss 

Fair value Fair value

Available-for-sale financial assets 

and liabilities 

Fair value Fair value through other 

comprehensive income. When 

derecognised, the cumulative gain or 

loss is reclassified to profit or loss

  Fair value
   Where financial instruments are recognised at fair value, the instruments are measured at the price that should be received 

to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on measurement date. 

Fair values have been determined as follows:

• Where market prices are available, these have been used; and

• Where market prices are not available, fair values have been determined using valuation techniques incorporating 

observable market inputs or discounting expected cash flows at market rates.

   Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in profit 

or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

  Effective interest method
   The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and financial liability and of 

allocating interest income over the relevant period.

   The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on points paid 

or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction cost and other premiums or discounts) through 

the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period. Income is recognised on an effective interest 

basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

  



56

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.5 Financial instruments (continued)

  Impairment of financial assets
   Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each end 

of the reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more 

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the asset have been 

impacted.

   For financial assets, measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, the following objective evidence is 

considered in determining when an impairment loss has been incurred:

• Significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• A breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments; and

• It is becoming probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

   For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually 

are subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount 

of the impairment is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash 

flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced 

by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is 

reduced through the use of an allowance for credit losses account.

   Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the 

carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. With the exception of available-for-sale equity 

instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is 

reversed through profit or loss.

   In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses are included in profit or loss, except to the extent they 

reverse gains previously recognised in other comprehensive income.

  Derecognition of financial assets
   The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it 

transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the 

Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the 

transferred asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have 

to pay. If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 

continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

  Classification as debt or equity
   Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the 

contractual arrangement.

  Equity instruments
   An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its 

liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group, comprising ordinary shares, are recorded at the proceeds received, net 

of direct issue costs.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.5 Financial instruments (continued)

  Share capital
   Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown 

in equity as a deduction, net of taxation, from the proceeds.

  Treasury shares
   Where the Company or its subsidiaries purchase the Company’s equity share capital, the shares are treated as treasury 

shares. The shares are treated as a deduction from the issued and weighted average number of shares and the amount 

paid, including any directly attributable incremental external costs net of income taxes relating to the shares, is deducted from 

share capital in the statement of financial position on consolidation. Dividends received on treasury shares are eliminated 

on consolidation. When treasury shares are subsequently reissued or sold, the amount received, net  of any directly 

attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is recognised as an increase in equity.

  Reserves
   Fair value changes in property and financial instruments are accumulated in reserves. Furthermore, exchange differences 

arising on the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations are also accumulated in reserves. These reserves 

may be reclassified to profit or loss upon specific conditions being met.

  Derecognition of financial liabilities
   The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 

expire.

 1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

   The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If 

any such indication exists, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.

   If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset. If it is 

not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cash-generating 

unit to which the asset belongs is determined.

   The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in 

use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its 

recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.

   An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised immediately 

in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.

   An impairment loss is recognised for cash-generating units if the recoverable amount of a unit is less than the carrying 

amount of collective units. The impairment loss is allocated to reduce the carrying amount of the assets of the unit on the 

following basis:

• to the assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.

   An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 

periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of 

those assets are estimated.

   A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than goodwill 

is recognised immediately in profit and loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation 

increase in other comprehensive income.
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 1.7 Intangible assets
   In the Company’s separate financial statements, intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the expected future 

economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

   Intangible assets are recognised on business combinations if they are separable from the acquired entity or give rise 
to  other contractual/legal rights. The amounts ascribed to such intangibles are arrived at by using appropriate 
valuation techniques.

  1.7.1 Goodwill
    For business combinations completed on or after 1 January 2010, cost comprises the fair value of assets given, 

liabilities assumed and equity instruments issued, plus the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree 
plus, if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree. 
Contingent consideration is included in cost at its acquisition date fair value and, in the case of contingent 
consideration classified as a financial liability, remeasured subsequently through profit or loss. For business 
combinations completed on or after 1 January 2010, direct costs of acquisition are recognised immediately as 
an expense.

    Goodwill is capitalised as an intangible asset with any impairment in carrying value being charged to profit or loss. 
Where the fair value of identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities exceed the fair value of consideration 
paid, the excess is credited in full to profit or loss on the acquisition date.

    Internally generated goodwill is not recognised as an asset.

    Goodwill is tested annually at the financial year end for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated 
impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating 
units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose 
identified according to operating segment.

  1.7.2 Other intangible assets
    Expenditure on research (or on the research phase of an internal project) is recognised as an expense when it 

is incurred.

    An intangible asset arising from development (or from the development phase of an internal project) is recognised 
when:
• it is technically feasible to complete the asset so that it will be available for use or sale;
• there is an intention to complete and use or sell it;
• there is an ability to use or sell it;
• it will generate probable future economic benefits;
• there are available technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 

asset; and
• the expenditure attributable to the asset during its development can be measured reliably. 

 Intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any impairment losses.

   The residual value, amortisation period and the amortisation method for intangible assets are reviewed annually.

   Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives.

   The significant intangible assets recognised by the Group along with its useful economic life is as follows:
   Product licences 15 years 
   Trademark 15 years 

   Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are assessed for impairment at least annually.
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 1.8 Inventories
   Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs comprise direct materials and, where applicable, 

direct labour costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and 
condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price less all estimated costs of completion and costs to be incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

 1.9 Non-current assets held for sale
   Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities, are classified as held for sale if it is highly probable 

that they will be recovered primarily through sale rather than through continuing use.

   Such assets, or disposal groups, are generally measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs of 
disposal. Any impairment loss on a disposal group is allocated first to goodwill, and then to the remaining assets and 
liabilities on a pro rata basis, except that no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, employee 
benefit assets, investment property or biological assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with the Group’s 
other accounting policies. Impairment losses on initial classification as held for sale and subsequent gains and losses on 
remeasurement, are recognised in profit or loss.

   Once classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment are no longer amortised or depreciated, 
and any equity-accounted investee is no longer equity accounted.

 1.10 Leases
   A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is 

classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.

  The land and buildings elements of property leases are considered separately for the purposes of lease classification.

  The Group does not currently have any finance leases.

  Operating leases
   Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference 

between the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset 
or liability. Any contingent rent is expensed in the period it is incurred.

   Lease income from operating leases shall be recognised in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term, unless 
another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which the use benefit derived from the leased asset 
is diminished.

 1.11 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
   In preparing the financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts 

represented in the financial statements and related disclosures. Use of available information and the application of 
judgement is inherent in the formation of estimates.

   The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of 
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

  Provisions
  Warranty provision
   A warranty provision is recognised based on prior experience for defective products sold, to be utilised by the returning of 

defective products by customers. Refer to note 16.

  Decommissioning and rehabilitation provisions
   The directors estimate annually any decommissioning and rehabilitation obligations which might exist at reporting date. 

The estimate is made after taking into account the extent of the obligation and any requirements relating to the obligation. 
This obligation arose out of the Mining and Water segment and the requirements in the mining licence. Refer to note 16.
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 1.11 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

  Loans and receivables
  Allowance for impairment of financial assets
   An estimate is made for credit losses based on a review of all outstanding amounts at year end, taking into account the 

difference between the carrying amount of assets and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at 

the effective interest rate computed at initial recognition. Credit losses are recognised directly in profit or loss in the year in 

which they are identified. Refer to note 8.

   The directors assess the loans and receivables for impairment at each end of the reporting period. In determining whether 

an impairment loss should be recorded in profit or loss, the directors make judgements as to whether there is observable 

data indicating a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from the financial asset.

   The impairment of loans and receivables is based on the amounts outstanding, which management feels will not be 

collected or only partially collected. Where possible, the impairment is estimated per debtor. The estimate is based on a 

review of all outstanding amounts at year end. Refer to note 8.

  Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values
   Useful lives, depreciation methods and residual values of the items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed annually. 

For residual values the estimate is made after taking into account the condition of the item, age and judgement relating to 

useful lives.

  Determination of fair values of intangibles acquired in a business combination
   The fair values of product licences acquired in a business combination are based on the discounted estimated royalty 

payments that would have been avoided as a result of the product licences being owned. The fair value of the other 

intangible assets is based on the discounted cash flows expected to be derived from the use and eventual sale of the asset.

  Taxation
   Judgement is required in determining the estimate of income taxes due to the complexity of legislation. Where the final tax 

outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income 

tax and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

   The Group recognises the net future tax benefit related to deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that the 

deductible temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future. Assessing the recoverability of deferred tax assets 

requires the Group to make significant estimates related to expectations of future taxable income.

   Estimates of future taxable income are based on forecast cash flows from operations and the application of existing tax laws 

in each jurisdiction. To the extent that future cash flows and taxable income differ significantly from estimates, the ability of 

the Group to realise the net deferred tax assets recorded at the end of the reporting period could be impacted.

  Estimated tax loss
   The Group determines the tax expenses and deferred tax calculation on the estimated tax loss of the individual subsidiaries. 

The estimated tax loss is calculated as per the South African Revenue Service (SARS) stipulations, indicated in the Income 

Tax Act, No 71 of 2008. Once SARS has assessed the Company and agrees with the calculation of the estimated assessed 

loss, SARS grants the Company an assessed loss. Should the situation occur that SARS does not agree with the estimated 

assessed loss, it will be rectified in the first tax expense calculation being performed with clear indication of such an event.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

    



Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

61

for the year ended 30 June 2015

1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.11 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

  Impairment testing
   The recoverable amounts of individual assets have been determined based on the higher of value-in-use calculations 

and  fair values. These calculations require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible that the 

assumption may change which may then impact estimates and may then require a material adjustment to the carrying value 

of assets.

   The Group tests annually whether goodwill has been impaired, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 1.7.1 for 

goodwill. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. 

These calculations require the use of estimates.

  Critical judgements in applying the entity’s accounting policy
   No critical judgements, apart from those involving estimations, have been made in the process of applying the Group’s 

accounting policies that will have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

 1.12 Taxation

  Tax expenses
   Current tax (including dividend withholding tax) and deferred taxes are recognised as income or an expense and included 

in profit or loss for the period, except to the extent that the tax arises from:

• a transaction or event which is recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity; or

• a business combination.

   Current tax (including dividend withholding tax) and deferred taxes are recognised directly in equity if the tax relates to 

items that are recognised, in the same or a different period, directly in equity.

  Current tax assets and liabilities
   Current tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already paid in 

respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

   Current tax liabilities/(assets) for the current and prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid 

to/(recovered from) the tax authorities, using the tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 

by the end of the reporting period.

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities
   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in the consolidated 

statement of financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising on:

• the initial recognition of goodwill;

• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination and at the time of the 

transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit; and

• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of 

the difference and it is probable that the difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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 1.12 Taxation (continued)

  Deferred taxation assets and liabilities (continued)

   Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable profit will be available 

against which the differences can be utilised.

   The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax liabilities/(assets) are settled/(recovered).

   Deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case the 

deferred tax is recognised in equity.

 1.13 Provisions

    Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount that have arisen as a result of past transactions and 

are discounted at a pre-tax rate reflecting current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to 

the liability. The increase in the provisions, due to passage of time, is recognised as an interest expense.

 1.14 Revenue 

  Sale of goods
   Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable 

for  goods and services provided in the normal course of business, net of trade discounts, volume rebates and value 

added taxation.

  Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all the following conditions have been satisfied:

• The Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;

• The Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 

effective control over the goods sold;

• The amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

• It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

• The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. 

 Other revenue earned by the Group is recognised on the following basis:

  Rendering of services
   Revenue from the rendering of services will be recognised when the outcome of the transaction involving the service can 

be estimated reliably.

  Monthly services rendered will be recognised on a monthly basis after the service has been performed.

  Rental income from leasing of property
  Rental income is recognised on the accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant agreement.

  Finance income
  Finance income is recognised, in profit or loss, using the effective interest method.

  Dividend income
  Dividend income is recognised when the shareholder’s right to receive payment is established.
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 1.15 Dividends

   Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised in the statement of changes in equity upon authorisation 

of a dividend by the Board in adherence to the memorandum of incorporation.

 1.16 Translation of foreign currencies

  Foreign currency transactions
   Transactions entered into by Group entities in a currency other than the currency of the primary economic environment in 

which they operate (their functional currency) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency 

monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the 

retranslation of unsettled monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss, except for foreign 

currency borrowings qualifying as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation, in which exchange differences are 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve along with the 

exchange differences arising on the translation of foreign operations.

   When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in other comprehensive income, any exchange component of 

that gain or loss shall be recognised in other comprehensive income.

   Conversely, when a gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in profit or loss, any exchange component of that 

gain or loss shall be recognised in profit or loss.

 1.17 Related parties

   Related parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control or jointly control the other party or 

exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operational decisions. Key management personnel are 

also regarded as related parties. Key management personnel are those persons having authority, control and responsibility 

for planning.

 1.18 Employee benefits

  Short-term employee benefits
   The cost of short-term employee benefits (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid 

vacation leave and sick leave, bonuses, and non-monetary benefits such as medical care) are recognised in the period in 

which the service is rendered and is not discounted.

   The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase 

their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.

   A reliable estimate of bonus payments is recognised as an expense when there is a legal or constructive obligation to make 

such payments as a result of past performance of employees.

  Defined contribution plans
  Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are recognised as an expense when incurred.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

  



64

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

1. Accounting policies (continued)

 1.19 Segment reporting

   Segment information is determined on the same basis as the information used by the chief operating decision maker for 

the purposes of allocating resources to segments and assessing segments’ performance. The chief operating decision 

maker has been identified as the Board of Directors. All inter-segment transactions are eliminated.

 1.20 Earnings per share

   The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share for its ordinary shares. Basic and diluted earnings per share are 

calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period.

 1.21 Headline earnings per share

   Headline earnings per ordinary share are calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during 

the period and are based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required by 

Circular 2/2013 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA). 

 1.22 Events after the reporting period

   Should events after the reporting period but prior to authorisation of the annual financial statements be confirmation of 

circumstances existing prior to the end of the reporting period, the annual financial statements will be accordingly adjusted 

to include the effects of the events. However, should such events not have any bearing on circumstances that existed prior 

to the end of the reporting period, such events will be disclosed separately in the notes the financial statements. Such 

disclosure includes the nature of the event and its estimated financial effects.

 1.23 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

   A description of contingent liabilities and contingent assets is disclosed in the annual financial statements unless the 

possibility of the outflow or inflow of economic benefits is remote. Assessment of the likelihood of the economic outflows, 

and/or inflow taking place, is reviewed on a continual basis.

   The contingent liabilities and contingent assets are disclosed by providing an estimate of the financial effect as well as any 

uncertainties in relation to the financial effects and the timing of the economic outflow and/or inflow that may take place.

 1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2015

   The following accounting policies are standards which have been issued with effective dates subsequent to the financial 

period under review and which have not been adopted:

Standards Details of amendment Annual periods beginning on or after

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 
with Customers

IFRS 15 provides a single, principles-

based five-step model to be applied to 

all contracts with customers.

The five steps in the model are as 

follows:

• Identify the contract with the 

customer;

• Identify the performance obligations 

in the contract;

• Determine the transaction price;

• Allocate the transaction price to the 

performance obligations in the 

contracts; and

• Recognise revenue when (or as) the 

entity satisfies a performance 

obligation.

Applicable to an entity’s first annual 

IFRS financial statements for a period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 

Early adoption is permitted.
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1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2015 (continued)

The following statements have been issued but are not yet effective:

Standard Details of amendment Annual periods beginning on or after

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments This is a new standard that forms the 

first part of a three-part project to 

replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. It 
provides for:

• amendments to the classification and 

measurement requirements for 

financial assets;

• amendments in recognition of 

changes in fair value of financial 

liabilities designated as held at fair 

value through profit or loss;

• amendments to the impairment test 

model for financial assets; and

• amendments to hedge accounting 

requirements.

Applies retrospectively for annual 

periods beginning on or after 1 January 

2018. Early adoption is permitted.

IFRS 10 and IAS 28 Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between 
an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture (amendment)

This amendment aims to clarify the 

accounting for the loss of control by 

the parent of a subsidiary where the 

subsidiary does not constitute a 

business as defined in IFRS 3 Business 
Combinations. It applies to instances 

where the parent sells all or part of its 

interest in that subsidiary to an 

associate or joint venture that is 

accounted for using the equity method.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 

Investment Entities:
Applying the Consolidation 
Exception (amendment)

The amendments clarify the following 

in relation to applying the 

consolidation exception:

• How intermediate parent entities 

should apply the scope of exemption 

from preparing consolidated 

statements, if the ultimate parent is 

an investment entity;

• How an investment entity parent 

should account for a subsidiary that 

provides services related to its 

investment activities and the 

subsidiary is also itself an investment 

entity;

• How to apply IFRS 12 to an 

investment entity; and

• How a non-investment entity should 

account for its interests in any 

associates or joint ventures that are 

investment entities.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.
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1.24 Standards that have been issued but are not yet effective at 30 June 2015 (continued)

Standard Details of amendment Annual periods beginning on or after

IFRS 11 Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint
Operations (amendment)

An entity should forthwith apply IFRS 3 
Business Combinations for interests in 

joint operations that constitute a 

business as defined in IFRS 3.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.

IAS 1 Disclosure Initiative 
(amendment)

The amendments relate to the 

following:

• Materiality;

• Order of the notes;

• Subtotals;

• Accounting policies; and

• Disaggregation.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.

IAS 38 Clarification of Acceptable 
Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation (amendment)

The amendment clarifies and provides 

guidance on acceptable amortisation 

methods for intangible assets.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.

IAS 27 Equity Method in Separate 
Financial Statements 
(amendment)

The amendments include the 

introduction of an option for an entity 

to account for its investments in 

subsidiaries, joint ventures, and 

associates using the equity method in 

its separate financial statements.

Applies for annual periods beginning 

on or after 1 January 2016. Early 

adoption is permitted.

Annual improvements 2012 to 2014

IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations:
• Changes in methods of disposal

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures:
• Servicing contracts

• Applicability of the amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial 

statements

IAS 19 Employee Benefits: 
• Discount rate: regional market issue

IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting:
• Disclosure of information “elsewhere in the interim financial report”

Applicable to an entity’s first annual 

IFRS financial statements for a period 

beginning on or after 1 January 2016. 

Early adoption is permitted.

   The company is currently assessing the effect of the standards issued, but not yet effective. Therefore the impact that 

application of the new standards and interpretations will have on the entity’s financial statements is not yet known.
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Furniture 
and fittings 

R’000

Computer 
equipment

R’000
Vehicles

R’000

Earth-
moving

 equipment
R’000

Plant and
 equipment

R’000
Total

R’000

2. Plant and equipment
Group
– Cost  2 615  3 626  16 484  6 265  81 691  110 947 
– Accumulated depreciation (1 168)  (2 668)  (8 925)  (5 344)  (24 229)  (42 599) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2013  1 447  958  7 559  921  57 462  68 348 

Additions  806  611  2 405  64  13 592  17 478 
Disposals  (78)  (25)  (1 041) –  (8 481)  (9 625) 
Depreciation  (300)  (577)  (1 832)  (360)  (3 607)  (6 676) 
– Cost  3 343  4 212  17 848  6 329  86 802  118 800 
– Accumulated depreciation  (1 468)  (3 245)  (10 757)  (5 704)  (27 836)  (49 275) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2014  1 875  967  7 091  625  58 967  69 525 

Net exchange differences to foreign currency 
translation reserve  (28) –  341 –  26  338 

Reclassification to assets held for sale (43) (86) (483) – (91) (703)
Additions 584  1 210  1 510  56  9 570  12 930 
Disposals – –  (379) (23) (2 302) (2 705) 
Depreciation  (615)  (677)  (1 459)  (229)  (3 383)  (6 362)
– Cost  3 785  5 186  19 099  6 362 93 994 128 692
– Accumulated depreciation  (2 012)  (3 773)  (12 477)  (5 933)  (31 209)  (55 668) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2015  1 773  1 414 6 621  429  62 786  73 023 

 Total plant and equipment held by the Group at 30 June 2015 amounted to R73 million and R69,5 million for the prior year, 

comprising the amounts analysed above.

 Plant and equipment with a carrying value of R6,4 million (2014: R6,4 million) have been pledged by way of a notarial bond to the 

value of R1,4 million in favour of Engen Petroleum as security for trade creditors.

 Included in total plant and equipment are assets with the following carrying values which have been encumbered as security for 

repayment of instalment sale liabilities (refer to note 13):
• Vehicles R4,0 million
• Plant and equipment R5,9 million
•  Depreciation expense included in the cost of goods sold R2,3 million (2014: R4,6 million) 
• Depreciation expense included in overheads R7,1 million (2014: R5,7 million)

 
During the year under review, the directors performed an impairment test on the assets and found that no asset was impaired and 
no impairment loss was recognised.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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Furniture 
and fittings 

R’000

Computer 
equipment

R’000
Total

R’000

2. Plant and equipment (continued)
Company
– Cost  98  905  1 003 
– Accumulated depreciation  (56)  (748)  (804) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2013  42  157  199 

Additions  22  103  125 
Depreciation  (18) (82)  (100)
– Cost  120  1 008  1 128 
– Accumulated depreciation  (74)  (830)  (904) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2014  46  178  224 

Additions –  526  526 
Depreciation  (17)  (137)  (154) 
– Cost  120  1 548  1 668 
– Accumulated depreciation  (91)  (982)  (1 073) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2015  29  566  596 

Group Company

R’000 R’000

3. Property
– Fair value  27 512 –
– Accumulated depreciation – –

Carrying value at 30 June 2013  27 512 –

Additions  17 219 –
Disposals  (1 537) –
Revaluation increase  5 301 –
Depreciation – –
– Fair value  48 495 –
– Accumulated depreciation – –

Carrying value at 30 June 2014  48 495 –

Net exchange differences to foreign currency translation reserve  597 –
Additions 8 320 –
Disposals – –
Revaluation increase – –
Depreciation – –
– Fair value  57 412 –
– Accumulated depreciation – –

Carrying value at 30 June 2015  57 412 –
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3. Property (continued)

2015
R’000

2014

R’000

Carrying amount if under cost model
– Fair value 57 412  48 495 
– Revaluations 7 537  7 537 

49 876  40 959 

Total property held by the Group at 30 June 2015 amounted to R57,4 million (2014: R48,5 million) comprising the amounts 

analysed above.

The property was revalued by the directors and an independent valuer, Shane Janse van Rensburg, on 30 June 2015 and 22 January 

2013, respectively.

The residual value of the property has been assessed and is greater than the property’s carrying amount at reporting date. Therefore, 

no depreciation charge has been recognised. Depreciation will be recognised when the residual value decreases to an amount 

below the property’s carrying amount.

Property of Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited and New Heights 390 Proprietary Limited to the amount of R12,5 million 

(2014: R12,5 million) has been pledged as security for Group borrowings. 

At Group level the majority of property is owner occupied. The portion of the property that generates rental income, as per note 

21, is regarded as insignificant resulting in all property being classified as property in terms of IAS 16: Property, plant and equipment.

If property had been accounted for according to the cost model, its carrying amount would have been R49,8 million  

(2014: R40,9 million). The revaluation reserve on property is disclosed in note 12. There are no restrictions on the distribution of the 

revaluation surplus.

Group Company

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

4. Investments
Unlisted
At fair value
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited  –  – 97 365  190 955 
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  – 69 898  54 710 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited  –  – 127 615  68 083 
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited  –  – 29 124  32 639 
AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited  –  – 60 795  88 575 
Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited  –  – 11 510  14 915 
AgChem Property Proprietary Limited  –  –  17 190  17 243 

Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited  –  – 8 077 –

Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited  –  – 5 006 –

Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited  –  – 38 998 –

 – – 465 578  467 120 

Reclassified to assets held for sale (refer to note 6) – – 15 989 –
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4. Investments (continued)
Fair value hierarchy

The Company values its unlisted investments disclosed above, using present value techniques.

The fair values of the investments in subsidiaries determined by using present value techniques were included in level 3 of the fair 

value hierarchy. Level 3 inputs are based on unobservable data.

The fair values of the investments determined using discounted cash flow projections were based on financial forecasts, approved 

by management, over a five-year period (June 2016 to June 2020). Key assumptions applied on the investments’ revenue, gross 

margin and cost forecasts were based on historical performance or, where not appropriate, management’s views and estimates. 

The discount rate used in the cash flow models was 20%. This rate reflected the current market assessments of the time value of 

money and specific risks in relation to each of the investments. The discount rate was arrived at after taking into account the 

following factors:

• The level of risk of the investment; and

• The opportunity cost of capital.

The growth rates used by management in forecasting future cash flows were based on the experience of management and varied 

between 5% and 10%.

Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the recoverable amounts are based, 

would not cause any of the individual carrying amounts to exceed its recoverable amount.

Upon acquisition of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited during the 2014 financial year, an independent valuation was performed 

in order to determine the acquisition price. This valuation of R17 243 million has been decreased in the current year to R17 190 million 

in order to account for transaction costs at acquisition.

The increase in the cost of the investment in Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited relates to the acquisition of 

the  remaining share capital of the company. The shareholding was increased from 70% (2 800 shares at R1 per share) to 100% 

(4 000 shares at R1 per share). Subsequent to this the business of the company was sold as a going concern to Rolfes Chemicals 

Proprietary Limited.

Refer to pages 115 and 116 for details of shareholding.
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4. Investments (continued)
Sensitivity analysis – interest rate risk
A 100 basis points increase in the interest rate at the reporting date would have decreased equity by R10,5 million after tax; an 

equal change in the opposite direction would have increased equity by R13,3 million after tax.

Loss in associate
With effective date 15 February 2015, Gallus Technologia Western Cape Proprietary Limited (a subsidiary of AgChem Holdings 

Proprietary Limited), disposed of its 50% shareholding in Maxipil Proprietary Limited. This investment was carried at a cumulative 

deficit in the Group of R0,798 million at the end of the 2014 reporting period. Rolfes Holdings' effective shareholding was 17,5%, 

which was considered significant influence.

The investment was sold for a total consideration of R4 million which is payable at a minimum when certain targets are met or at a 

maximum in instalments over a four-year period (February 2016 to February 2019). The consideration is classified as a short-term 

loan payable to the Group, measured at amortised cost of R3,3 million which is included in the carrying amount of short-term loans 

at 30 June 2015.

Group

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

5. Intangible assets and goodwill
5.1 Goodwill

– Gross  95 056  87 029 
– Impairment  (5 333)  (5 333) 
Opening balance  89 723  81 696 
Recognition of goodwill
– Acquisition of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited  (53)  8 027 

Closing balance  89 671  89 723 
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5. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or sooner if there are indications that goodwill may be impaired. The Group’s 
goodwill was tested for impairment at reporting date.

Goodwill arising at acquisition through various business combinations has been allocated to the following significant individual 

cash-generating operations (after impairment testing) as follows:

• Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of Chempoint Chemical Technology Proprietary 

Limited R7,5 million effective 1 July 2005, acquisition of Leather-Chem Proprietary Limited R5,1 million, effective 1 December 

2007 and the acquisition of Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited R1,6 million, effective 1 November 2011).

• Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited R1,6 million, effective 1 August 2005.

• Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of New Heights 390 Proprietary Limited R18,2 million), effective 

1 December 2008).

• AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of 70% of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited) R23,0 million, 

effective 1 November 2011, and the cash-generating unit to which goodwill can be attributed consists mainly of AgChem Africa 

Proprietary Limited.

• Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of 70% of Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary 

Limited R11,3 million, effective 1 April 2013).

• Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of 70,4% of PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited net asset value 

R5,6 million, effective 1 June 2013).

• Rolfes PWM (arose on acquisition of 70,4% of PWM Group of companies net asset value R7,8 million, effective 1 April 2013).

• AgChem Property Proprietary Limited (arose on acquisition of 100% of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited R8 million, effective 

1 January 2014).

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use 

discounted cash flow projections based on financial forecasts, approved by management, over a five-year period. Key assumptions 

applied in value-in-use calculations of the cash-generating unit’s revenue, gross margin and cost forecasts are based on historical 

performance or, where not appropriate, management’s views and estimates.

The discount rate used in the cash flow models is 20%. This rate reflects the current market assessments of the time value of money 

and specific risks of the cash-generating unit. The discount rate is arrived at after taking into account the following factors:

• The level of risk of the cash-generating unit; and

• The opportunity cost of capital.

At reporting date there were no indicators of impairment to goodwill for the period under review.
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Group

Intellectual
 property

R’000

Research 
and

 product 
develop-

ment
R’000

Trade-
marks
R’000

Total
R’000

5. Intangible assets and goodwill (continued)
5.2 Intangible assets

– Cost  31 434  13 543  13  45 216 
– Accumulated amortisation  –  (637)  –  (864) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2013  31 434  12 906  13  44 353 

Additions  255  10 232  13  10 500 
Amortisation  (437) (1 200)  (26)  (1 663) 
– Cost  31 689  24 001  26  55 716 
– Accumulated amortisation  (437)  (2 064)  (26)  (2 527) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2014  31 252  21 938  –  53 190 

Additions  – 10 699  –  10 699 
Derecognition  –  (824)  (824)
Amortisation  (1 250)  (1 805)  –  (3 054) 
– Cost 31 689 33 876  –  65 565 
– Accumulated amortisation  (1 687)  (3 868)  –  (5 555) 

Carrying value at 30 June 2015 30 002 30 008  –  60 010 

The intellectual property consists of product licences which were acquired with the acquisition of: 

• AgChem – R12,7 million; 

• Anticor – R4,9 million; and 

• PWM – R13,7 million. 

Additions in 2014 of R0,255 million related to product development and registration costs within AgChem. Intellectual 

property, subject to amortisation, is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years.

Research and product development consist of internally researched and developed products within AgChem Africa 

Proprietary Limited. It is amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years. During the year, assets to the value of 

R0,824 million have been derecognised after management determined that these internally developed products were no 

longer expected to provide further economic use. There was no concurrent disposal of these assets. Research and 

development costs of R0,262 million (2014: R2,2 million) were expensed during the year and not capitalised.

Amortisation is included in other expenses in the statement of profit or loss (refer to note 21).

The directors review the intangible assets annually to identify any impairment losses to be recognised. No impairment loss 

on intangible assets was recognised during the period under review.
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Group

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

6. Non-current assets (disposal groups) held for sale
Group
Assets classified as held for sale 95 732 –

Liabilities associated with assets classified as held for sale 60 179 –

Rolfes Holdings Limited effectively owns 35,7% in Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 35% in Introlab Chemicals 

Proprietary Limited, both of which operate across South Africa.

During the 2015 financial year the directors decided to sell its investment in Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 

Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited, operating within the Agricultural Chemicals segment, as a result of a restructuring of the 

Group’s activities within the Agricultural Chemicals segment. The transaction has already been negotiated and the sale is expected 

to be completed after the reporting date (refer to note 36).

Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited (the disposal group) have been classified 

as held for sale and measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less cost to sell at reporting date. 

The non-recurring fair value measurement for the non-current assets held for sale of R36,5 million has been categorised as a Level 

2 fair value based on the input to the market valuation approach used. The observable input used is the consensus pricing for the 

sale of the investments. This is not a quoted price and is in an inactive market.

No impairment losses were recognised on reclassification of the subsidiaries as held for sale. The Group’s directors expect that the 

fair value less costs to sell of the disposal group will be higher than the carrying amount of the total related assets and liabilities for 

the subsidiaries (disposal group).

There are no cumulative income or expenses included in other comprehensive income relating to the disposal group.

Assets and liabilities of non-current assets held for sale
At 30 June 2015, the non-current assets held for sale were stated at carrying value and comprised of the following:

Acacia
2015

R’000

Introlab
2015

R’000

Total
disposal

group
2015

R’000

Property, plant and equipment  591  113 703
Intangible assets  –  4  4 
Inventory  28 470  17 310  45 780 
Trade and other receivables 18 095  20 962 39 057
Deferred taxation asset 88 18 106
Derivative asset  80  –  80 
Cash and cash equivalents  9 859  143 10 002

Assets held for sale 57 183 38 550 95 732

Long-term liabilities  391 –  391 
Trade and other payables 39 150 8 920 48 070
Short-term loans 10 362  – 10 362
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities  108  108

Bank overdraft –  1 248  1 248 

Liabilities held for sale 50 012 10 168 60 179

Net assets classified as held for sale 7 171 28 382 35 553
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Company

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

6. Non-current assets (disposal groups) held for sale (continued) 
Company

Non-current assets held for sale
Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited (35,7% effective shareholding) 3 614 –
Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited (35% effective shareholding) 12 375 –

Assets classified as held for sale 15 989 –

Rolfes Holdings Limited effectively owns 35,7% in Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 35% in Introlab Chemicals 

Proprietary Limited, both of which operate across South Africa.

During the 2015 financial year the directors decided to sell its investment in Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 

Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited (the disposal group), operating within the Agricultural Chemicals segment, as a result of a 

restructuring of the Group’s activities within the Agricultural Chemicals segment. The transaction has already been negotiated and 

the sale is expected to be completed after reporting date (refer to note 36). Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 

Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited (the disposal group) formed part of the investment in AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited 

and have been reclassified as held for sale during the reporting period.

Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited have been classified as held for sale and 

measured at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less cost to sell at reporting date.

 
The investments classified as held for sale during the reporting period were measured at their fair value in accordance with IFRS 5.

The fair values were measured using the market approach. The consensus pricing for the sale of the respective investments are used 

as the fair values at the end of the reporting period. This constitutes a Level 2 fair value as it utilises observable inputs to the 

valuation process which are not quoted prices in an active market, but rather a consensus price in an inactive market.

No impairment was recognised on reclassification.

Classification of investments as held for sale
Rolfes Holdings Limited classified Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited as a 

non-current asset held for sale as the carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction.

Management is committed to selling the investment and it is highly probable that the sale will occur in the 2016 financial year at a 

fair value that management deems appropriate (refer to note 36). 

There are no associated liabilities relating to Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and Introlab Chemicals 

Proprietary Limited.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

7. Inventories
Finished goods 164 220  180 865 – –
Raw materials 39 260  34 337 – –
Work in progress  8 530  21 970 – –
Packaging  2 230  1 755 – –
Consumable stores  1 476  1 087 – –
Inventory impairment allowance (717)  (1 691) – –
Mining fuel consumables  128  292 – –

215 127  238 615 – –

Inventory written off to profit or loss during the year –  3 541 – –

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the  

period and included in cost of sales amounted to 802 775  723 023 – –

No inventories are currently measured at net realisable value.

No inventories are expected to be recovered after more than 12 months.

Inventories of Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited have been encumbered with a notarial bond to the value of 

R10 million as security in favour of Sasol Solvents, a division of Sasol.

Inventories of AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited have been encumbered under a notarial bond to the value of R84 million as 

security for overdraft facilities in favour of Nedbank.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

8. Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables 87 092  132 526  –  7 295 

2015
’000

2014
’000

Foreign trade receivables
US dollar (USD)  2 608  1 395  31 172  14 756  –  – 
Euro (EUR)  2 164  474  28 543  6 848  –  – 
British pound (GBP)  –  –  –  –  – 
Zambian kwacha (ZMK)  9 756  2 423  5 726  4 135  –  – 
Botswana pula (BWP)  7 934  7 752  9 819  9 184  –  – 
Romanian lei (RON)  3 993  1 788  12 075  5 869  –  – 

Prepaid expenses 2 328  7 154  –  – 
Allowance for credit losses – (1 278) – –
Deposits 577 344  –  – 
Sundry debtors  7 651  16 559  2 787  1 001 
Salary advances 91 – – –

185 074  196 097 2 787  8 296 

Trade receivables have been ceded to Nedbank as security for bank overdrafts (refer to note 18).

The foreign trade receivables have been translated at reporting date using the spot rate.

The allowance for credit losses was utilised during the current year.
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Group

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

8. Trade and other receivables (continued)
8.1 Trade receivables   

Trade receivables (net of allowances) held by the Group amounted to 

comprising the amounts as presented above.

174 427 173 318

The average age of these receivables in days are  44  63 

Not past due nor impaired 126 828 140 646

No interest is charged on trade receivables.

The acquisitions in both 2015 and 2014 had no proportionate effect on the average  

days for the respective years.
Before accepting any new customers, the Group uses credit references, credit history,  

bank codes and credit rating information to assess the potential customer’s credit quality, 

and credit limits are defined per customer.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables, with a carrying amount of 47 599 32 672
are past due trade receivables at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided 

as there has not been a significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still 

considered recoverable. The historic default rate for debtors that are past due and not 

impaired is less than 2%. The Group holds personal or other surety over some of these 

balances.

Ageing of past due but not impaired:
90 days 23 121 10 830
120 days 24 478 21 842

47 599 32 672

Movement in the allowance for credit losses:
Balance at the beginning of the year 1 278 2 423
Movement in allowance 440 (638)
Amounts written off as uncollectible (1 718) (507)

Balance at the end of the year – 1 278

Impairment losses recognised on receivables – 780

In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade 

receivable from the date credit was initially granted up to the reporting date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due 

to a large and unrelated customer base. 

The carrying value of trade and other receivables approximates its fair value.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

9. Short-term loans
Current assets
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited – –  23 285  22 210 
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited – –  924 –
New Heights Proprietary Limited – –  2 707  2 707 
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited – –  1 713  1 718 
Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited – –  2 000 –
Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited (previously AgChem Services) – –  20 497  17 683 
Avison Proprietary Limited 3 332 6 500 – –
Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited –  163 18 947 16 203
Sorin Purcharea 72  29 – –
Short-term loans related to assets held for sale  2 715  – – –
Other 524  – – –

6 642  6 692  70 074  60 521 

Current liabilities
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited – –  46 142  44 322 
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited – –  43 177  46 806 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited – –  11 039  8 435 
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited – – –  1 474 
Union Colours Proprietary Limited  334 – – –
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited –  2 520 – –
Absolute Science Proprietary Limited –  1 757 – –
Gallus Technologia Proprietary Limited t/a Galltec HO –  (218) – –
Gallus Technologia Ventersdorp Proprietary Limited 

t/a Galltec Ventersdorp –  (4 059) – –
AgChem Property Proprietary Limited – –  9 226  12 484 
Nedbank  20 534  13 454 – –
Nexus Finance Proprietary Limited  6 539  4 540 – –
Indicator Trust –  2 382 – –
HAD Trust –  495 – –
Sorin Purcharea 25 – – –
Short-term advances to Group companies – – 268 –

27 433  20 870  109 853  113 521 

The carrying value of short-term loans approximates its fair value.

Nedbank debtor financing accrues interest at the prime rate. Refer to note 18 for the security provided for this facility.

All intercompany loans accrue interest at the prime rate and are unsecured.

Other loans do not accrue interest and is unsecured.

All short-term loans are receivable or payable within the 12 months following reporting date.

There was no change in these terms from the 2014 reporting period.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

10. Share capital
Authorised
500 000 000 ordinary shares of R0,01 each 5 000 5 000 5 000 5 000

Issued
108 609 467 (2014: 108 609 467) ordinary shares of R0,01 each 1 086 1 086 1 086 1 086

Unissued ordinary shares of R0,01 each 3 914 3 914 3 914 3 914

10.1 Fully paid ordinary shares
Number of 

shares
Share 

capital
Share

 premium

Balance at 30 June 2013 108 609 1 086 49 802
Balance at 30 June 2014 108 609 1 086 49 802

Balance at 30 June 2015 108 609 1 086 49 802

Fully paid ordinary shares, which have a par value of R0,01, carry one vote per share and carry the right to dividends

Subject to meeting the relevant requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, the JSE Listings Requirements and obtaining 

the necessary JSE approval, the Board may be given approval to issue authorised shares through either a special resolution or an 

ordinary resolution by shareholders.

A special resolution is required in instances of shares being issued to:

– a director, future director, prescribed officer or future prescribed officer of the company; or

– a person related or inter-related to the company or to a director or prescribed officer of the company; or

– a nominee of any person described above.

Furthermore, a special resolution is required in instances where the proposed share issue will have an impact on the voting power 

of the class of shares being issued, equal to or greater than 30% of the voting power of the class of shares prior to the share issue 

taking place.

All other proposed issuings of a class of shares require an ordinary resolution.

Group

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

11. Treasury shares
Listed
At cost (prior year – at cost)
Rolfes Holdings Limited (868) (868)

Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited purchased shares in the Company.

The share purchase adheres to the requirements of JSE Limited and the memorandum of 

incorporation.
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12. Reserves
Nature and purpose of reserves
Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign currency differences arising from the translation of the financial 

statements of foreign operations.

Fair value reserve   
The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets until the assets are 
derecognised or impaired.

Revaluation surplus 
The revaluation surplus relates to the revaluation of property.

OCI accumulated in reserves, net of tax Group Company

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

R’000

Revaluation
surplus

R’000
Total

R’000

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

R’000

Fair
value

reserve
R’000

Total
R’000

Carrying value 30 June 2013 – 2 193 2 193 – 327 043 327 043

Foreign operations – foreign currency 

translation differences – – – – – –

Available-for-sale financial assets – 

net change in fair value – – – – – –

Revaluation of property – 3 295 3 295 – – –

Carrying value 30 June 2014 – 5 488 5 488 – 327 043 327 043

Foreign operations – foreign currency 

translation differences (141) – (141) – – –

Available-for-sale financial assets –  

net change in fair value – – – – 2 107 2 107

Revaluation of property – – – – – –

Carrying value 30 June 2015 (141) 5 488 5 347 – 329 150 329 150

There was no fair value movement on the available-for-sale investments in the prior year.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

13. Interest-bearing liabilities
Secured 66 655  64 467 17 056  – 
– Instalment sale agreements  14 465  22 828  –  – 
– Medium-term loans with Nedbank 52 190  41 639 17 056  – 
Short-term portion  (24 381)  (19 850)  (6 266)  – 

 42 274  44 617  10 790  – 

Instalment sale agreements – secured over motor vehicles 2 573 3 770
Instalment sale agreements – secured over plant and equipment  11 892 12 518
Instalment sale agreements bear average interest of 9,49% 9,44%

Carrying 
value

30 June
2015

Effective
 interest

 rate
%

Months 
to repay

Last 
payment

Carrying 
value

30 June
2014

Group
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited  8 977 9,65 60 1/11/2016  14 330
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited  1 007 9,65 60 1/2/2016  2 406 
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited  689 9,65 60 1/7/2016  1 267 
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited  5 084 9,65 60 1/5/2018  6 537 
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited  2 792 9,65 36 1/8/2016  4 599 
A medium-term loan was obtained for the purchase  

of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited  11 665 9,38 120 1/8/2024  12 350 
A medium-term loan was obtained by Rolfes Holdings 

Limited for funding purposes  17 056 11,57 36 1/12/2017  – 
A bond was registered over the construction of a building 

in Gaborone, Botswana  4 920 8,30 114 30/8/2024  –

Total 52 190 41 639

Company
A medium-term loan was obtained by Rolfes Holdings 

Limited for funding purposes  17 056 11,57 36 1/12/2017  –

Security over all banking facilities are detailed in note 18.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

13. Interest-bearing liabilities (continued)
Total minimum payments
Total payments
– Repayments 80 685  77 382 19 593  – 
– Finance cost  (14 030)  (12 915)  (2 536)  – 

Present value 66 655  64 467 17 056  – 

Payments – up to a year
– Minimum repayments 29 683  24 344 7 837  – 
– Finance cost  (5 302)  (4 494)  (1 571)  – 

Present value 24 381  19 850 6 266  – 

Payments – two years and more
– Minimum repayments  51 002  53 038  11 756  – 
– Finance cost  (8 728)  (8 421)  (966)  – 

Present value  42 274  44 617  10 790  – 

The fair value of the medium-term loans and instalment sale agreements are approximately equal to their carrying value.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

14. Vendor loan
Purchase of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited
Non-current portion of vendor loan – 7 379 – 7 379
Current portion of vendor loan 5 935 – 5 935 –

5 935 7 379 5 935 7 379

As part of a top-up for the existing 70% shareholding of AgChem 
Holdings Proprietary Limited to a maximum value of R8,25 million, 
profit warranties had to be met by 30 June 2015. The present value of 
this vendor loan was computed at a 9% interest rate. The amount 
allocated to the original purchase price was R5,935 million.

At 30 June 2015, profit warranties had not been met and the loan was 
reduced to the original purchase price, which is the amount payable. 
The purchase price is payable within the next 12 months and is 
reported as the current portion of vendor loans.

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in Tetralon Chemical 
Consultancy Proprietary Limited

Non-current portion of vendor loan – – – –
Current portion of vendor loan 12 000 – 12 000 –

12 000 – 12 000 –

This loan relates to the purchase consideration payable for the 
acquisition of the 30% non-controlling interest of Tetralon Chemical 
Consultancy Proprietary Limited (refer to note 4). This loan is repayable 
by 30 September 2015 and is reported as the current portion of 
vendor loans.

Opening balance 7 379 6 732 7 379 6 732

Acquisition 12 000 – 12 000 –
Contingent consideration recognised/(reversed) (1 444) 647 (1 444) 647

Closing balance 17 935 7 379 17 935 7 379
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15. Deferred tax liability
Deferred tax is calculated in full on temporary differences arising on assets and liabilities using a tax rate of 28%. Movement on the 
deferred tax account is indicated below:

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

Opening balance  23 244  22 162  51 035  51 035 
Provisions 341  (364)  (61) –
Originating temporary difference on plant and equipment  3 942  733 – –
Revaluation on investment property  –  755 – –
Revaluation on investments – – 394 –
(Increase)/decrease in tax losses available for set-off against future 
taxable income  (2 248)  (2 428)  (1 157) –
Originating difference on intangible assets –  2 386 – –
Reclassification to assets held for sale 106 – – –

Closing balance  25 385  23 244 50 211  51 035 

Movement on deferred tax was charged as follows:
– in profit or loss  2 035  327  (824)  – 
– in equity  –  755  –  – 

2 035  1 082  (824)  – 

Reconciliation of deferred tax liability
Provisions  (2 006)  (2 347) (61) –
Plant and equipment  18 563  14 515 – –
Revaluation reserve  2 746  2 746 – –
Investments – – 51 429  51 035 
Tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income  (5 072)  (2 824)  (1 157) –
Capital loss available for set-off against future capital gains  (33)  (33) – –
Intangible asset  11 187  11 187 – –
Reclassification to assets held for sale 106 – – –

Closing balance  25 491  23 244 50 211  51 035 

The closing balance can be broken down as follows:
– deferred tax liability  32 496  28 448 51 429  51 035 
– deferred tax asset  (7 111)  (5 204) (1 218)  – 
There are no time limits on the utilisation of unused tax losses. 
Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where 
it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which to utilise 
the deferred tax asset.

The tax losses available for set-off against future taxable income  
consist of the following gross amounts in the individual companies:
Rolfes Colour Pigments Proprietary Limited  2 829  7 079 –  – 
Rolfes Holdings Limited 4 131 – 4 131 –
AgChem Group 9 682  2 978 –  – 
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited 1 071 – – –

Estimated tax loss  17 713  10 057 4 131  – 

The estimated tax loss arose from trading activities of the individual companies and will be utilised in future periods against 
taxable profit. 
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Group

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

16. Provisions
Warranty provision 
Opening balance 1 July  861  1 634 
Decrease in provision  (861)  (735) 
Utilised during the year  –  (38) 

Closing balance 30 June –  861 

The warranty provision relates to product warranties and at reporting date the estimate was 

considered to be nil.

Rehabilitation provision
Opening balance  2 602  2 398 
Finance cost  234  204 

Closing cost  2 836  2 602 

Due within one year or less –  861 
Due after more than a year  2 836  2 602 

Total provisions 2 836  3 463 

Upon closure of the mining operations there will be an expected outflow of economic benefits in the form of the rehabilitation of 

the site where the mining operations took place. The expected timing and amount of the outflows are uncertain at reporting date.

Details regarding the provisions are indicated in the accounting policies note 1.11 and 1.13.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

17. Trade and other payables
Trade payables 57 407  145 782  –  5 498 

Foreign trade payables
2015
’000

2014
’000   

– US dollar (USD)  6 424  2 137  77 823  22 604  –  – 
– Euro (EUR)  16  21  214  310  –  – 
– British pound (GBP)  4 0,009  63  –  –  – 
– Zambian kwacha (ZMK)  3 928  2 436  2 305  4 157  –  – 
– Botswana pula (BWP)  548  3 207  679  3 800  –  – 
– Romanian lei (RON)  4 685  3 068  14 168  10 072  –  – 
Salary control –  957 –  – 
Accruals 2 674  6 087 –  (703) 
Leave pay accrual 4 293  4 412  219  (133) 
Bonus accrual –  (1 025) –  (320) 
Credit cards 9  11 –  – 
Salary advances –  1 115  –  – 
Sundry creditors  652  65 –  – 
Deposits  –  119  –  – 
Non-controlling shareholders for dividends  –  1 802  –  – 

Total trade and other payables 160 287  200 268 219  4 342 

The carrying value of trade and other payables approximates its fair value.

Foreign trade payables are translated at reporting date at spot rates.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

18. Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents 

include cash on hand and in banks, net of outstanding bank 

overdrafts.
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year as shown in 

the cash flow statement can be reconciled to the related items in the 

statement of financial position as follows:
Call account  89  87  –  – 
Current bank account 8 104  5 409  –  – 

2015
’000

2014
’000

– US dollar (USD) account 235  442 2 460  4 721  –  – 
– Zambian kwacha (ZMK) account 580 252  333  459  –  – 
– Euro (EUR) account 3 93  137  1 365  –  – 
– Botswana pula (BWP) account 302  –  636  –  –  – 
– Romanian lei (RON) account 22  –  67  –  –  – 
Petty cash  47  1  –  – 

Cash and cash equivalents 11 873  12 042  –  – 

Bank overdraft 71 586  54 631  12 880  9 700 

Statement of cash flows (59 713) (42 589) (12 880) (9 700)

Nedbank Limited banking facilities are available as follows:
• General banking facility  60 000  60 000  60 000  60 000 

Available by way of overdraft and/or letter of credit/guarantees

Shared with Rolfes Holdings Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited, 

Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Asset Holdings 

Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited.

• Current account set-off facility  15 000  15 000  15 000  15 000 
Shared with Rolfes Holdings Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited, 

Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Asset Holdings 

Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited.
• General banking facility  10 000  10 000  –  – 

Available by way of overdraft and/or letter of credit/forward 

exchange contract

Shared with Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited and PWM Professional 

Water Management (Cape) Proprietary Limited.  1 000  3 000  –  – 

• FEC facility
Shared between Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary 

Limited, Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Logistics 

Proprietary Limited.
• Nedfleet cards  471  300  20  – 
• Asset-based facility (revolving credit line)  7 500  14 000 7 500 –

Shared with Rolfes Holdings Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary 

Limited, Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited and Rolfes Asset Holdings 

Proprietary Limited.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
• FEC facility  1 000  2 000  –  – 

Available to AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited
• Asset-based facility (revolving credit line)  15 000  14 000  –  – 

Shared between AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited and AgChem 

Holdings Proprietary Limited (2014: excluded AgChem Holdings 

Proprietary Limited)

• General banking facility  25 000  25 000  –  – 
Available as overdraft/stock financing facility to AgChem Africa 

Proprietary Limited
• Letter of guarantee facility  750  –  –  – 

Available to AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited
• Bond facility  11 665  12 350  –  – 

Rolfes Holdings Limited – AgChem Property Proprietary Limited 

acquisition finance
Running down with remaining term of 110 months (2014: loan 

restructured – prior term 24 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  2 792  4 599  –  – 

AgChem Property Proprietary Limited
Running down with remaining term of 12 months (2014: prior term 

was 24 months)
• Overdraft facility  –  12 200  –  – 

Available as overdraft/FEC exposure facility to Acacia Specialty 

Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Introlab Chemicals Proprietary 

Limited and Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited (2014: included 

Absolute Science Proprietary Limited)
• Debtors financing  65 000  60 000  –  – 

Available in AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited.
• Overdraft facility  200  –  –  – 

Available as overdraft facility to Absolute Science Proprietary Limited
• General banking facility  5 000  –  –  – 

Available as overdraft/FEC exposure facility to Acacia Specialty 

Chemicals Proprietary Limited
• Overdraft facility  5 000  –  –  – 

Available as overdraft facility to Introlab Chemicals Proprietary 

Limited
• FEC facility  1 000  –  –  – 

Available to Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited
• Overdraft facility  1 800  1 800  –  – 

Available as overdraft facility to Gallus Technologia
Western Cape Proprietary Limited

• Vehicle and asset finance facility  838  1 404  –  – 
Available to Gallus Technologia Western Cape Proprietary Limited.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
• Medium-term loan facility  –  6 690  –  – 

Running down with remaining term of 0 months (2014: 11 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  8 977  14 330  –  – 

Running down with remaining term of 17 months (2014: 29 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  5 084  6 537  –  – 

Running down with remaining term of 46 months (2014: 58 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  1 007  2 406  –  – 

Running down with remaining term of 8 months (2014: 20 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  689  1 267  –  – 

Running down with remaining term of 12 months (2014: 24 months)
• Medium-term loan facility  17 056  –  17 056  – 

Running down with remaining term of 30 months

Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited facilities are available 

as follows:
• Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited facility 30 000  20 000  –  – 

Available as creditor finance facility to Rolfes Colour Pigments 

International Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary 

Limited, Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited, Rolfes 

Logistics Proprietary Limited and Amazon Colours Proprietary 

Limited (2014: excluded Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited)
• Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited FEC facility 3 000  2 000  –  – 

Available to Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited, 

Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Tetralon Chemical Consultancy 

Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited and Amazon 

Colours Proprietary Limited (2014: excluded Rolfes PWM Proprietary 

Limited)
• Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited facility  15 000  –  –  – 

Available as creditor finance facility to AgChem Africa Proprietary 

Limited

Hollard Insurance Company Limited facilities are available as 

follows:
• Hollard guarantee facility – 20 000  –  – 
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18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
Nedbank facilities are secured as follows: 

For facilities granted to Rolfes Sharing

Set-off agreement not restricting to account specific but entity specific to the amount of R15 000 000 (fifteen million rand) between:

• Rolfes Holdings Limited

• Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited

Limited suretyship in the amount of R248 000 000 (two hundred and forty eight million rand) including a cession of claims (in terms 

of the new Companies Act and new lending), in favour of Nedbank Limited, aggregated in favour of the following entities:

• Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited

• AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited

• Absolute Science Proprietary Limited

• Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited

• Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited – to be released once exposure is settled

• PWM Professional Water Management (Cape) Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited

• lntrolab Chemicals Proprietary Limited

• Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited

Limited suretyship including a cession of claims (in terms of the new Companies Act), in favour of Nedbank Limited, by below 

entities in favour of Rolfes Holdings Limited:

• Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R91 900 000 (ninety one million nine hundred thousand 

rand)

• Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R45 200 000 (forty five million two hundred thousand rand)

• Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R3 500 000 (three million five hundred thousand rand)

• Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R7 300 000 (seven million three hundred thousand)

• Absolute Science Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R215 000 (two hundred and fifteen thousand rand)

• lntrolab Chemicals Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R5 000 000 (five million rand)

• AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R61 900 000 (sixty one million nine hundred thousand rand)

• Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R6 060 000 (six million and sixty thousand rand)

• PWM Professional Water Management (Cape) Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R1 000 000 (one million rand)

• Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited, in the amount of R10 000 000 (ten million rand)

• Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited to provide limited suretyship in favour of Rolfes Holdings Limited

For facilities granted to Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited:

• Pledge & Cession over foreign account number 7837014693 to be used as and when required

• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008

• Cession of CGIC policy

• Set-off agreement as above

• Limited suretyship as above
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18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
For facilities granted to Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited:

• Deed and assignment between New Heights 390 Proprietary Limited and Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited

• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008

• Cession of CGIC policy

• A first, second and third continuous covering mortgage bond over RE of Ptn 147 and 174, Rietfontein 63 IR and 273 Witkoppie 64 

IR by Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited, reflected as mortgagor, and Nedbank, reflected as mortgagee, in the amount of 

R15 950 000 (fifteen million nine hundred and fifty thousand rand)

• R2 850 000 (two million eight hundred and fifty thousand rand) will be held as security for the medium-term loan of Rolfes Asset 

Holdings Proprietary Limited as per clause 3.5.1 of the facility letter

• Cession over the HOC policy held as insurance over building

• Set-off agreement as above

• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited:

• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008

• Cession of CGIC policy

• Set-off agreement as above

• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited:

• Cession of all current and future rental moneys over Ptn 273 of the farm Witkoppie 64 IR and remaining extent of Ptn 147 of the 

farm Rietfontein 63 IR

• Set-off agreement as above

• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited:

• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008

• Cession of CGIC policy

• Set-off agreement as above

• Limited suretyship as above

For shared facilities on AgChem Group:

• Limited suretyships of R11 900 000 (eleven million nine hundred thousand rand) including a cession of claims, in favour of Nedbank 

Limited to AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited, by:

• Rolfes Holdings Limited

For facilities granted to AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited:

• Invoice discounting agreement supported by a cession of present and future debtors

• Cession of CGIC policy

• Limited suretyship as above

• First general notarial bond including all stock in favour of Nedbank Limited, with AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited reflecting as 

mortgagor and Nedbank Limited reflecting as the mortgagee, in the amount of R84 000 000 (eighty four million rand)
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18. Cash and cash equivalents (continued)
For facilities granted to Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited:
• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008
• Cession of CGIC policy
• Limited suretyship as above
 
For facilities granted to lntrolab Chemicals Proprietary Limited:
• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008
• Cession of CGIC policy
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited:
• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008
• Cession of CGIC policy
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited:
• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008
• Cession of CGIC policy
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to PWM Professional Water Management (Cape) Proprietary Limited:
• A first security cession of all present and future debtors, a security cession of product liability insurance and proof that the 

borrower complies with the Consumer Protection Act No 68 of 2008
• Cession of CGIC policy
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Absolute Science Proprietary Limited:
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to Rolfes Holdings Limited:
• Set-off agreement as above
• Limited suretyship as above

For facilities granted to AgChem Properties Proprietary Limited:
• Cession of rental income
• Cession of fire policy over property

The security is required as continuing security for all the borrower facilities.

For facilities granted to Gallus Technologia Western Cape Proprietary Limited:
• Limited securetyships of R1 051 000 (incorporating cession of claims), in favour of Nedbank, by:

• AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited
• Nexus Ag Finance Proprietary Limited

Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited facilities are secured as follows:
• A company guarantee by Rolfes Holdings Limited along with a supporting signed board resolution in favour of Blue Strata 

Trading Proprietary Limited for Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited, Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary Limited, 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited, Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited, Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited 
and Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited

• Guarantee of R15 million in favour of Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited from Rolfes Holdings Limited to AgChem Africa 
Proprietary Limited

• All inventory on water remains the property of Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited until it is delivered at the First Local 
Warehouse of the Group
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

19. Derivatives
Foreign exchange contracts – liabilities  (17) –  –  – 
Foreign exchange contracts – assets 80  –  –  – 

63 –  –  – 

The forward exchange contracts will be settled within 12 months.

The foreign exchange contract asset of R0,08 million relates to Acacia 
Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited and has been reclassified to 
assets held for sale as part of the disposal group. Refer to note 6.

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign 
exchange contracts amounted to:

2015
’000

2014
’000

US dollar (USD) 1 266 –
Euro (EUR) 18  – 

20. Revenue
Revenue arises from the following activities:
Sale of goods 1 131 954  996 997 –  – 
Rendering of services –  – 10 778  25 617
Rental income –  4 410 –  – 

 1 131 954  1 001 407 10 778  25 617

In the prior year rental income was considered to form part of the 
ordinary activities of the Group.

Rental income for the reporting period is included in other income as it 
was an ad hoc service and is no longer considered an ordinary activity. 
Refer to notes 1.14 and 21.

21. Operating profit/(loss)
Operating profit before interest is arrived at after taking the following 
items into account:
Rental income 271 – – –
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment 96 – – –

Items in other income 367 – – –

Realised foreign currency transaction (gains)/losses 3 236  (1 158) –  – 
Foreign currency translation (gains)/losses –  366 –  – 

Foreign currency translation/transaction (gains)/losses  3 236  (792)  –  – 

Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment – (3 033) – –

Depreciation and amortisation included with cost of goods sold 2 281  4 595 –  (51)
Depreciation and amortisation included with operating expenses 7 136  5 738 154  100 

Depreciation and amortisation  9 417  10 333  154  49 

Legal fees 1 122 1 069

Research and development costs expensed and not capitalised  
(refer to note 5.2) 262  2 216 –  – 

Impairment on outstanding payment for sale of associate 3 457 – – –

Executive directors’ emoluments for services as director (refer to 
note 28) 5 995 7 285 5 995 7 285

Non-executive directors’ emoluments for services as director (refer to 
note 28) 674 570 674 570
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

21. Profit for the year (continued)
Other salaries and wages  91 675 83 162  1 744  7 330 

Salaries and wages included in cost of sales 45 207  33 490 –  – 

Employees excluding directors 136 882 116 652 1 744  7 330 

Contributions to pension and provident funds (refer to note 31) 3 919 3 398 189  194 

Operating lease expense 3 795  749 –  – 

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had outstanding 

commitments for future minimum lease payments under fixed-term 

operating leases, which fall due as follows:
Within one year 5 120  120 –  – 
In two to five years 1 542  780 –  – 
The material leasing arrangements of the Group consist of leasing 

arrangements for property and plant. These arrangements include 

terms of renewal that vary between one and five years. There are no 

options to purchase and escalation clauses refer to market rates.

Inter-company transactions include the following:
Management fees  –  – 10 778  21 617 
Telephone and security  –  – –  (9) 

 –  –  10 778  21 608 

Annually renewable lease costs for the year consist of rentals payable  

by the subsidiaries for selected items of plant and equipment, which 

are eliminated on consolidation.
Premises 4 144  4 704  – 
Equipment 185  188  – 

 4 329  4 892  –  – 
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22. The Group as a lessor
Leasing arrangements
Rental agreements relate to property owned by the Group with lease terms of one year, with an option to extend for a further one 

year. All contracts contain escalation clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to renew. The lessee does not have an 

option to purchase the property at the expiry period. During the reporting period group entities have occupied more of the 

available space. The rentals charged to subsidiaries is eliminated on consolidation.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

Rental income earned by the Group from property which is  

leased out under operating leases amounted to 271 442 – –

Rental income earned by the Group from the rental of plant and 

equipment of which the lease terminates on 30 November 2014 – 2700 – –

Direct operating expenses arising from the leasing activities  

amounted to – 170 – –

Total future minimum lease income under non-cancellable operating 

leases for the following periods:
Not later than one year – 486 – –
In two to five years – – – –

23. Finance cost
Finance costs relate to the following items:
Long outstanding creditors 1 552  256 – – 
Instalment sale agreements 6 033  6 732 – – 
Subsidiary loan accounts – – 4 057  8 395 
Bank overdraft 9 679  6 648 1 459  124 
Rehabilitation provision 364  204 – – 
Acquisition vendor loan interest 871  647 871  647 
Related-party loans 365  293 – – 

18 864  14 780 6 388  9 166 

24. Finance income
Finance income relate to the following items:
Current account 531  148 – – 
Subsidiaries’ loan accounts – – 5 481  6 368 

531  148 5 481  6 368 

Finance income earned on financial assets, categorised as loans and 

receivables (including bank balances) 531  148 5 481  6 368
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

25. Taxation
South African normal taxation 13 528  13 104 –  1 593 
Deferred taxation 2 035 (1 969) (1 218) – 
South African dividend withholding tax 42  5 – – 
Prior year (overstatement)/understatement (1 769)  1 079 – – 

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 13 836  12 219 (1 218)  1 593 

Revaluation gain on property  –    (755)  –    –   
– Before taxation  –    4 050  –    –   
– Deferred taxation (expense)/benefit  –    (755)  –    –   
– Net of taxation  –    3 295  –    –   
Fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets  –    –   (394)  –   
– Before taxation  –    –   2 501 –
– Deferred taxation (expense)/benefit  –    –   (394) –
– Net of taxation  –    –   2 107 –

Amounts recognised in other comprehensive income  –    (755) (394)  –  

% % % %

Tax rate reconciliation
Effective rate 22,62  24,30 26,89  28,64 
– Statutory rate 28,00  28,00 28,00  28,00 
– Effect of non-allowable expenditure/exempt income 0,22  (0,41) (1,11)  0,64 
– Effect of tax allowances (2,51) (3,68) – –
– Effect of dividend withholding tax 0,07 – – –
– Effect of difference in treatment of assets for tax purposes – 0,01 – –
–  Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other 

jurisdictions (0,27) – – – 
– Effect of adjustments to deferred tax in current year – 0,43 – – 
– Effect of prior year overstatement (2,89) (0,05) – – 
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Group

2015 2014

26. Earnings per share
Numerator R’000 R’000

Profit for the year 39 371  29 170 

Earnings used in basic earnings per share 39 371  29 170 

Earnings used in diluted earnings per share 39 371  29 170 

Loss/(gain) from sale of plant and equipment (96)  2 467 
Impairment of loans 1 951 –

Headline earnings 41 226 31 637

Denominator ‘000 ‘000
Opening balance 108 609 108 609
Treasury shares (641)  (641) 

Weighted average number of shares used in basic earnings per share, diluted earnings per share, 

headline earnings per share, and diluted headline earnings per share (‘000) 107 968  107 968 

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic 36,5 27,0
Diluted 36,5 27,0
Headline 38,2 29,3
Diluted headline 38,2 29,3

27. Dividends per share R’000 R’000
Final dividends declared on 21 October 2013 –  5 429 
Final dividends declared during 2015 financial year – – 
Total dividend declared during the year –  5 429 

‘000 ‘000

Number of issued shares (‘000)  108 609  108 609 

Cents per ordinary share –  0,05 

No dividend will be declared for the 2015 financial year. In terms of the dividend withholding tax effective from 1 April 2012, the 

following additional information is disclosed:

• The dividend withholding tax rate is 15%;

• 108 609 467 ordinary shares are in issue; and

• Rolfes Holdings Limited’s tax reference number is 9492/089/140.
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28. Director’s remuneration

•A Hanekom

R’000

L Lynch

R’000

*S Sergel

R’000

E van der

 Merwe

R’000

Total

R’000

Executive directors
Services as directors:
Basic remuneration –  1 611 –  5 148  6 759 
Allowances –  226 –  300  526 

–  1 837 –  5 448  7 285 
Bonus payments – – – – –
For the year ended 30 June 2014 –  1 837 –  5 448  7 285 
Basic remuneration  785  1 112  192  2 718  4 806 
Allowances  90  252 –  300  642 

 875  1 364  192  3 018  5 448 
Bonus payments –  170 –  377  547 

For the year ended 30 June 2015  875  1 534  192  3 395  5 995 

◊AJ 
Fourie
R’000

MM 
Dyasi
R’000

^ L Dyosi
R’000

SS 
Mafoyane

R’000

DM 
Mncube

R’000
BT Ngcuka

R’000

KT 
Nondumo

R’000

MS 
Teke

R’000

◊TAM
 Tshivhase

R’000
Total

R’000

Non-executive 
directors

Basic 
remuneration 
for the year 
ended  
30 June 2014 95 – 62 95 – 33 95 95 95 570

Basic 
remuneration 
for the year 
ended  
30 June 2015  34  101 –  101  101 101  101  101  34  674 

• Resigned 20 February 2015
* Appointed 1 May 2015
^ Resigned 25 February 2014
◊ Resigned 31 October 2014

The directors did not receive remuneration from subsidiaries.

Employment contracts of the individual executive directors all incorporate the same information and restrictions.

The contracts include a restraint of trade paragraph to ensure the Group does not incur losses or loss of business due to the 
resignation of its directors. The contracts do not indicate any term of employment and employment will cease with the resignation 
or dismissal of the director. The contracts do not specify any age or time period to indicate retirement of directors.
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29. Group risk
The Group is exposed, through its operations, to the following financial risks:
• Interest rate risk
• Foreign currency risk
• Liquidity risk
• Credit risk

There has not been a change to the risk management objectives, policies and procedures in relation to the 2014 financial year.
Risk management policies recommended by the executive directors are, upon agreement thereto, ratified by the Board.
Certain risks are managed centrally while others are managed locally, following guidelines communicated by the Board.
These risk management policies are described in detail in the following paragraphs.

Capital management
Capital is managed through optimising the debt and equity utilisation across the Group. It is done to ensure that all entities within 
the Group continue to function on a going concern basis while maximising returns to stakeholders.

The overall Group capital management strategy has remained unchanged from the previous financial year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity, as follows:

Debt
• Medium to long-term borrowings (refer to notes 9 and 13); and
• Bank facilities (refer to note 18).

Equity
• Share capital (refer to notes 10 and 11);
• Reserves (refer to note 12); and
• Retained earnings.

Gearing ratio
The Group's capital structure is reviewed on a bi-annual basis by the directors. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost 
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at reporting date was:

Group

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

Interest-bearing debt 176 710  132 553 
Positive cash and cash equivalents (21 875) (12 042) 

Net debt 156 083  120 511 

Equity 371 780  337 095 

Net debt to equity ratio 0,4 0,4

Net debt is defined as long and short-term interest-bearing borrowings and bank overdraft less any positive bank balances, as 
detailed in notes 9, 13 and 18.

Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group.

The bank requires the Group to adhere to certain covenants in terms of facilities granted (refer to note 18). The directors of the 
Group have reviewed compliance to these covenants for the 2015 financial year and believes the Group to be compliant.
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29. Group risk (continued)
Significant accounting policies
Below follows details in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument in terms of the disclosed 

accounting policies in note 1:

Group Company

Fair
value

hierarchy
2015

R’000
2014

R’000

Fair
value

hierarchy
2015 

R’000
2014

R’000

Categories of financial instruments
Financial assets
Available for sale
Investments –  – 465 578  467 120 
Assets classified as held for sale 95 732  – 15 989  – 

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables 185 074  196 097 2 787  8 296 
Short-term loans 6 642  6 692 70 074  60 520 
Cash and cash equivalents 11 873  12 042 –  – 

Fair value
Investments –  – 3 465 578  467 120 
Assets classified as held for sale 2 95 732  – 2 15 989  – 
Trade and other receivables 3 185 074  196 097 3 2 787  8 296 
Short-term loans 3 6 642  6 692 3 70 074  60 520 
Cash and cash equivalents 3 11 873  12 042 –  – 

Financial liabilities
Loans and receivables
Interest-bearing liabilities 42 274  64 808 10 790  – 
Short-term loans 27 433  20 870 109 853  113 521 
Derivative liability 2 17 – 2 17 –
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 24 381  19 850 6 266  – 
Trade and other payables 160 287  200 268 219  3 774 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 60 179  – –  – 
Bank overdraft 71 586  54 631 12 880  9 700 

Fair value
Interest-bearing liabilities 3 42 274  64 808 3 10 790  – 
Short-term loans 3 27 433  20 870 3 109 853  113 521 
Derivative liability 2 17 – 2 17 –
Current portion of interest-bearing liabilities 3 24 381  19 850 3 6 266  – 
Trade and other payables 3 160 287  200 268 3 219  3 774 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 2 60 179  – –  – 
Bank overdraft 3 71 586  54 631 3 12 880  9 700 

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities approximate their carrying values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

• for financial instruments with standard terms and conditions that are traded on active liquid markets, fair value is determined with 

reference to quoted market prices;

• for financial instruments that are not traded on active liquid markets, fair value is determined in accordance with generally 

accepted pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis, using prices from observable current market transactions and 

dealer quotes for similar instruments.

At the reporting date there were no significant concentrations of credit risk for loans and receivables. The carrying value of financial 

instruments as reflected above, represents the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk.
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29. Group risk (continued)

Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s financial department provides services across the Group, coordinates access to domestic and international financial 

markets and monitors/manages the financial risks relating to the operations of the Group.

These risks include market risk (including currency risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of these risks by using derivative financial instruments to economically hedge these 

risk exposures.

Compliance with policies and exposure limits is reviewed on a continuous basis. The Group does not enter into or trade financial 

instruments for speculative purposes, including derivative financial instruments.

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to currency risk and interest rate fluctuations.

The Group enters into foreign exchange contracts to manage its exposure to currency risk, including forward foreign exchange 

contracts, to hedge the currency risk arising on the importation of goods from foreign suppliers.

There has been no change in the Group’s exposure to market risk or the manner in which it manages and measures market risk. 

Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes transactions denominated in foreign currencies as part of its operations.

The resultant exchange rate exposure that arises from these activities are managed within approved policy parameters utilising 

forward foreign exchange contracts.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated financial assets and financial liabilities at the reporting date, are 

as follows:

 2015
’000

2014
’000

Foreign currency
Assets 
US dollar (USD)  2 843  1 841 
Euro (EUR)  2 163  568 
Zambian kwacha (ZMK)  10 336  2 423 
Botswana pula (BWP)  12 670  7 752 

Romanian lei (RON)  4 035  1 788 

Liabilities
US dollar (USD)  6 424  2 137 
Euro (EUR)  20  21 
British pound (GBP)  4 –
Zambian kwacha (ZMK)  3 928  2 436 
Botswana pula (BWP)  1 208  3 207 
Romanian lei (RON)  4 787  3 068 
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29. Group risk (continued)
Foreign currency risk management (continued)
The Group trades in Europe, Asia and Africa in the currencies disclosed above. It is Group policy that these transactions are hedged 
locally by entering into foreign exchange contracts according to the principles set out here. It is Group policy to enter into forward 
foreign exchange contracts to cover specific foreign currency payments and receipts within 30% to 50% of the exposure. These 
contracts are entered into up to two months in advance. Where orders are placed for the purchase of raw materials from foreign 
suppliers, these future exposures are hedged according to these principles for terms not exceeding three months.

Furthermore, currency risk is managed by negotiating favourable payment terms with foreign suppliers and by actively managing 
Group banking facilities for foreign debt repayments. Where possible, natural hedges are maintained where amounts receivable 
from foreign customers are matched to amounts payable to foreign suppliers.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The table below details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase and decrease against the relevant foreign currencies.

The sensitivity analysis includes the net financial assets or financial liabilities in the respective foreign currency at the end of the 
reporting period and adjusts the translation for a 10% change in foreign currency rates.

A positive number indicates an increase in profit and other equity for a 10% strengthening in the foreign currency.

For a 10% weakening in the foreign currency, there would be an equal and opposite impact on profit and other equity of the Group.
The same method and assumptions were used in the sensitivity analysis for the prior year.

 2015
’000

2014
’000

Foreign currency
US dollar (USD)  (358) (313)
Euro (EUR)  214 790
British pound (GBP)  – –
Zambian kwacha (ZMK)  641 (2)
Botswana pula (BWP)  1 146 538
Romanian lei (RON)  (75) (420)

Net increase/(decrease) in profit and other equity  1 568  593 

Interest rate risk
Utilisation of long-term interest-bearing liabilities is minimised as far as possible in order to limit the exposure to interest rate risk. 
The Group’s long-term interest rate is linked to prime.

Cash requirements are managed and monitored in order to limit unnecessary utilisation of overdraft facilities, thereby reducing the 
Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk. 

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis has been performed based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivative and non-derivative 
instruments at the end of the reporting period. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the liability value at the 
end of the reporting period was the same during the whole year.

A 50 basis point increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally to key management and represents 
management’s assessment of a reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points higher and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year ended 
30 June 2015 would decrease by R0,080 million (2014: R0,074 million).

This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

For a 50 basis point strengthening in the interest rate, there would be an equal and opposite impact on the Group’s profit for the 
year ended 30 June 2015. 

    



Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

101

for the year ended 30 June 2015

29. Group risk (continued)
Credit risk
Financial assets potentially subject to group concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of trade receivables in terms of credit 
sales, which amounted to R202 million (2014: R196 million). 

Group policy is to assess credit risk of new customers before entering into sales agreements. Such credit ratings take into account 
local business practices and are factored into a credit risk profile. Credit references, credit history, bank codes and credit rating 
information is utilised in determining the credit rating of a new credit customer. The credit risk with regard to trade receivables is 
limited due to the fact that the customer base is spread over a wide variety of small and large receivables. The Group does not enter 
into complex derivatives to manage credit risk. The Group maintains insurance cover of its international trading activities through 
Credit Guarantee Insurance Company (CGIC). Where appropriate, it is Group policy to obtain sufficient collateral as a means of 
mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. Collateral held consist of sureties signed by selected customers. Ongoing credit 
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

Liquidity risk 
The Group minimises liquidity risk by ensuring it has adequate banking facilities and reserve borrowing capacity with high-quality 
financial institutions or related companies.

Liquidity risk is managed centrally across the Group by the executive directors. Budgets are set and agreed in advance on an annual 
basis by the Board. This enables suitable anticipation of cash flow requirements. Where an increase in Group facilities is required, 
approval is sought in accordance with authority limits set by the Board.

Liquidity risk is managed by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities; by continuously 
monitoring forecast against actual cash flows; and by matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Note 18 provides detail of the facilities available to the Group in the management of its liquidity risk.

Group

 2015
’000

2014
’000

Derivative and non-derivative maturity analysis – financial liabilities

Up to 3 months
Forward exchange contracts 6 159  2 159 
Trade and other payables 78 811  189 651 
Loans and borrowings 24 030  6 840 

3 to 12 months
Trade and other payables 81 476  10 617 
Loans and borrowings 18 286  20 520 

1 to 2 years
Loans and borrowings 8 455  23 376 
Vendor loan –  7 379 

2 to 5 years
Loans and borrowings 33 819  34 942

Price risk
The Group is exposed to price risk due to the volatility of commodity prices. These risks are limited by monitoring the market and 
competitors to identify risks in advance and executing appropriate pricing actions and adjustments in order to mitigate these 
identified risks.

Derivatives
Foreign currency forward exchange contracts are measured using quoted forward exchange rates and yield curves derived from 
quoted interest rates matching maturities of the contracts.
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30. Related parties
Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company, have been eliminated on 

consolidation. 

Details of transactions between the Group and other related parties are also disclosed. All related-party transactions occur at 

arm’s length.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

Trading transactions
Management fees
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary 

Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 800  1 800 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 926  5 000 
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 2 492  3 100 
Rolfes Asset Holding Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 350  2 661 
New Heights 390 Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – –  515 
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 284  2 200 
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 642  140 
Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 976  1 200 
Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 317  5 000 
Rolfes Holdings Limited performed certain administrative services for the 

company, for which a management fee is charged, as disclosed above. 

Management fees were based on an appropriate allocation of costs incurred 

by relevant administrative departments.

Interest received and (paid)
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary 

Limited Subsidiary –  – (4 057)  3 545 
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – –  3 877 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – –  973 
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 916 (1 672) 
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 49 –
Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 1 715 –
Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 1 644 –
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 157  – 
Nexus Finance Proprietary Limited Non-controlling interest –  (208) –  – 

Profit or (loss) in associates –
Maxipil Proprietary Limited Associate –  (387) –  – 

Telephones
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – –  9 
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30. Related parties (continued)

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

Other
Loans
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary 

Limited Subsidiary –  – (46 142)  (44 322) 
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – (43 177)  (46 806) 
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – (11 039) (8 435)
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 23 285  22 210 
New Heights 390 Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 2 707  2 707 
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 1 713  1 718 
Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 20 497  17 683 
Rolfes PWM Anticor Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 18 947  16 203 
Maxipil Proprietary Limited Common director 3 332  6 500 –  – 
Nexus Finance Proprietary Limited Non-controlling interest 6 539  (4 540) –  – 
Indicator Trust Non-controlling interest –  (2 382) –  – 
AgChem Property Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – (9 226)  (12 483) 
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 924 –
Amazon Colours Proprietary Limited Subsidiary –  – 2 000 –

Receivables and (payables)
Rolfes Colour Pigments International Proprietary 

Limited Subsidiary – – 425 –
Rolfes Asset Holdings Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 200 –
Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 10 –
Rolfes Silica Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 52 –
AgChem Africa Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 38 –
Rolfes PWM Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 206 –
Rolfes Logistics Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – (198) –
AgChem Property Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – 1 300 –
Gallus Technologia Western Cape Proprietary 

Limited Subsidiary – – (41) –
Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – (29) –
Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited Subsidiary – – (136) –

Compensation
The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during 

the year was as follows:
Short-term benefits 24 824  25 071 5 995  7 855 
The remuneration of directors and key executives is determined by the 

remuneration committee having regard to the performance of individuals and 

market trends.

Additions to computer equipment
Pinnacle Micro
Mr AJ Fourie and Mr TAM Tshivase Directors –  575 –  – 
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31. Retirement benefit schemes 
The companies are members of a defined contribution plan that is defined as post-employment benefit plans under which an 

enterprise pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 

contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employee benefits relating to employee service in the current and 

prior periods.

Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015 
R’000

2014
R’000

Contributions to funds 3 919  3 398 189  194 

Certain Group companies are members of the NMG Pension Fund and the contributions to the fund are calculated as follows:
The Group 9,0% (including 1,52% administration fee)
The employees 7,5%

Certain Group companies are members of the Chemical Industry National Provident Fund (CINPF) and the contributions to the fund 

are calculated as follows:
The Group 6,0%
The employees 6,0%

Certain Group companies are members of the Liberty Life Provident Fund and the contributions to the fund are calculated as 

follows:
The Group 7,5% and 5,0%
The employees 7,5% and 5,0%

Certain Group companies are members of the SACWU Chemical Industry National Provident Fund and the contributions to the 

fund are calculated as follows:
The Group 7,5%
The employees 7,5% (reduced by administration fee of R24,50 per employee per month)

Certain Group companies are members of the Liberty Life Pension Fund and the contributions to the fund are calculated as follows:
The Group fixed contribution of R3 600 per employee per annum
The employees fixed contribution of R1 200 per employee per annum

In relation to the above funds, the companies have various brokers and are represented by trustees and have management boards 

that ensure the companies’ interest in the above funds are not dismissed. The objective of the trustees of the funds are to invest the 

assets of the funds in order to maximise results.

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of R3,9 million (2014: R3,4 million) represents contributions payable to these plans by 

the companies at rates specified in the rules of the plans. As at 30 June 2015, all contributions to the retirement benefit schemes 

were paid in full.
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32. Segment reporting
The principal source of the Group’s risk and rates of return are as follows:
Business segments:
For management purposes the entity is organised on an international basis in four operating divisions, ie Industrial Chemicals, 
Mining and Water Chemicals, Agricultural Chemicals and other. These divisions are the basis on which the entity report its 

primary information. 

Only three of the four operating divisions qualify as reportable segments, namely:
Industrial Chemicals The Industrial Chemicals division manufactures and distributes alkyd resins, various organic and 

inorganic pigments, additives, in-plant and point-of-sale dispersions, leather chemicals products 

and solutions, food fragrances, food flavourings, solvents, lacquer thinners, surfactants, cleaning 

solvents, creosotes, waxes and other industrial chemicals.
Mining and Water Chemicals The Mining and Water Chemicals activities involve the quarrying and processing of pure 

beneficiated silica for the metallurgical, filtration and construction industries as well as providing 

specialised water purification solutions and products to the industrial, agricultural, mining, home 

and personal care markets.
Agricultural Chemicals The Agricultural Chemicals division manufactures and distributes products that include 

herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, adjuvants, foliar feeds, enriched compost pellets, and 

soluble fertilisers promoting general plant, root, foliage and soil health.

Other segments include the letting of property, plant and equipment. 

Geographical segments:
The Group primarily operates within the five geographical segments of South Africa, USA, Europe, Asia and the rest of Africa. 

These geographical segments will be identified on a turnover level only.

All intergroup management fees were eliminated in the separate segments to ensure more accurate presentation to the 

stakeholders regarding the various business segments in the current and prior year presented.
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32. Segment reporting (continued)
The following table provides financial information on the aforementioned segments:

Industrial
 Chemicals

2014
R’000

Agricultural 
Chemicals

2014
R’000

Mining and
 Water

 Chemicals
2014

R’000

Other
2014

R’000

Total
2014

R’000

Revenue
External  551 961  285 241  159 795  4 410  1 001 407 
Intercompany  –  –  –  –  – 

Total revenue  551 961  285 241  159 795  4 410  1 001 407 
Total cost of sales  (480 067)  (201 783)  (96 015)  –  (777 865) 

Gross profit  71 894  83 458  63 780  4 410  223 542 
Gross profit (%)  13  29  40  –  22 
Other income  1 115  3 407  990  509  6 021 
Operating expenses  (54 502)  (44 331)  (41 536)  (24 287)  (164 656)
Profit before interest  18 506  42 534  23 234  (19 368)  64 907 

Operating profit (%)  3  15  15  –  6 
Finance costs (6 126)  (5 326)  (1 027)  (2 261)  (14 740) 
Finance income  (163)  –  140  131  108 

Profit before taxation  12 218  37 208  22 347  (21 498)  50 275 
Taxation expense  (2 721)  (9 193)  (5 881)  5 575  (12 220) 

Profit after taxation  9 497  28 015  16 466  (15 923)  38 055 
Profit after taxation (%)  2  10  10  –  4 

Equity holders of the parent  7 469  22 762  14 862  (15 923)  29 170 
Non-controlling interest  2 028  5 253  1 604  –  8 885 

Total assets  265 196  227 605  152 975 72 147  717 923 
Total liabilities  146 539  163 409  93 397 (22 517)  380 828 
Capital expenditure incurred  8 035  16 992  2 822  413  28 262 
Depreciation  (2 072)  (3 990)  (3 733)  (537)  (10 333) 
Allowance for credit losses  317  877  84  –  1 278 

Information about geographical areas
Revenue from external customers can be allocated 
as  follows:
Rest of Africa  85 540  33 574  26 988  –  146 102 
Asia  4 304  980  –  –  5 284 
Europe  55 700  7 406  –  –  63 106 
USA  –  (2 111)  –  –  (2 111) 
South Africa  406 417  245 392  132 807  4 410  789 026 

 551 961  285 241  159 795  4 410  1 001 407 
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32. Segment reporting (continued)

Industrial
 Chemicals

2015
R’000

Agricultural
 Chemicals

2015
R’000

Mining and 
Water 

Chemicals
2015

R’000

Other
2015

R’000

Total
2015

R’000

Revenue
External  538 731  404 413  188 810  –  1 131 954 
Intercompany  –  –  –  –  – 

Total revenue  538 731  404 413  188 810  –  1 131 954 
Total cost of sales  (469 443)  (297 086)  (114 149)  –  (880 678) 

Gross profit  69 288  107 327  74 661  –  251 276 
Gross profit (%)  13  27  40  –  22 
Other income  43  1 935  73 3 716 5 769
Operating expenses  (44 694)  (68 494)  (45 107)  (19 231)  (177 526) 

Profit before interest  24 637  40 770  29 627  (15 515)  79 519 

Operating profit (%)  5  10  16  –  7 
Finance costs  (5 733)  (7 779)  (648)  (4 704)  (18 864) 
Finance income  8  351  172  –  531 

Profit before taxation  18 912  33 342  29 151  (20 219)  61 186 
Taxation expense  (7 304)  (4 997)  (4 736)  3 201  (13 836) 

Profit after taxation  11 608  28 345  24 415  (1 708)  47 350 
Profit after taxation (%)  2  7  13  –  4 

Equity holders of the parent  18 730  10 911  9 134  596  39 371 
Non-controlling interest – 5 164 2 815 – 7 979

Total assets  315 430  316 068  103 585  83 170  818 253 
Total liabilities  (175 553)  (161 971)  (28 943)  (79 482)  (445 949) 
Capital expenditure incurred  4 008 15 913 11 234  794 31 949

Depreciation  (2 159)  (3 445) (3 360)  (453)  (9 417) 

Allowance for credit losses – – – – –

Information about geographical areas
Revenue from external customers can be allocated 
as follows:
Rest of Africa  163 402  33 602  27 980  224 983  449 966 
Asia  3 887  –  –  3 887  7 774 
Europe  4 060  21 140  –  25 201  50 401 
USA  –  3 327  –  3 327  6 654 
South Africa  367 382  346 344  160 830  (257 397)  617 160 

 538 731  404 413  188 810  –  1 131 954 

All non-current assets are domiciled in South Africa, except for certain holdings in Botswana, Zambia and Eastern Europe.

Information regarding major customers
Revenues from transactions with any single customer do not exceed 10% of revenue per any single reporting segment. Inter-

segment transactions are eliminated on presentation of the segment report to present a more feasible segment. All related-

party transactions occur at arm’s length on the same terms and conditions that are available commercially.
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Group Company

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

2015
R’000

2014
R’000

33. Statement of cash flow
33.1 Reconciliation of profit before interest to cash 

generated from/(utilised in) operations
Operating profit before interest 79 519  64 904 (3 621)  8 358 
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation 9 417  10 307 154  66 
Movement in allowance for credit losses 1 278  (1 145) –  – 
Movement in warranty provision (861)  (773) –  – 
Movement in leave pay accrual (119)  3 777 218  – 
Movement in bonus accrual 1 025  (346) –  – 
Loss/(profit) on disposal of asset (96)  3 033 –  – 
Underpayment of insurance claim –  (204) –  94 
Changes on rehabilitation provision 234  204 –  – 
Acquisition expenses –  – 53  – 
Changes to acquisition vendor – 647 – 647 
Reversal of contingent consideration –  – (1 444)  – 
Change in working capital: (51 470)  (11 555)  (183) 43
– Decrease/(increase) in inventories (22 292)  (28 468) –  – 
– Increase in receivables (33 719)  (28 111) 5 510  (6 109) 
– Decrease/(increase) in FEC asset/liability 17  – –  – 
– Increase/(decrease) in payables and VAT 4 524  45 024 (5 693)  6 152 

38 927  68 848  (4 823) 9 209

33.2 Taxation (paid)/received
Opening balance: Receiver of Revenue (5 708)  (9 142) (2 367)  (1 516) 
Taxation (liability)/asset from acquisition –  46 –  – 
Taxation expense for the year (11 801)  (14 182) –  (1 593) 
Dividend withholding taxation liability for the year –  (5) –  – 
Reclassification to assets held for sale (463) – –  – 
Closing balance: Receiver of Revenue (1 771)  5 708 1 607  2 367 

Taxation (paid)/refunded during the year (19 743)  (17 576)  (760) (742)

33.3 Cost of acquisition of company
Investment property  –  17 930 
Investments  –  2 184 
Cash and cash equivalents  –  703 
Sundry Loans  –  (2 892) 
Long-term liabilities  –  (5 115) 
Short-term liabilities  –  (1 482) 
SARS VAT  –  139 
SARS income tax  –  46 
Deferred tax  –  (2 297) 
Goodwill  –  8 027 
Fair value of consideration given  –  17 243 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  –  (703) 
Cost of acquisition of company  –  16 540 

Fair value of consideration given –  17 243 
Less: financed by liability –  – 
Net cash flow from acquisition of investment –  17 243 

    



Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

109

for the year ended 30 June 2015

Effective holding Investment
Amount owing by/(to) 

subsidiary

Name Details of operations
Share 

capital
2015

%
2014

%
2015

R’000
2014

R’000
2015

R’000
2014

R’000

34. Interest in 
subsidiaries
Rolfes Colour Pigments 
International Proprietary 
Limited

The manufacturing and distribution of 
dispersions, organic and inorganic 
pigments, pigments pastes, additives, 
dyes and water-based pigments 
dispersions.

1000 100 100 97 365  190 955 (45 718)  (44 322) 

Rolfes Chemicals Proprietary 
Limited

The distribution of drum solvents, 
lacquer thinners, creasotes and other 
speciality chemicals. Also the 
importation of chemicals and 
equipment for supply into the water 
treatment, home care and personal 
care markets.

100 100 100 127 615  68 083 (11 029)  (8 435) 

Rolfes Silica Proprietary 
Limited

The manufacturing and distribution of 
pure beneficiated silica.

200 000 100 100 29 124  32 639 23 337  22 210 

Rolfes Asset Holdings  
Proprietary Limited

The company invests in and lets out 
property, plant and equipment.

100 100 100 69 898  54 710 (42 977)  (46 806) 

Rolfes Europe Trading  
Proprietary Limited

Dormant. 100 100 100 –  – –  – 

Rolfes Logistics Proprietary 
Limited

Distribution of pigments and industrial 
chemicals throughout the African 
continent.

100 100* 100* 5 006  – 726  – 

New Heights 390 Proprietary 
Limited

Property holding company. 100 100* 100* –  – 2 707  2 707 

Amazon Colours Proprietary 
Limited

Dormant. 300 100* 100* –  – 2 000  – 

AgChem Holdings 
Proprietary Limited

Holding and investment company. 100 70 70 60 795  88 575 –  – 

AgChem Africa Proprietary 
Limited

Development and manufacturing of 
high-quality agro-chemicals.

1 000 70* 70* –  – 1 751  1 718 

Absolute Science Proprietary 
Limited

Accredited laboratory that provides 
high-quality analytical data.

100 70* 70* –  – –  – 

Gallus Technologia 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant. 100 70* 70* –  – –  – 

Gallus Technologia 
Ventersdorp Proprietary 
Limited

Distribution of agricultural chemicals. 100 70* 70* –  – –  – 

Gallus Technologia Western 
Cape Proprietary Limited

Manufacturing and distribution of 
ground and plant nutrition products.

100 35 7* 35 7* – –  (41)  – 

Rolfes PWM Proprietary 
Limited

The business of water purification and 
treatment as well as manufacturing 
chemicals to be used in water treatment 
products and services. chemicals to be 
used in water treatment products and 
services.

142 74.4 74.4 38 998 –  20 704  16 208 

AgChem Herbicides 
Proprietary Limited

Deregistered. 100 70* 70*  –  – –  –

Bungor Trading Proprietary 
Limited

Dormant. 100 70* 70*  –  – –  –

AgChem Recycling 
Proprietary Limited

Dormant. 100 70* 70*  –  – –  –

Agrochem Namibia 
Proprietary Limited 
#incorporated in Namibia

Dormant. 100 70* 70*  –  – –  –

Tetralon Chemical 
Consultancy Proprietary 
Limited

Dormant. 4 000 100 70 11 510 14 915 (136)  –

Professional Water 
Management Cape 
Proprietary Limited

The business of water purification and 
treatment as well as manufacturing 
chemicals to be used in water treatment 
products and services. chemicals to be 
used in water treatment products and 
services.

4 000 42 3* 42 3*  –  – –  –
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Effective holding Investment
Amount owing by/(to) 

subsidiary

Name Details of operations
Share 

capital
2015

%
2014

%
2015

R’000
2014

R’000
2015

R’000
2014

R’000

34. Interest in 
subsidiaries (continued)
Rolfes PWM Anticor 
Proprietary Limited 
#incorporated in Botswana

The business of water treatment and 
purification.

142 70.4 70.4 8 077 – 18 947  16 203 

AgChem Property 
Proprietary Limited

The company invests in and lets out 
property.

100 100 100 17 190 17 243 (7 926)  (12 484) 

AgChem Europe SRL
#incorporated in Romania

Development and manufacturing of 
high-quality agro-chemicals.

10 000 50* 50*  – – –  – 

Amounts owing by 
subsidiaries

70 172  59 046 

Amounts owing to 
subsidiaries

(107 827)  (112 047) 

All companies are incorporated in South Africa, except where indicated with a #

* = indirect

A significant restriction on the Group’s ability to access/use subsidiaries’ assets or settle subsidiaries’ liabilities, is the independent 
non-controlling interest within the Group along with the individual sureties on Group banking facilities. It restricts the ability to 
readily transfer resources between subsidiaries within the Group.

A loss in control in relation to executive management involvement will lead to a reassessment of the investment, its profitability and 
the possibility of profitable disposal of the investment.
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35. Restatement and reclassification of financial instruments, headline earnings and cash flows on 
acquisition
Company
Financial instruments
During the year the Company identified that fair value changes on available-for-sale financial assets had been recognised directly 
in equity instead of in other comprehensive income before being presented in equity.

This has been retrospectively corrected in the separate financial statements and has affected:
• the statement of changes in equity with the renaming of the revaluation reserve to the fair value reserve; and
• the reserves note (refer to note 12) (2014: note 11) and the taxation note (refer to note 25) (2014: note 25), where amounts have 

been restated to support the fair value gain on available-for-sale financial assets and related tax effects presented in other 
comprehensive income.

Discontinued operations and headline earnings
Following a review of the integrated annual report for the 2014 reporting period by the JSE through its Pro-Active Monitoring 
process and advice received by the JSE from the FRIP which it shared with the Company, the Company decided to restate the 
transaction which was previously stated as a discontinued operation. As a result the discontinued resins business is included as part 
of continued operations and headline earnings for the 2014 reporting period.

In addition, the loss incurred by the Group on the accounting of its loss in associate is now added back in calculating headline 
earnings.

The effect of the restatement in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is as follows:

Restated
2014

R’000

As 
presented

2014
R’000

Variance
R’000

Revenue  1 001 407  1 001 407  – 
Cost of sales  (777 865)  (777 865)  – 

Gross profit  223 542  223 542  – 
Other operating income  6 020  6 020  – 
Operating expenses (164 656)  (164 656)  – 

Operating profit before interest  64 906  64 906  – 
Finance costs  (14 780)  (14 780)  – 
Income from investments  148  148  – 

Net profit before taxation  50 274  50 274  – 
Tax expenses  (12 219)  (12 219)  – 
Profit for the year  38 055  38 055  – 
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35. Restatement and reclassification of financial instruments, headline earnings and cash flows on 
acquisition (continued)

Restated
2014

R’000

As 
presented

2014
R’000

Variance
R’000

Profit for the year attributable to:
Continued operations   45 126 (45 126)

Revenue  –  958 506  (958 506) 
Cost of sales  –  (733 723)  733 723 

Gross profit  –  224 783  (224 783) 
Other operating income  –  6 020  (6 020) 
Operating expenses  –  (156 077)  156 077 
Finance cost  –  (14 780)  14 780 
Finance income  –  148  (148) 

Profit before tax  –  60 095  (60 095) 
Tax expenses  –  (14 969)  14 969 

Profit for the year  –  45 126  (45 126) 
Discontinued operations  –  (7 071)  7 071 

Revenue  –  42 901  (42 901) 
Cost of sales  –  (44 142)  44 142 

Gross profit  –  (1 241)  1 241 
Other operating income  –  –  – 
Operating expenses  –  (8 579)  8 579 
Profit before tax  –  (9 821)  9 821 
Tax expenses  –  2 750  (2 750) 
Profit for the year  –  (7 071)  7 071 

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent  29 170  29 170  – 
Non-controlling interest  8 885  8 885  – 

  38 055  38 055 –

Reconciliation of headline earnings
Attributable profit  29 170  29 170  – 
Adjusted for the after-tax effect of:
– Loss from sale of plant and equipment  2 467  2 467  – 
– Loss from associate  –  387  (387) 
– Loss from discontinued operations  –  7 071 (7 071) 

Headline earnings  31 637  39 095 (7 458) 

Earnings per share (cents)
Basic 27,0 27,0 0,0
Headline 29,3 36,2 (6,9)

As displayed above, the impact of the restatement means there will not be discontinued operations, which is now included in 
continued operations. Therefore there is no requirement to reflect a split between continued and discontinued operations.

Cash flows on acquisitions
In the cash flow statement presented at the end of the 2014 reporting period, the Company treated the entire value of its acquisition 
of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited gross of cash acquired, as an investing activity. This amount is restated to reflect the 
acquisition net of the cash acquired as part of the investment.

The effect of the restatement in the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year is as follows:

Restated
2014

R’000

As 
presented

2014
R’000

Variance
R’000

Cash flow (utilised in) investing activities  (40 519)  (41 222)  703 
Cash flow (utilised in) financing activities  (1 365)  (662)  (703) 

The variance represents cash acquired through the acquisition which was reflected as part of financing activities.
It is now set-off against the total purchase consideration, reflected in investing activities. Refer to note 33.

The JSE through its Pro-active Monitoring process, has highlighted certain disclosure deficiencies which the Group has incorporated 
in the 2015 integrated annual report.
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36. Events after the reporting period
Acquisition of 100% of the shares in Bragan Chemicals Proprietary Limited (“Bragan”)
As disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 15 July 2015, the Group entered into an agreement for the acquisition of 100% 
of the share capital of Bragan for a total purchase consideration of R213,1 million. 

The effective date of the acquisition is the first business day of the month following the month during which the last of the conditions 
precedent to the acquisition were fulfilled or waived. 

This is expected to be 1 October 2015. The acquisition has been approved at a general meeting of shareholders on 31 August 2015 
as reflected on the SENS announcement released on 31 August 2015.

Acquisition of non-controlling interest in AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited (“AgChem”)
As disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015, the Group entered into an agreement for the acquisition of 30% 
of the remaining share capital of AgChem from its non-controlling shareholders for a maximum total purchase consideration of 
R47,9 million of which R10 million is deferred to 30 September 2017 based on certain profit warranties. The effective date of this 
transaction is 1 July 2015 and is subject to certain conditions as disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015. This 
transaction is between related parties.

It is a suspensive condition to this transaction that the disposals of the shareholdings in Introlab Chemicals Proprietary Limited and 
Acacia Specialty Chemicals Proprietary Limited (as described below) take place according to the agreed terms and conditions.

Disposal of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited (“AgChem”) 50% shareholding in Introlab Chemicals Proprietary 
Limited (“Introlab”)
As disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015, AgChem has entered into an agreement for the sale of its 50% 
share in Introlab for a consideration of R12,4 million. The effective date of this transaction is 1 July 2015 and is subject to certain 
conditions as disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015. The asset has been accounted for as non-current 
assets classified as held for sale in the financial statements in terms of IFRS 5. This transaction is between related parties. Refer to 
note 6.

Disposal of AgChem Holdings Proprietary Limited (“AgChem”) 51% shareholding in Acacia Specialty Chemicals 
Proprietary Limited (“Acacia”)
As disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015, AgChem entered into an agreement for the sale of its 51% share 
in Acacia for a consideration of R6,3 million. The effective date of this transaction is 1 July 2015 and is subject to certain conditions 
as disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 4 June 2015. The asset has been accounted for as non-current assets classified 
as held for sale in the financial statements in terms of IFRS 5. This transaction is between related parties. Refer to note 6.

Issue of shares to fund 50% of the Bragan transaction and the non-controlling interest acquisitions
Masimong Group, a company owned by Mr Mike Teke, will subscribe for 45 million new Rolfes shares via a subsidiary company. Mike 
Teke is currently a non-executive director of the Group. He was appointed to the Board in April 2013. Mr Dinga Mncube will 
subscribe for 3,33 million new Rolfes shares. Dinga Mncube is currently a non-executive director of the Group since June 2014. The 
aforementioned 48,33 million shares will be acquired at R3 per share for an aggregate subscription consideration of R145 million. 
The issue price is equivalent to the 30-day VWAP for Rolfes up to 12 June 2015 when the price of the issue was approved by the 
Rolfes Board.

The issue of shares was subject to the approval of Rolfes’ shareholders (75% – specific issue of shares for cash). The approval was 
granted at a general meeting held on 31 August 2015. These transactions are between related parties.

Under a general authority to issue shares, a further five million shares at R3 per share will be issued to Westbrooke Capital 
Management to fund the acquisitions detailed above.

Authorisation of the annual financial statements

The annual financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 September 2015.
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37. Acquisitions
2015 reporting period
Increase in investment in subsidiary
As disclosed in the SENS announcement released on 23 February 2015, the Group purchased 30% of the remaining share capital 

of Tetralon Chemical Consultancy Proprietary Limited from its non-controlling shareholders for an amount of R12 million. The 

effective date of the transaction was 1 January 2015. The operations of Tetralon were then incorporated into Rolfes Chemicals 

Proprietary Limited a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. This transaction was between related parties.

2015
R’000

Consideration given  12 000 
Vendor financed  (12 000) 

Net cash flow from increase in investment  – 

Refer to notes 4, 14 and 34.

2014 reporting period
Acquisition of subsidiary
With effective date 1 January 2014, the Group purchased 100% of the share capital of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited. The 

principal activity of the company is the business of property rental. The cost of the acquisition amounted to R17,2 million, settled 

in cash.

The business was bought to acquire the land where the AgChem factory is situated along with the vacant land held within the 

property company in order to cater for the future expansion of the existing AgChem factory, proposed future strategic investments 

and warehousing space.

Goodwill on the transaction arose due to the cost of the business combination including a control premium paid to acquire 100% 

of the equity of AgChem Property Proprietary Limited.  

Analysis of assets and liabilities acquired
On acquisition the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities acquired were considered to equal the fair value.

2014
R’000

Non-current assets
Investment property  17 930 
Investment  2 184 

Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents  703 
VAT asset  139 
Tax asset  46 

Non-current liabilities
Long-term liabilities  (5 115) 

Current liabilities
Short-term liabilities  (1 482) 
Sundry Loans  (2 892) 
Deferred tax liabilities  (2 297) 
Goodwill on acquisition  8 027 

Net outflow on acquisition 
Total purchase consideration  17 243 
Less: Cash and cash equivalent balances acquired  (703) 

  16 540

38. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
At the end of the reporting period, it is management’s assessment that there are no contingent liabilities or contingent assets.
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING

Shareholder spread
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholding
Number 

of shares
% of 

issued capital

1 – 1000 shares 396 21,94 204 367 0,19
1001 – 10 000 shares 1 032 57,17 4 236 226 3,90
10 001 – 100 000 shares 301 16,68 8 414 989 7,75
100 001 – 1 000 000 shares 59 3,27 16 791 577 15,46
1 000 001 shares and over 17 0,94 78 962 308 72,70

Total 1 805 100,00 108 609 467 100,00

Distribution of shareholders
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholding
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

Assurance companies  1 0,06  259 170 0,24
Close corporations  29 1,61  602 229 0,56
Collective investment schemes  16 0,89  16 043 379 14,77
Custodians  6 0,33  2 818 343 2,59
Foundations and charitable funds  3 0,17  21 184 0,02
Hedge funds  9 0,50  14 706 196 13,54
Investment partnerships  8 0,44  352 124 0,32
Managed funds  6 0,33  4 245 812 3,91
Private companies  40 2,22  25 447 843 23,43
Public companies  1 0,06  5 000 0,00
Retail shareholders  1 554 86,07  17 392 584 16,02
Retirement benefit funds  8 0,44  2 935 502 2,70
Scrip lending  1 0,06  12 869 114 11,85
Stockbrokers and nominees  8 0,44  4 593 438 4,23
Treasury  1 0,06  641 332 0,59
Trusts  114 6,32  5 676 217 5,23

Total 1 805 100,00 108 609 467 100,00

Shareholder type
Number of

shareholdings
% of total

shareholding
Number

of shares
% of

issued capital

Non-public shareholders  9 0,50  39 270 877 36,16
Directors and associates  6  12 896 681 11,87
Strategic holders (more than 10%)  2  25 732 864 23,69
Treasury shares  1  641 332 0,59
Public shareholders  1 796 99,50  69 338 590 63,84

Total 1 805 100,00 108 609 467 100,00
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as at 30 June 2015

SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDING (CONTINUED)

Interim results published Monday, 23 February 2015

Audited results published Friday, 18 September 2015

Abridged annual financial statements mailed to shareholders and integrated annual report 

published on website Wednesday, 30 September 2015

Annual general meeting

Record date to receive notice of the annual general meeting Wednesday, 30 September 2015

Record date to participate and vote at the annual general Meeting Monday, 2 November 2015

Forms of proxy for annual general meeting of shareholders to be received by 10:00 Thursday, 5 November 2015

Annual general meeting of the shareholders held at 10:00 Friday, 6 November 2015

Results of annual general meeting released on SENS Friday, 6 November 2015

Fund managers with a holding greater than 5% of the issued shares
Number 

of shares
% of 

issued capital

Investec Asset Management 10 353 306 9,53
Westbrooke Capital Management 9 962 504 9,17

Total 20 315 810 18,70

Beneficial shareholders with a holding greater than 5% of the issued shares 
Number 

of shares
% of 

issued capital

Vuwa Investments* 17 158 750 15,80
Peregrine Nominees** 14 941 571 13,76
Investec Funds*** 10 353 306 9,53
Westbrooke 9 962 504 9,17
Masimong Group 7 000 000 6,45

Total 59 416 131 54,71

*  Two underlying shareholders: Vuwa Industrial Proprietary Limited (12 863 750 shares) 
and Vuwa Investments Proprietary Limited (4 295 000 shares).

**  The 10 611 943 of the shares are held on behalf of Die Fourie Family Trust, which is an 
associate of Arnold J Fourie who resigned as a non-executive director of Rolfes on 
13 October 2014. The beneficiaries of the trust are Arnold Fourie and his family.

***  Two underlying shareholders: Investec Emerging Companies Fund (5 430 473 shares) 
and Investec Special Focus Fund (4 922 833 shares).

Total number of shareholders 1 805

Total number of shares in issue 108 609 467

JSE share price performance

Opening price 1 July 2014 R3,80
Closing price 30 June 2015 R2,81
Closing high for the period R3,93
Closing low for the period R2,82

Number of shares in issue 108 609 467
Volume traded during period 38 557 053
Ratio of volume traded to shares issued (%) 35,50%
Rand value traded during the period R133 624 930

Total number of deals 4 741
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Rolfes Holdings Limited (the Company or Rolfes) publishes a suite of reports to record its overall performance annually. This notice of 

annual general meeting and summarised financial information 2015, which has been distributed to shareholders, should be read in 

conjunction with our other reports.

The 2015 suite of reports
This notice of annual general meeting and summarised financial information 2015 has been approved by the Rolfes Board of Directors 

(the Board).

This document does not provide a holistic assessment of the Group’s business, performance, risks and prospects. It should be read in 

conjunction with the suite of reports that make up the Company’s integrated annual report 2015. These are:

Integrated annual report 2015
The primary reporting document in the suite is a Group-level report aimed principally at the providers of capital and has been produced 

in line with the King Report on Governance (King III) and JSE Limited’s (JSE) Listings Requirements (JSE Listings Requirements). Local and 

international recommendations on integrated reporting were taken into account in the development of the content of this report. 

Sustainable development report 2015 
The focus is on those material issues which have been determined to be the most material to Rolfes and its stakeholders. It is aimed at the 

Company’s broader group of stakeholders. This report provides insight into the Company’s approach to sustainability and its related 

objectives, strategy and performance. 

Annual financial statements 2015
Presents the statutory and regulatory information that must be published in terms of section 30 of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 

(Companies Act) and the JSE Listings Requirements. The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS), the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements. This report is submitted to the JSE, on which Rolfes 

is listed.

Notice of annual general meeting and summarised financial information 2015 
Produced to present to shareholders the information required to enable them to make informed decisions regarding the resolutions to be 

voted on at the Company’s annual general meeting for shareholders. Details regarding the resolutions to be voted on at the annual 

general meeting are also provided. This document is distributed to all Rolfes’ shareholders.

In addition, the integrated annual report 2015, the sustainable development report 2015 and the annual financial statements 2015 are 

available as online reports at www.rolfesza.com. All the remaining reports are available electronically at the same address. Printed copies 

of these reports are available on request.

This document is important and requires your immediate attention
This notice of annual general meeting advises that the annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Rolfes Holdings Limited (Rolfes 

or the Company) will be held on Friday, 6 November 2015 at 10:00 in the Boardroom at 404 Roan Crescent, Corporate Park North, Midrand.
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Identification
In terms of section 63(1) of the Companies Act, before any person may attend or participate in the annual general meeting, that person 

must present reasonably satisfactory identification and the person presiding at the AGM must be reasonably satisfied that the right of the 

person to participate in and vote at the AGM, either as a shareholder (or shareholder’s representative), or as a proxy for a shareholder, has 

been reasonably verified. Forms of identification include a valid identity document, driver’s licence or passport.

Record dates, voting and proxies
The Board has determined, in accordance with sections 59(1)(a) and (b) of the Companies Act, that:

• The record date for the purposes of receiving notice of the AGM (being the date on which a shareholder must be registered in the 

Company’s register of shareholders in order to receive notice of the AGM), shall be the close of business on Wednesday, 30 September 

2015 (notice record date); and

• The record date for the purposes of participating in and voting at the AGM (being the date to determine which shareholders may 

participate in and vote at the AGM) shall be the close of business on Monday, 2 November 2015 (voting record date). The last day to 

trade in Rolfes securities in order to be recorded as a Rolfes shareholder by the voting record date, is Friday, 27 October 2015.

A. If you have dematerialised your shares without “own name” registration:
Voting at the AGM

• If you have not been contacted by your CSDP or broker, it would be advisable for you to contact your CSDP/broker and furnish them 

with your voting instructions.

• If your CSDP/broker does not obtain voting instructions from you, they will vote in accordance with the instructions contained in the 

agreement concluded between you and your CSDP/broker.

• You must NOT complete the attached form of proxy.

Attendance and representation at the AGM
In accordance with the mandate between you and your CSDP/broker, you must advise your CSDP/broker if you wish to attend the AGM 

in person, or if you wish to send a proxy to represent you at the AGM, your CSDP/broker will issue the necessary letter of representation 

to you or your proxy to attend the AGM.

B. If you have not dematerialised your shares or have dematerialised your shares with “own name” 
registration:
Voting, attendance and representation at the AGM

• You may attend, speak and vote at the AGM in person.

• Alternatively, you may appoint one or more proxies to represent you at the AGM by completing the attached form of proxy in accordance 

with the instructions it contains. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. It is requested that the form be lodged with or 

posted to the share registrars to be received no later than 10:00 on Thursday, 5 November 2015. If you do not lodge or post the form 

to reach the share registrars by the relevant time, you will nevertheless be entitled to have the form lodged immediately prior to the 

annual general meeting with the chairman of the AGM.
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Electronic participation

In compliance with the provisions of the Companies Act, the Company intends to offer shareholders reasonable access, through electronic 

facilities, to participate in the AGM by means of a conference call facility. Shareholders will be able to listen to the proceedings and raise 

questions should they wish to do so and are invited to indicate their intention to make use of this facility by applying in writing (including 

details as to how the shareholder or representative can be contacted) to the share registrars at the address set out on the inside back cover 

of this Notice of AGM. The completed application is to be received by the share registrars at least 10 business days prior to the date of 

the AGM, namely Friday, 23 October 2015. The share registrars will, by way of e-mail, provide information enabling participation to those 

shareholders who have made application. Voting will not be possible via the electronic facility and shareholders wishing to exercise their 

voting rights at the AGM are required to be represented at the meeting either in person, by proxy or by letter of representation as 

provided for in the Notice of AGM.

Included in this document are the following:

• The Notice of AGM setting out the resolutions to be proposed at the meeting, together with explanatory notes. There are also guidance 

notes if you wish to attend the meeting or to vote by proxy.

• A form of proxy for completion, signature and submission by shareholders holding Rolfes Holdings Limited ordinary shares in certificated 

form or in dematerialised form with “own name” registration.

 

Notice of annual general meeting 
Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting (AGM) of shareholders of Rolfes Holdings Limited will be held in the Boardroom, 

Rolfes Holdings Limited, 404 Roan Crescent, Corporate Park North, Midrand on Friday, 6 November 2015 at 10:00, to consider and, if 

deemed fit, pass, with or without modification, the ordinary and special resolutions set out below and to deal with such other business as 

may be lawfully dealt with at the meeting.

Presentation to shareholders of:
• The consolidated annual financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 30 June 2015

• Directors’ report

• Independent auditor’s report

• Audit and Risk Committee chairman’s report

• Social and Ethics Committee chairman’s report

The complete annual financial statements are available on www.rolfesza.com.

1. Ordinary resolution number 1 – Election of director

  “RESOLVED to elect Mr SA Sergel, who was appointed as director by the Board, since the last AGM,  in accordance with the 

provisions of clause 20.8 of the Company’s memorandum of incorporation (MoI).”

 Refer to page 127 of this Notice of AGM for a brief curriculum vitae of Mr Sergel.

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution number 1 is that Mr Sergel, having been appointed by the Board 

as a director of the Company since the previous AGM, holds office only until this AGM.

  In order for ordinary resolution number 1 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised.
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2. Ordinary resolution number 2 (2.1 to 2.2) – Re-election of directors

  “RESOLVED to re-elect, by way of separate resolutions, the following directors who retire by rotation and, being eligible, have 

offered themselves for re-election, in accordance with the provisions of clause 22 of the Company’s MoI:

 2.1 Mr BT Ngcuka

 2.2 Miss SS Mafoyane”

 Refer to page 127 of this Notice of AGM or a brief curriculum vitae of each director.

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 and 2.2 is that the Company’s MoI requires that 

one-third of the directors longest in office retire at each AGM.

  In order for each of ordinary resolution numbers 2.1 and 2.2 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting 

rights exercised.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3 (3.1 to 3.3) – Election of Audit and Risk Committee members

  “RESOLVED to elect, each by way of separate resolutions, the following independent non-executive directors, as members of the 

Company’s Audit and Risk Committee:

 3.1 Dr MM Dyasi

 3.2 Mr DM Mncube

 3.3 Miss SS Mafoyane”

  Miss Mafoyane will be appointed, subject to her re-election as a director pursuant to ordinary resolution number 2.2.

 Refer to page 127 of this Notice of AGM for a brief curriculum vitae of each director.

  Explanatory note: Ordinary resolution numbers 3.1 to 3.3 are proposed to appoint members of the Audit and Risk Committee in 

accordance with the guidelines of King lll and the requirements of the Companies Act. In terms of the aforementioned requirements, 

the Audit and Risk Committee should comprise a minimum of three members, all of whom must be independent non-executive 

directors of the Company. Membership of the Audit and Risk Committee may not include the Chairman of the Board. Furthermore, 

in terms of the Companies Regulations 2011, at least one-third of the members of the Audit and Risk Committee at any particular 

time must have academic qualifications, or experience, in economics, law, corporate governance, finance, accounting, commerce, 

industry, public affairs or human resource management. Mindful of the aforegoing, the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 

recommended to the Board that the aforementioned persons be members of the Audit and Risk Committee and the Board has 

approved such recommendations.

  In order for each of ordinary resolution numbers 3.1 to 3.3 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting 

rights exercised.
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4.  Ordinary resolution number 4 – Reappointment of SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc. as auditors of the Company

  “RESOLVED to reappoint SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc., upon the recommendation of the Audit and Risk Committee, as the 

independent registered auditor of the Company from the conclusion of the AGM at which this resolution is passed, until the 

conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.”

  The Audit and Risk Committee and the Board have evaluated the performance of SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc. and recommend their 

reappointment as the independent registered auditors of the Company. 

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution number 4 is that the Company’s independent auditor must be 

reappointed annually at the AGM, in compliance with section 90 of the Companies Act.

  In order for ordinary resolution number 4 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised.

5.  Ordinary resolution number 5 – General authority to directors to allot and issue ordinary shares

  “RESOLVED, as an ordinary resolution, and subject to the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listing Requirements, from 

time to time, that the directors of the Company be and they are hereby authorised, as a general authority and approval, to allot 

and issue, for such purposes and on such terms as they may in their discretion determine, ordinary shares in the authorised but 

unissued share capital of the Company up to a maximum of 15% of the number of ordinary shares in issue on the date of passing 

this resolution.”

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing ordinary resolution number 5 is to seek a general authority and approval for the 

directors to allot and issue ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued share capital of the Company, up to 15% of the number 

of ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date of passing this resolution, in order to enable the Company to take advantage 

of business opportunities which might arise in the future. The Board has no current plans to make use of this authority, but wishes 

to ensure, by having it in place, that the Company has some flexibility to take advantage of any business opportunity that may arise 

in the future.

  In order for ordinary resolution number 5 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised.
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6. Special resolution number 1 – Approval of non-executive directors’ remuneration 

  “RESOLVED, as a special resolution, that in terms of section 66(9) of the Companies Act, the remuneration payable to the non-

executive directors of the Company, be approved, as set out below with effect from the date of the AGM until the conclusion of the 

next AGM.”

Retainer fee per annum

Current for
 2014/2015

R

Proposed for
 2015/2016

R

Board
Chairman 101 172 250 000
Non-executive director* 101 172 150 000
Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee 101 172 200 000
Chairman of the Remuneration and Nominations Committee 101 172 200 000
Chairman of the Social and Ethics Committee 101 172 200 000
Chairman of the Tax Committee 101 172 200 000
* This fee includes directors’ memberships on committees

  Explanatory note: Special resolution number 1 enables the Company to comply with the provisions of section 65(11)(h) read with 

section 66(8) and section 66(9) of the Companies Act, which sections of the Companies Act prescribe that remuneration of directors 

for their services as such may only be paid in accordance with a special resolution approved by the shareholders.

  The proposed increases to the non-executive directors’ remuneration is a market-related adjustment based on listed entities of a 

similar size and determined through a market-related remuneration study performed and an independent market survey considered. 

The proposed increase for each Board and/or committee member is noted above. The standard remuneration for a Board member 

will be R150 000 per annum, a Board member serving as a committee chairman will be R200 000 per annum and the chairman of the 

Board will be remunerated at R250 000 per annum.

  In order for special resolution number 1 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 75% of the voting rights exercised.
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7. Special resolution number 2 – General authority to issue shares for cash

  “RESOLVED, as a special resolution, and subject to ordinary resolution number 5 being passed, that the directors of the Company 

be and they are hereby authorised, in accordance with the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements, to allot and issue for 

cash, on such terms and conditions as they may deem fit, all or any of the ordinary shares in the authorised but unissued share 

capital of the Company, which they shall have been authorised to allot and issue in terms of ordinary resolution number 5, subject 

to the following conditions:

• This authority is valid until the Company’s next AGM, provided that it will not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) months from the date 

that this authority is given;

• The ordinary shares which are the subject of the issue for cash must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not the case, 

must be limited to such securities or rights that are convertible into or represent options in respect of a class already in issue;

• Any such issue will only be made to ‘public shareholders’ as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements and not to related parties, 

unless the JSE otherwise agrees;

• The number of shares issued for cash will not in aggregate exceed 15% (fifteen percent) of the Company’s listed ordinary shares 

(excluding treasury shares) as at the date of the Notice of AGM, such number being 108 609 467 ordinary shares in the Company’s 

issued share capital;

• Any ordinary shares issued under this authority during the period of its validity must be deducted from the above number of 

ordinary shares and the authority shall be adjusted accordingly to represent the same allocation ratio on the event of a subdivision 

or consolidation of ordinary shares during the same period;

• The maximum discount permitted at which ordinary shares may be issued is 10% (ten percent) of the weighted average traded 

price on the JSE of those shares over the 30 (thirty) business days prior to the date that the price of the issue is agreed between 

the Company and the party subscribing for the securities; and

• A paid press announcement giving full details, including the impact on net asset value and earnings per share, will be published 

at the time of any issue representing, on a cumulative basis within 1 (one) financial year, 5% (five percent) of the number of shares 

in issue prior to the issue.”

  Explanatory note: The reason for proposing special resolution number 2 is that the directors consider it advantageous to have the 

authority to issue ordinary shares for cash in order to enable the Company to take advantage of any business opportunity which 

might arise in the future. At present, the directors have no specific intention to use this authority, and the authority will thus only be 

used if circumstances are appropriate.

  It should be noted that this authority relates only to those ordinary shares which the directors are authorised to allot and issue in 

terms of ordinary resolution number 5 and is not intended to (nor does it) grant the directors authority to issue ordinary shares for 

cash over and above, and in addition to, the ordinary shares which the directors are authorised to allot and issue in terms of ordinary 

resolution number 5, when ordinary shares are issued for such purposes and on such terms as the directors may deem fit.

  In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, a company may only undertake a general issue for cash where, among other things, such 

general issue for cash has been approved by ordinary resolution by a 75% majority of the votes cast thereon. As this is the threshold 

for the passing of the Company’s special resolutions (as per clause 18.27 of the Company’s MoI), the general issue for cash resolution, 

in this instance special resolution number 2, is instead proposed to be passed as a special resolution and must be supported by 

75% of the voting rights exercised.

  In order for special resolution number 2 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 75% of the voting rights exercised.
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8. Special resolution number 3 – General authority to acquire the Company’s own shares

  “RESOLVED, as a special resolution, that the Company and/or any of its subsidiaries, are authorised by way of a general authority 

to repurchase or purchase, as the case may be, shares issued by the Company, on such terms and conditions and in such numbers 

as the directors of the Company or the subsidiary may from time to time determine, subject to the applicable provisions in the 

Company’s MoI, the provisions of the Companies Act and the JSE Listings Requirements when applicable, and subject to 

the following:

• the repurchase of securities will be effected through the order book operated by the JSE trading system and done without any 

prior understanding or arrangement between the Company and the counterparty;

• this general authority shall only be valid until the Company’s next AGM, provided that it shall not extend beyond 15 (fifteen) 

months from the date of passing this special resolution;

• in determining the price at which the Company’s ordinary shares are acquired by the Company and/or subsidiary of the Company, 

in terms of this general authority, the maximum premium at which such ordinary shares may be acquired will be 10% (ten percent) 

of the weighted average of the market price at which such ordinary shares are traded on the JSE, as determined over the 5 (five) 

days immediately preceding the date of the repurchase of such ordinary shares;

• the acquisitions by the Company of its own ordinary shares in the aggregate in any one financial year do not exceed 20% (twenty 

percent) of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital from the beginning of the financial year;

• the number of shares purchased by the subsidiaries of the Company shall not exceed 10% (ten percent) in the aggregate of the 

number of issued shares of the Company at the relevant times;

• the Company only appoints one agent to effect any repurchase(s) on its behalf;

• when the Company has cumulatively repurchased 3% (three percent) of the initial number of the relevant class of securities, and 

for each 3% (three percent) in aggregate of the initial number of that class acquired thereafter, an announcement will be made;

• the Company or its subsidiaries will not repurchase securities during a prohibited period as defined in the JSE Listings 

Requirements unless they have in place a repurchase programme where the dates and quantities of the securities to be traded 

during the relevant period are fixed (not subject to any variation) and has been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the 

commencement of the prohibited period; and

• the Board resolved that it authorises the repurchase, and that the Company and its subsidiary/ies have passed the solvency and 

liquidity test and that since the test was performed there have been no material changes to the financial position of the Group.”

  The directors will ensure that, after considering the effect of the maximum repurchases permitted in terms of 

this resolution:

• the Company and the Group will be able in the ordinary course of business to pay its debts for a period of 12 (twelve) months 

after the date of the Notice of AGM;

• the assets of the Company and the Group will be in excess of the liabilities of the Company and the Group for a period of 

12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the AGM, which assets and liabilities have been valued in accordance with the 

accounting policies used in the audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2015;

• the share capital and reserves of the Company and the Group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 

12 (twelve) months after the date of the notice of the AGM; and

• the working capital of the Company and the Group will be adequate for ordinary business purposes for a period of 12 (twelve) 

months after the date of the Notice of AGM.

  Explanatory note: The reason for the special resolution is to authorise the Company and/or its subsidiaries by way of a general 

authority to acquire its/their own issued shares on such terms and conditions and in such numbers as determined from time to time 

by the directors, subject to the limitations above. A repurchase of shares is not contemplated at the date of this notice. However, 

the Board believes it to be in the best interest of the Company that shareholders grant a general authority to provide the Board with 

optimum flexibility to repurchase shares as and when an opportunity that is in the best interest of the Company arises.

  In order for special resolution number 3 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 75% of the voting rights exercised.
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9.  Special resolution number 4 – Approval for the Company to grant financial assistance in terms of sections 44 and 45 of the 

Companies Act

  “RESOLVED, as a special resolution, to the extent required by the Companies Act, that the Board may, subject to compliance with 

the requirements of the Companies Act, the Company’s MoI and the JSE Listings Requirements, authorise the Company to provide 

direct or indirect financial assistance by way of loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise, to:

 4.1 Financial assistance in terms of section 44

   To provide financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee, the provision of security or otherwise to any person for the purpose 

of, or in connection with, the subscription of any option, or any securities, issued or to be issued by the Company or a related 

or inter-related company, or for the purchase of any securities of the Company or a related or inter-related company, and to 

provide direct or indirect financial assistance to a related or inter-related company or corporation in terms of sections 44 and 

45 of the Companies Act.

 4.2 Financial assistance in terms of section 45

   To provide direct or indirect financial assistance by way of a loan, guarantee or security to a present or future director or 

prescribed officer of the Company or of a related or inter-related company, or to a related or inter-related company or 

corporation, or to a member of a related or inter-related corporation, or to a person related to any such company, corporation, 

director, prescribed officer or member.”

  The directors will ensure that, in accordance with sections 44(3)(b) and 45(3)(b) of the Companies Act, the financial assistance is only 

provided if the requirements of those sections are satisfied, inter alia, that immediately after providing the financial assistance the 

Company would satisfy the solvency and liquidity test set out in section 4 of the Companies Act.

  Explanatory note: Sections 44 and 45 of the Companies Act essentially require, subject to limited exceptions, approval by way of 

a special resolution for the provision of financial assistance. The regulated financial assistance, as contemplated in sections 44 and 

45 of the Companies Act, may only be provided pursuant to a special resolution passed by shareholders within the previous 

two years.

  In order for special resolution number 4 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 75% of the voting rights exercised.

10. Ordinary resolution number 6 – Authority to action all ordinary and special resolutions

  “RESOLVED THAT any one director of the Company or the Company Secretary is authorised to do all such things as are necessary 

and to sign all such documents issued by the Company so as to give effect to such ordinary resolutions and special resolutions with 

or without amendment or modification, and where applicable, registered.”

  In order for ordinary resolution number 6 to be approved, it must be supported by more than 50% of the voting rights exercised.
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11. Non-binding advisory endorsement – Advisory endorsement of the remuneration policy 

  “TO ENDORSE, through a non-binding advisory vote, the Company’s remuneration policy (excluding the remuneration of non-

executive directors for their services as directors and members of the Board or statutory committees).” 

  The complete remuneration policy is available on Rolfes’ website via the following link: www.rolfesza.com. 

  Explanatory note: Reason for advisory endorsement: In terms of King III, a non-binding advisory vote should be obtained from 

shareholders on the Company’s remuneration policy. The vote allows shareholders to express their views on the remuneration policy 

adopted by the Company, and its implementation, but will not be binding on the Company.

 Further disclosure

  In terms of paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements, the following information is disclosed in the integrated annual 

report 2015:

• Major shareholders of the Company – pages 115 and 116;

• Share capital of the Company – page 79.

 Material change

  Other than the facts and developments reported on in the integrated annual report 2015, there have been no material changes in 

the affairs or financial position of the Company and Group since the date of signature of the audit report, the results announcement 

on SENS and the date of this notice.

 Directors’ responsibility statement

  The directors, whose names appear in the annual financial statements 2015, collectively and individually accept full responsibility for 

the accuracy of the information given in this notice and certify that to the best of their knowledge and belief there are no facts that 

have been omitted which would make any statement false or misleading and that all reasonable enquiries to ascertain such facts 

have been made and that this notice contains all information required by law and the JSE Listings Requirements.

By order of the Board

Karen Waldeck

Company Secretary 

CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited

30 September 2015

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING (CONTINUED)
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CURRICULA VITAE OF DIRECTORS TO BE ELECTED AND/OR RE-ELECTED

SA Sergel (47)

Group Financial Director

CA(SA)

Appointed 15 July 2015

Mr Sergel is a qualified chartered accountant. After completing articles in 1993 he moved to the UK and worked for various multinational 

companies including HSBC, Anderson Consulting and Dai-Ichi Kangyo Bank. In 2000 he joined Nedcor Investment Bank that was later 

merged with Nedbank Capital. At Nedbank Capital he was engaged in merging internal treasury departments and on other strategic 

external projects. Thereafter he moved to Nedbank Business Banking, Specialised Finance that provided leveraged finance, M&A and 

unsecured cash lending facilities.

BT Ngcuka (61)

Chairman and non-executive director

BProc (Fort Hare), LLB (Unisa), MA (Webster University, Geneva Switzerland)

Appointed 5 April 2007

Mr Ngcuka is the founder member and executive chairman of Vuwa Investments and a former national director of Public Prosecutions. He 

was admitted as an attorney in 1980 and practiced in his own practice under the name Ngcuka and Associates. He played a critical role in 

the political transformation of South Africa and served in various institutions including the Constitutional Assembly, the Judicial Services 

Commission and was also the deputy chair of the National Council of Provinces. He served as chairman on the boards of a number of listed 

companies and as a director on others including Basil Read Holdings Limited, Transnet Limited, Growthpoint Properties Limited and 

Mutual and Federal Insurance Company Limited. He currently serves as chairman of City Lodge Group, Top Fix Holdings Limited, Amadlelo 

Agri and Rolfes Holdings Limited.

SS Mafoyane (38)

Independent non-executive director

MBA (Wits Business School), BSc (University of Natal) 

Appointed 27 August 2012

Miss Mafoyane joined Discovery Health Limited and worked in the Vitality team eventually becoming the quality manager and then 

functional head of Vitality. She then joined Standard Bank of South Africa as head of customer and strategy, business banking credit, 

personal and business banking South Africa and subsequently moved to South African Breweries Limited as business performance and 

capability leader. Recently she has accepted the position of chief operating officer at Shanduka Black Umbrellas, a non-profit company 

involved in the support of emerging black businesses through enterprise development.
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CURRICULA VITAE OF DIRECTORS TO BE ELECTED AND/OR RE-ELECTED 
(CONTINUED)

MM Dyasi (61)

Independent non-executive director

PhD, MS (Chemistry), BSc (Honours), BSc (Chemistry and Biochemistry)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Dr Dyasi is a registered scientist (chemist). He currently serves as the vice-president of the South African Council for Natural Scientific 

Professions. He also chairs the Personnel and Finance Committee of the Council. He has substantial experience in the chemical and 

pharmaceutical industries having served as a research and development chemist in one of South Africa’s well-known chemical producers 

and also having served as manager within the veterinary and pharmaceutical industries. Dr Dyasi has over 20 years’ senior/executive 

management experience gained from both the private sector and the higher education sector. Previously, Dr Dyasi served as the Campus 

Principal at MEDUNSA and later served as managing director of OBP Limited.

DM Mncube (55)

Independent non-executive director

MCom (Business Management), MSc (Forest Products)

Appointed 30 June 2014

Mr Mncube has 20 years’ executive experience in forestry, timber processing, paper and pulp business. He currently serves on the boards 

of Distribution and Warehousing Network Limited (DAWN), York Timber Holdings, Food and Trees for Africa and Forest Sector Charter 

Council. He has previously chaired the National Forests Advisory Council, Forestry South Africa and has been a board member of Sappi 

Southern Africa. He played a leading role in the revival of Project Grow, an award winning enterprise development programme at Sappi. 

He played a key role in driving Sappi’s R814 million black economic empowerment transaction in 2010.
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FORM OF PROXY

Rolfes Holdings Limited
(Registration number: 2000/002715/06) 

Share code: RLF
ISIN: ZAE000159836

(the Company or the  
Rolfes Group or the Group)

Only to be completed by certificated and dematerialised shareholders with “own name” registration.
If you are a dematerialised shareholder, other than with “own name” registration, do not use this form. Dematerialised shareholders, other 
than those with “own name” registration who wish to attend the annual general meeting, must inform their CSDP or broker of their 
intention to attend and request their CSDP or broker to issue them with the relevant letter of representation to attend the annual general 
meeting in person and vote, or, if they do not wish to attend the annual general meeting in person, but wish to be represented thereat, 
provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions in terms of the relevant custody agreement entered into between them and 
their CSDP or broker in the manner and cut-off time stipulated therein.

All forms of proxy must be lodged at the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, Ground 
Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), by no later than 10:00 on Thursday, 5 November 2015.

I/We

of (address)

being an ordinary shareholder(s) of the Company holding ordinary shares in the Company, do hereby appoint:

1.

2.

3. the chairman of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to vote on my/our behalf at the abovementioned annual general meeting and any adjournment thereof, to be held at 
10:00 in the Rolfes Holdings Limited boardroom at 404 Roan Crescent, Midrand on Friday, 6 November 2015 for the purpose of considering 
and, if deemed fit, passing with or without modifications, the following ordinary and special resolutions to be considered at such meeting:

In favour of Against Abstain
Ordinary resolutions
1. Election of SA Sergel as a director
2. Re-election of rotating non-executive directors

2.1 Re-election of BT Ngcuka as director
2.2 Re-election of SS Mafoyane as director

3. Election of the Audit and Risk Committee members
3.1 Election of MM Dyasi as Audit and Risk Committee member
3.2 Election of DM Mncube as Audit and Risk Committee member
3.3 Election of SS Mafoyane as Audit and Risk Committee member

4. Reappointment of SizweNtsalubaGobodo Inc. as auditors
5. General authority to directors to allot and issue ordinary shares
Special resolutions
1. Remuneration of non-executive directors
2. General authority to issue shares for cash
3. General authority to acquire the Company’s own shares
4. Financial Assistance Approval

4.1 Financial assistance in terms of section 44
4.1 Financial assistance in terms of section 45

Ordinary resolutions
6. Authority to action all ordinary and special resolutions
7. Advisory endorsement of remuneration policy

Insert an “X” in the appropriate block. If no indications are given, the proxy will vote as he/she deems fit. Each shareholder entitled to 
attend and vote at the meeting may appoint one or more proxies (who need not be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, speak and 
vote in his/her stead.

Signed at on 2015

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)

Please read the notes on the reverse side hereof.

  



130

Rolfes Holdings Limited integrated annual report 2015

NOTES TO THE FORM OF PROXY

1.  A shareholder may insert the names of a proxy or the names of two alternative proxies of the shareholder’s choice in the space 

provided, with or without deleting “the chairman of the annual general meeting”, but any such deletion must be initialled by the 

shareholder. The person whose name appears first on this form of proxy and which has not been deleted shall be entitled to act 

as proxy to the exclusion of those names following.

2.  A shareholder is entitled to one vote on a show of hands on a poll, one vote in respect of each ordinary share held. A shareholder’s 

instructions to the proxy must be indicated by inserting the relevant number of votes exercisable by the shareholder in the 

appropriate box. Failure to comply with this will be deemed to authorise the proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the annual 

general meeting as he/she deems fit in respect of all the shareholder’s votes.

3.  A vote given in terms of an instrument of proxy shall be valid in relation to the annual general meeting, notwithstanding the death, 

insanity or other legal disability of the person granting it, or the revocation of the proxy, or the transfer of the ordinary shares in 

respect of which the proxy is given, unless an intimation as to any of the aforementioned matters shall have been received by the 

transfer secretaries or by the chairman of the annual general meeting before the commencement of the annual general meeting.

4.  If a shareholder does not indicate on this form of proxy that his/her proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution or to 

abstain from voting, or gives contradictory instructions, or should any further resolution(s) or any amendment(s) which may 

properly be put before the annual general meeting, be proposed, the proxy shall be entitled to vote as he/she thinks fit.

5.  The authority of a person signing a proxy in a representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy unless that authority 

has already been recorded with the Company’s transfer secretary or waived by the chairman of the annual general meeting.

6.  A minor or any other person under legal incapacity must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian as applicable, unless the 

relevant documents establishing capacity are produced or have been registered with the transfer secretaries.

7. Where there are joint holders of ordinary shares:

•  any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and

•   the vote(s) of the senior shareholders (for that purpose seniority will be determined by the order in which the names of ordinary 

shareholders appear in the Company’s register) who tender a vote (whether in person or by proxy) will be accepted to the 

exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint shareholder(s).

8.  It is requested that proxies be lodged at or posted to the Company’s transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services 

Proprietary Limited, Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107), to be received not 

later than 10:00 on Thursday, 5 November 2015.

9.  Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy, other than the deletion of alternatives, must be initialled by the signatory/ies.

10.  The completion and lodging of this form of proxy shall not preclude the relevant shareholder from attending the annual general 

meeting and speaking and voting in person thereat to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof.

11.  The chairman of the annual general meeting may reject or accept a form of proxy that is completed, other that in accordance with 

these instructions and notes, provided that the chairman is satisfied as to the manner in which a shareholder wishes to vote.

12.  Subject to the restrictions set out in this form of proxy, a proxy may not delegate the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of a 

shareholder to another person.
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NOTICE OF ELECTRONIC COMMUNICATIONS

Rolfes Holdings Limited

(Registration number: 2000/002715/06

Share code: RLF

ISIN: ZAE000159836

(the Rolfes Group)

Form of election to receive integrated/interim reports and other shareholder communications electronically

The Rolfes Group is in the process of establishing a database to distribute its integrated/interim reports, circulars and other shareholder 

communications electronically to shareholders who prefer this type of communication instead of hard copies.

A shareholder may also elect not to receive any copies of the aforementioned communications if he/she is a certificated shareholder. 

Dematerialised shareholders, who do not wish to receive copies of reports, should advise their CSDP or broker to amend their flags 

accordingly on the BDA System.

In order for Rolfes Group to furnish you with an electronic copy or record not to send any of these communications to you, please provide 

the transfer secretaries, Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited, with the following information:

Name

COY code/Holder number

Postal address

Email address

Telephone numbers Home: Work: Cell:

Fax number

Copy of shareholder 

communications required (either 

electronic or a hard copy)

Yes No

Kindly complete the above details, where applicable, and return this shareholder communication form to Computershare Investor Services 

Proprietary Limited, PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107 or fax/email to: 

Fax number 011 688 5248

Email ecomms@computershare.co.za

Should any of the above details change, please contact Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited on the abovementioned 

email address to amend your details accordingly.

The information supplied above will be treated with the utmost confidentiality and will only be used for the purpose for which it is provided.

Signed at on 2015

Signature

Assisted by (where applicable)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

Rolfes Holdings Limited
Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa
(the Company or the Rolfes Group or the Group) 
Registration number 2000/002715/06
Share code: RLF
ISIN: ZAE000159836

Registered and corporate office
Registered office: 
12 Jet Park Road, Jet Park, Johannesburg, 1459
Business office: 
404 Roan Crescent, Corporate Park North, Midrand
Post address: 
PO Box 8112, Elandsfontein, 1406

Directors
BT Ngcuka* (Chairman)
E van der Merwe
L Lynch 
SA Sergel
MM Dyasi*#

SS Mafoyane*#

DM Mncube*#

KT Nondumo*#

MS Teke*#

* Non-executive
# Independent

Preparer
SA Sergel CA(SA)

Company Secretary
CorpStat Governance Services Proprietary Limited
Hurlingham Office Park, Block C, 59 Woodlands Avenue 
Hurlingham, 2196
PO Box 724, Melville, 2109
+27 11 326 0975
email: kwaldeck@corpstat.co.za

Sponsor and corporate adviser
Grindrod Bank Limited
4th Floor, Building Three, Grindrod Tower
8A Protea Place
Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 78011, Sandton, 2146) 
Telephone number +27 11 459 1860
Facsimile number +27 11 459 1872

Auditors and reporting accountants
SizweNtsalubaGobodo Incorporated
Practice number 946016
Summit Place Office Park, Building 4
221 Garstfontein Road
Menlyn, 0063
(Private Bag X2008, Menlyn, 0063) 
Telephone number +27 86 117 6782
Facsimile number +27 12 460 1277

Transfer secretaries
Computershare Investor Services Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2004/003647/07
Ground Floor, 70 Marshall Street
Johannesburg, 2001
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) 
Telephone number +27 11 370 7700
Facsimile number +27 11 688 5248
 

Attorneys
Arthur Channon Incorporated Attorneys
Registration number 2014/004237/21
693 Rubenstein Drive, Moreleta Park
Pretoria, 0044
(PO Box 100791, Moreleta Park, 0167)
Telephone number +27 12 940 6999/+27 12 997 3747
Facsimile number +27 12 997 2791
Cellphone number +27 82 557 8200
Email address: arthur@channonattorneys.co.za

Attorneys
Van der Merwe du Toit Inc. 
Registration number 2000/031065/21
Brooklyn, Place
Corner Bronkhorst and Dey Streets
Brooklyn, 0181
(PO Box 499, Pretoria, 0001)
Telephone number +27 12 452 1300
Facsimile number +27 12 452 1301

Edward Nathan Sonnenbergs Inc. 
(Notice to shareholders)
Registration number 2006/018200/21
ENSAfrica
150 West Street, Sandown
Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 783347, Sandton, 2146) 
Telephone number +27 11 269 7600
Facsimile number +27 11 269 7899

M Schoeman Attorneys
1007 Saxby Avenue, Eldoraigne, 0157
PO Box 753
Raslouw, 0109
Telephone number 082 820 4561
Facsimile number 0861 551 3384

Commercial banker
Nedbank Limited
Registration number 1951/000009/06
1st Floor, Emerald Place
Stoneridge Office Park, 8 Greenstone Place
Edenvale, 1609
(PO Box 282, Edenvale, 1610) 
Telephone number +27 11 458 4000
Facsimile number +27 11 458 4010

Blue Strata Trading Proprietary Limited
Registration number 2000/022631/07
66 Wierda Road East, Wierda Valley, Sandton, 2196
(PO Box 342, Strathavon, 2031) 
Telephone number +27 11 245 5600
Facsimile number +27 11 884 8775

Hollard Insurance Company Limited
Registration number 1952/003004/06
22 Oxford Road, Parktown, Johannesburg
(PO Box 87419, Houghton, 2041) 
Telephone number +27 11 351 5000

Sencerus Insurance Brokers Proprietary Limited
Registration number 99/21909/07
PO Box 26995
Monument Park, 0105
104 Elephant Road, Pretoria, 0181
Telephone number: +27 12 460 0511
Facsimile number: +27 12 460 0480
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